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Willsher Bay
          


          

            
Programme of Events
          
          


          
Friday, June 28, 1940.
        

        
11 a.m.—Exhibition of Historical Documents and Photographs, Kaka Point Hall.

        
Presentation of Ribbons to old residents of New Zealand.

        
12 Noon—Unveiling of Memorial Cairn.

        

	
            
(1) Opening Remarks by W. S. Thomson, Esq., Chairman Clutha County Council.

          

	
            
(2) The One Hundredth Psalm.

          

	
            
(3) Prayer, Rev. F. McDonald.

          

	
            
(4) Unveiling of Tablet by Oldest Pioneer Present.

          

	
            
(5) Remarks by Hon. F. Waite, D.S.O., M.L.C.

          


        
“
God Save the King.”

        
8 p.m.—Centennial Dance, Kaka Point Hall.
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Chapter I. — Cook's First Visit





        

Chapter I.



Cook's First Visit.

        

          
In the year 1768 Lieutenant James Cook, R.N., at the instance of the Royal Society, was sent out by the Admiralty with an expedition to observe the transit of Venus. This work at Tahiti being finished, Cook sailed to these southern seas.

          
A second objective was to set at rest the argument that somewhere in the southern seas was a great southern continent, which was thought to act as a counterpoise to the great land masses of the Northern Hemisphere.

          
Cook was instructed to sail along the latitude of 40 degrees south, and if any continent was discovered to annex it.

          
Failing this discovery, he was “to fall in with the eastern side of the land discovered by Tasman and now called New Zealand.”

        

        

          

North Island Sighted.

          
At 2 o'clock in the afternoon of October 7th, 1769, a boy named Nicholas Young, acting as lookout from the masthead, sighted land. Owing to difficulties in getting supplies, this place was named Poverty Bay. After sailing southward, Cook turned north at Cape Turnagain and anchored at Tokomaru Bay. He later passed East Cape, and got supplies in such quantity from the Natives that he set down “Bay of Plenty” on his map.

          
At Mercury Bay he took possession in the name of King George III. Having fixed the North Cape on the 31st December, Cook got a sight of Cape Maria Van Dieman. In a heavy gale he got down as far as Kaipara Harbour, but stood away to the north–west. Again sighting Cape Maria Van Dieman, the barque was headed south once more. On January 12th he sighted and named Cape Egmont.

          
Cook's stay at Ship Cove is set out in the history books. While there he had a conversation with a Maori Chief, who assured the Englishman that both mainlands were really islands and could be circumnavigated.

          
On February 6th the “Endeavour” sailed from Queen Charlotte Sound through the strait we now call “Cook,” and, to settle the matter beyond doubt, sailed north to Cape Turnagain. So was the North Island circumnavigated.

        

        
        



          

Harbour Named Molineux.

          
On the 18th February Banks Peninsula was sighted and named “Banks Island.” Dirty weather necessitated much tacking.

          
On March 4th, the weather having moderated, the vessel turned westward.

          
Here is the entry from Hawkesworth's “Account of Cook's Voyages”:—

          
“Sunday, 4th, 1770.—In the morning of the 4th we found the variation 16 degrees 16 minutes east. This day we saw some whales and seals… At noon we saw Cape Saunders bearing N. 1/2 W., and our latitude by observations was 46 degrees 31 minutes south. At half an hour past one o'clock we saw land bearing west by south, which we steered for, and before it was dark were within three or four miles of it; during the whole night we saw fires upon it, and at 7 in the morning (Monday, 5th) we were within about 3 leagues of the shore, which appeared to be high but level…”

          
But Sydney Parkinson, who was draughtsman to Sir Joseph Banks, on board the “Endeavour,” and who died at Batavia in January, 1771, while on the homeward voyage, is more informative:—

          

“On the 4th March, 1770, after having been beat about with adverse winds for nearly a week, by the favour of a breeze from the north we again got sight of land, which tended away to the south–west and appeared to be of great extent. We had a continual rolling swell from the south–west, and saw the appearance of a harbour which we named Moulineux's Harbour, after the name of the master of our ship.”


          
Continuing southwards, on the 6th March Cook saw Ruapuke, with Stewart Island looming up behind it. Passing on a moonlit night between some dangerous reefs, which he named “The Traps,” on the 10th March Cape South was rounded, and the last chance of finding a continental connection for New Zealand was gone for ever.

          
Passing and naming Solander Island, a stay at Dusky Bay, and then on past Cascade Point, Cape Foulwind, Cape Farewell, Stephens Island, and so once again to Queen Charlotte Sound, proved to Cook, and then to the world, that the South Island was really an island.

          
On April 1st, 1779, the “Endeavour” passed Cape Farewell on the homeward journey. Cook had completed a great job. He had sailed round both islands, annexed them, and mapped them. Pember Reeves says, “… he found New Zealand a line on the map, and left it an archipelago.”

          
When the sailormen of the world examined this new map of New Zealand, they saw printed the words “Molineux's Harbour.” Lieutenant James Cook, R.N., had literally put Molineux's Harbour on the map.

        

        
        



          

Death of Molineux.

          
There is little more we know of the sailing master of the “Endeavour.” But in the list of the “Crew of Lieutenant Cook's Ship ‘Endeavour,”’ as preserved by the Admiralty, is the entry “Rob't Molineux, Master, D.D., 15th April, 1771.” (The letters D.D. stand for “discharged” and “died.”) The “Endeavour” returned to England on “July 12th, 1771, from Otamete.”

          
To complete this section, it is regrettably necessary to reprint an extract from Cook's Journal:-

          

“On the 25th (April, 1771), at 3 o'clock in the afternoon, we weighed (from Mauritius) with a light breeze at S.E. and put to sea. About an hour afterwards we lost our master, Mr. Robert Mollineux, a young man of good parts, but unhappily given up to intemperance, which brought on disorders which put an end to his life.”


          

            

[image: Map compiled by John Arrowsmith, printed in London in 1841.]
Map compiled by John Arrowsmith, printed in London in 1841.
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A second objective was to set at rest the argument that somewhere in the southern seas was a great southern continent, which was thought to act as a counterpoise to the great land masses of the Northern Hemisphere.
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North Island Sighted.

          
At 2 o'clock in the afternoon of October 7th, 1769, a boy named Nicholas Young, acting as lookout from the masthead, sighted land. Owing to difficulties in getting supplies, this place was named Poverty Bay. After sailing southward, Cook turned north at Cape Turnagain and anchored at Tokomaru Bay. He later passed East Cape, and got supplies in such quantity from the Natives that he set down “Bay of Plenty” on his map.

          
At Mercury Bay he took possession in the name of King George III. Having fixed the North Cape on the 31st December, Cook got a sight of Cape Maria Van Dieman. In a heavy gale he got down as far as Kaipara Harbour, but stood away to the north–west. Again sighting Cape Maria Van Dieman, the barque was headed south once more. On January 12th he sighted and named Cape Egmont.

          
Cook's stay at Ship Cove is set out in the history books. While there he had a conversation with a Maori Chief, who assured the Englishman that both mainlands were really islands and could be circumnavigated.

          
On February 6th the “Endeavour” sailed from Queen Charlotte Sound through the strait we now call “Cook,” and, to settle the matter beyond doubt, sailed north to Cape Turnagain. So was the North Island circumnavigated.
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Harbour Named Molineux.

          
On the 18th February Banks Peninsula was sighted and named “Banks Island.” Dirty weather necessitated much tacking.

          
On March 4th, the weather having moderated, the vessel turned westward.

          
Here is the entry from Hawkesworth's “Account of Cook's Voyages”:—

          
“Sunday, 4th, 1770.—In the morning of the 4th we found the variation 16 degrees 16 minutes east. This day we saw some whales and seals… At noon we saw Cape Saunders bearing N. 1/2 W., and our latitude by observations was 46 degrees 31 minutes south. At half an hour past one o'clock we saw land bearing west by south, which we steered for, and before it was dark were within three or four miles of it; during the whole night we saw fires upon it, and at 7 in the morning (Monday, 5th) we were within about 3 leagues of the shore, which appeared to be high but level…”

          
But Sydney Parkinson, who was draughtsman to Sir Joseph Banks, on board the “Endeavour,” and who died at Batavia in January, 1771, while on the homeward voyage, is more informative:—

          

“On the 4th March, 1770, after having been beat about with adverse winds for nearly a week, by the favour of a breeze from the north we again got sight of land, which tended away to the south–west and appeared to be of great extent. We had a continual rolling swell from the south–west, and saw the appearance of a harbour which we named Moulineux's Harbour, after the name of the master of our ship.”


          
Continuing southwards, on the 6th March Cook saw Ruapuke, with Stewart Island looming up behind it. Passing on a moonlit night between some dangerous reefs, which he named “The Traps,” on the 10th March Cape South was rounded, and the last chance of finding a continental connection for New Zealand was gone for ever.

          
Passing and naming Solander Island, a stay at Dusky Bay, and then on past Cascade Point, Cape Foulwind, Cape Farewell, Stephens Island, and so once again to Queen Charlotte Sound, proved to Cook, and then to the world, that the South Island was really an island.

          
On April 1st, 1779, the “Endeavour” passed Cape Farewell on the homeward journey. Cook had completed a great job. He had sailed round both islands, annexed them, and mapped them. Pember Reeves says, “… he found New Zealand a line on the map, and left it an archipelago.”

          
When the sailormen of the world examined this new map of New Zealand, they saw printed the words “Molineux's Harbour.” Lieutenant James Cook, R.N., had literally put Molineux's Harbour on the map.
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Death of Molineux.

          
There is little more we know of the sailing master of the “Endeavour.” But in the list of the “Crew of Lieutenant Cook's Ship ‘Endeavour,”’ as preserved by the Admiralty, is the entry “Rob't Molineux, Master, D.D., 15th April, 1771.” (The letters D.D. stand for “discharged” and “died.”) The “Endeavour” returned to England on “July 12th, 1771, from Otamete.”

          
To complete this section, it is regrettably necessary to reprint an extract from Cook's Journal:-

          

“On the 25th (April, 1771), at 3 o'clock in the afternoon, we weighed (from Mauritius) with a light breeze at S.E. and put to sea. About an hour afterwards we lost our master, Mr. Robert Mollineux, a young man of good parts, but unhappily given up to intemperance, which brought on disorders which put an end to his life.”


          

            

[image: Map compiled by John Arrowsmith, printed in London in 1841.]
Map compiled by John Arrowsmith, printed in London in 1841.


          

        








Victoria University of Wellington Library




Port Molyneux : the story of Maori and pakeha in South Otago : a centennial history : commemorating the landing of George Willsher and his companions at Willsher Bay, June 28, 1840 : with a programme for the unveiling of the centennial cairn, erected by the Clutha County Council, June 28, 1940

Chapter II. — Morrell Visits Molyneux In 1830





        

Chapter II.



Morrell Visits Molyneux In 1830

        
The next detailed reference of any importance is contained in “The Narrative of Four Voyages,” written by Captain Benjamin Morrell and printed in New York in 1832. The following entry is dated January, 1830:—

        

“Molyneux Harbour.—Instead of a deep and spacious harbour, as reported by its discoverer, we found nothing but a small bend in the land between two low points, about three miles across and one mile deep.

        
“We soon had a friendly visit from about 50 Natives. They gave me a pressing invitation to visit their little village at the foot of a valley near the head of the bay…

        
“The village at the head of Molyneux's Harbour, which is called by the Natives Tavaimoo, contains 28 huts of miserable accommodations. The best among them are shaped like our barns, being about 10ft High, 30ft in length, and 12 or 15ft in breadth. The inside is strongly constructed and well fastened together with osiers or supple vines. They are painted, generally with red sides and black roofs, using the same kind of material as they daub their faces. At one end is a small hole, just large enough to admit one person stooping low; this serves as a door, while another hole, considerably smaller, answers the double purpose of chimney and window.

        
“Few of their habitations, however, are constructed in this laborious manner. The most of them are less than half this size, and are seldom more than four or five feet in height. They are framed of young trees and thatched with long, coarse grass. Their household furniture consists of a few small bags, in which they deposit their fishing gear and other trifles.”


        
With that fine disregard of spelling proper names, so evident in old records, “Molineux” becomes “Molyneux,” and has remained so ever since.

        
The Maori called the river Mata–au (“the surface current”), which has been shortened to Matau. The branch running down the southern side of Inchclutha was known as the Koau (the Shag). A Maori rendering of Molyneux is Maranuku, and that is the name sometimes given to the present Native Reserve north of Karoro Creek.

        
Morrell's observations on the village and the houses are of real value. But it should be pointed out that the “miserable accommodation” noted is an observation based on pakeha standards. The houses and their furnishings were of the standard type used by all native New Zealanders, and could not have been expected to compare with the comforts of Europeans.
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Chapter III.


        
The Whaling Days.

        

          
As Cook set down very few harbours on his South Island map, it is quite understandable that sealers and whalers should endeavour to use Molyneux as a base. Later, of course, they forsook this open bay for places like Akaroa, Otago Harbour, Waikawa, and the good harbours of Stewart Island.

        

        

          

Massacre of Four Men.

          
The sealing and whaling records frequently mention Molyneux. In McNab's “Murihiku” and “The Old Whaling Days” many details are available.

          
Captain Edwardson, who was in command of the sloop “Snapper,” 29 tons, was around Foveaux Straits and Ruapuke in 1822–1823, and he noted:—

          

“The deaths of several white people may be attributed to the lack of a prudent conduct. Among the numerous victims of the ferocity of the islanders may be mentioned Captain Tucker and the crew of his cutter: five men from the cutter of the ‘Sydney Cove,’ a whaling vessel, killed by Hunneghi, chief of OOuai on the coast of Foveaux Strait; four men from the schooner ‘The Brothers’ massacred at Molineux Harbour…” (Hunneghi is Hone Kai and OOuai is Oue, at the mouth of the Oreti River.)


        

        

          

Shore Whaling at Molyneux.

          
McNab records (“Old Whaling Days”) that the “Dublin Packet” arrived at Sydney from Otago on 18th November, 1838. Her report was that the Waikouaiti Station had procured 25 tuns of oil, the Molyneux 45, Waikawa 25, and Stirling at the Block 80.

          
It is also recorded that the American whaler “Fortune” was to leave Molyneux Harbour on the 14th November with 1500 barrels of black oil and 10 tons of whalebone.” This American whaler did not reach her destination until thirteen months after, but McNab notes that the 
Sydney Monitor reported that she was merely refitting at the Molyneux, and that the statement of her being bound home was premature.

        

        

          

Shortland Compiles Whaling Statistics.

          
In 1844 Edward Shortland travelled by land and sea right down our East Coast. He sailed from Waikouaiti to Molyneux Bay, but did not land, the schooner going on to Waikawa. Here the weather was bad, and they came back to Tautuku, where the whaling station was “on the point of being abandoned, as, during the past year, the oil procured had not been sufficient to pay its expenses.”

          
On the trip Shortland collected “Statistics of Whaling Stations South of Banks's Peninsula.”

          


          
William Palmer is given as the owner of Tautuku and Matau or Molyneux; Taiari is given as Weller.

          

            

              

                
	Place.
                
	Year.
                
	Fish caught.
                
	Oil in tuns.
              

              

                
	Tautuku
                
	1839
                
	11
                
	74
              

              

                
	Tautuku
                
	1840
                
	11
                
	72
              

              

                
	Tautuku
                
	1841
                
	11
                
	53
              

              

                
	Tautuku
                
	1842
                
	9
                
	36
              

              

                
	Tautuku
                
	1843
                
	2
                
	10
              

              

                
	Matau
                
	1838
                
	5
                
	25
              

              

                
	Taiari
                
	1839
                
	?
                
	70
              

              

                
	Taiari
                
	1840
                
	3
                
	15
              

              

                
	Taiari
                
	1841
                
	2
                
	8
              

            

          

          
This table would seem to indicate that 1838 saw the end of the shore whaling at Molyneux. To–day there is evidence of the big bones of whales at Willsher Bay, but these are the remains of whales cast up in rcent times.

        

        

          

The Good Old Days.

          
The old whaling station was situated at the southern end of Willsher Bay, the try–pots being on the beach just about where the big bluegums now stand. If we could re–create the scene in the days before 1840, instead of the clear air and the tang of the sea, we would smell rotting whale and the greasy stink of whale oil. The now beautiful sandy beach would be heavily impregnated with grease, and dogs and pigs disputing with the squawking gulls would be nosing around among the big bones and the filth.

          
Marsden wrote in 1830: “The immoral conduct of some of the whalers is dreadful.”

          
The whaling days were not the good old days!

        

        

          

The Traffic in Maori Heads.

          
The murdering of white men around Molyneux and Foveaux Straits was a matter of “tit for tat.”

          
Let us see how some of the civilised people behaved.

          
It soon becomes obvious that the understanding which now exists between Maori and pakeha was—apart from the missionaries, some settlers, and a few traders—not greatly manifest, even as late at 1839.

          
Many of the visiting whalers had little respect for either the customs or the material possessions of the Maoris. Even the lives of the Natives were not considered of value—but their heads, even their skins, were!

          
Trade was the god of these early sailormen, who had to make the voyages pay somehow. And even if whale oil and sealskins were in ample supply, sidelines, such as dried heads, always meant lashings of rum in Sydney.

          


        

        

          
“
If You Would Like His Skin.”

          
An English quarterly journal recently printed a letter which gives a startling insight into the methods of some visitors.

          
The following is an extract from 
The Countryman, April, 1939:—

        

        

          
“
An Amazing Letter.

          
“I send you a copy of a letter I have found among some old papers belonging to my grandfather, who was a friend of the Mr. Aglionby to whom the letter was addressed less than a hundred years ago. Mr. Aglionby was M.P. for Cockermouth, and was a zealous advocate of the reform of the Corn Laws. As far as family tradition goes, he was a humane and kindly person; but it would seem that the unfortunate aborigines of New Zealand in the early days of the Chartered Company were looked upon as an interesting kind of game.

        

        

        

        

          

“
H. Saxe Wyndham.”

“Sydney, New South Wales,

“20th May, 1839.



          
“My dear Aglionby,—I have great pleasure in informing you that after considerable trouble and difficulty I have at last succeeded in procuring you a capital specimen of a New Zealander's head, and as soon at it is “well cured and properly dried I shall send it to you by the first ship that leaves this colony, and I think that you will agree with me in considering it as a beautiful and curious ornament for the handsomest room in your house.

          
“I fell in with the possessor of the head by the merest chance while proceeding from Sydney to South Cove, going through the plains with a party of Natives, and after a long chase we succeeded in bringing him down by a rifle shot, which fortunately did not injure any of the ornamental tatoos on his face, which I doubt not you will admire as much as I do.

          
“If you would like his skin, I have it drying, and will send it to you the first opportunity. Some of the tatoos on it are exceedingly beautiful, particularly on certain parts, but one figure has suffered a little by the ball having passed through it.

          
“Let me know as soon you can the receipt of the head, and tell me at the same time if you would like the head of a female, as I shall have great pleasure in supplying you.

          

“Believe me, My dear Aglionby,


“Ever your sincerely,



“I. W. Willis.”


        




          
This trade in Maori heads became such a source of trouble and bloodshed that the Governor of New South Wales (Sir George Gipps) prohibited the importation of Maori heads into the colony.
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As Cook set down very few harbours on his South Island map, it is quite understandable that sealers and whalers should endeavour to use Molyneux as a base. Later, of course, they forsook this open bay for places like Akaroa, Otago Harbour, Waikawa, and the good harbours of Stewart Island.
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Massacre of Four Men.

          
The sealing and whaling records frequently mention Molyneux. In McNab's “Murihiku” and “The Old Whaling Days” many details are available.

          
Captain Edwardson, who was in command of the sloop “Snapper,” 29 tons, was around Foveaux Straits and Ruapuke in 1822–1823, and he noted:—

          

“The deaths of several white people may be attributed to the lack of a prudent conduct. Among the numerous victims of the ferocity of the islanders may be mentioned Captain Tucker and the crew of his cutter: five men from the cutter of the ‘Sydney Cove,’ a whaling vessel, killed by Hunneghi, chief of OOuai on the coast of Foveaux Strait; four men from the schooner ‘The Brothers’ massacred at Molineux Harbour…” (Hunneghi is Hone Kai and OOuai is Oue, at the mouth of the Oreti River.)
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Shore Whaling at Molyneux.

          
McNab records (“Old Whaling Days”) that the “Dublin Packet” arrived at Sydney from Otago on 18th November, 1838. Her report was that the Waikouaiti Station had procured 25 tuns of oil, the Molyneux 45, Waikawa 25, and Stirling at the Block 80.

          
It is also recorded that the American whaler “Fortune” was to leave Molyneux Harbour on the 14th November with 1500 barrels of black oil and 10 tons of whalebone.” This American whaler did not reach her destination until thirteen months after, but McNab notes that the 
Sydney Monitor reported that she was merely refitting at the Molyneux, and that the statement of her being bound home was premature.
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Shortland Compiles Whaling Statistics.

          
In 1844 Edward Shortland travelled by land and sea right down our East Coast. He sailed from Waikouaiti to Molyneux Bay, but did not land, the schooner going on to Waikawa. Here the weather was bad, and they came back to Tautuku, where the whaling station was “on the point of being abandoned, as, during the past year, the oil procured had not been sufficient to pay its expenses.”

          
On the trip Shortland collected “Statistics of Whaling Stations South of Banks's Peninsula.”

          


          
William Palmer is given as the owner of Tautuku and Matau or Molyneux; Taiari is given as Weller.

          

            

              

                
	Place.
                
	Year.
                
	Fish caught.
                
	Oil in tuns.
              

              

                
	Tautuku
                
	1839
                
	11
                
	74
              

              

                
	Tautuku
                
	1840
                
	11
                
	72
              

              

                
	Tautuku
                
	1841
                
	11
                
	53
              

              

                
	Tautuku
                
	1842
                
	9
                
	36
              

              

                
	Tautuku
                
	1843
                
	2
                
	10
              

              

                
	Matau
                
	1838
                
	5
                
	25
              

              

                
	Taiari
                
	1839
                
	?
                
	70
              

              

                
	Taiari
                
	1840
                
	3
                
	15
              

              

                
	Taiari
                
	1841
                
	2
                
	8
              

            

          

          
This table would seem to indicate that 1838 saw the end of the shore whaling at Molyneux. To–day there is evidence of the big bones of whales at Willsher Bay, but these are the remains of whales cast up in rcent times.
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The Good Old Days.

          
The old whaling station was situated at the southern end of Willsher Bay, the try–pots being on the beach just about where the big bluegums now stand. If we could re–create the scene in the days before 1840, instead of the clear air and the tang of the sea, we would smell rotting whale and the greasy stink of whale oil. The now beautiful sandy beach would be heavily impregnated with grease, and dogs and pigs disputing with the squawking gulls would be nosing around among the big bones and the filth.

          
Marsden wrote in 1830: “The immoral conduct of some of the whalers is dreadful.”

          
The whaling days were not the good old days!
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The Traffic in Maori Heads.

          
The murdering of white men around Molyneux and Foveaux Straits was a matter of “tit for tat.”

          
Let us see how some of the civilised people behaved.

          
It soon becomes obvious that the understanding which now exists between Maori and pakeha was—apart from the missionaries, some settlers, and a few traders—not greatly manifest, even as late at 1839.

          
Many of the visiting whalers had little respect for either the customs or the material possessions of the Maoris. Even the lives of the Natives were not considered of value—but their heads, even their skins, were!

          
Trade was the god of these early sailormen, who had to make the voyages pay somehow. And even if whale oil and sealskins were in ample supply, sidelines, such as dried heads, always meant lashings of rum in Sydney.
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“
If You Would Like His Skin.”

          
An English quarterly journal recently printed a letter which gives a startling insight into the methods of some visitors.

          
The following is an extract from 
The Countryman, April, 1939:—
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“
An Amazing Letter.

          
“I send you a copy of a letter I have found among some old papers belonging to my grandfather, who was a friend of the Mr. Aglionby to whom the letter was addressed less than a hundred years ago. Mr. Aglionby was M.P. for Cockermouth, and was a zealous advocate of the reform of the Corn Laws. As far as family tradition goes, he was a humane and kindly person; but it would seem that the unfortunate aborigines of New Zealand in the early days of the Chartered Company were looked upon as an interesting kind of game.

        

        

        

        

          

“
H. Saxe Wyndham.”

“Sydney, New South Wales,

“20th May, 1839.



          
“My dear Aglionby,—I have great pleasure in informing you that after considerable trouble and difficulty I have at last succeeded in procuring you a capital specimen of a New Zealander's head, and as soon at it is “well cured and properly dried I shall send it to you by the first ship that leaves this colony, and I think that you will agree with me in considering it as a beautiful and curious ornament for the handsomest room in your house.

          
“I fell in with the possessor of the head by the merest chance while proceeding from Sydney to South Cove, going through the plains with a party of Natives, and after a long chase we succeeded in bringing him down by a rifle shot, which fortunately did not injure any of the ornamental tatoos on his face, which I doubt not you will admire as much as I do.

          
“If you would like his skin, I have it drying, and will send it to you the first opportunity. Some of the tatoos on it are exceedingly beautiful, particularly on certain parts, but one figure has suffered a little by the ball having passed through it.

          
“Let me know as soon you can the receipt of the head, and tell me at the same time if you would like the head of a female, as I shall have great pleasure in supplying you.

          

“Believe me, My dear Aglionby,


“Ever your sincerely,



“I. W. Willis.”


        




          
This trade in Maori heads became such a source of trouble and bloodshed that the Governor of New South Wales (Sir George Gipps) prohibited the importation of Maori heads into the colony.
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Chapter IV.



The Landing at Willsher Bay.

        

          
The year 1940 is in every sense a centennial year for South Otago. For a definite settlement was established at Port Molyneux in the year 1840.

          
Starting from a base of definite local knowledge, by making inquiries in Sydney and elsewhere; by searching newspaper files in Sydney, Wellington, Dunedin, Invercargill, and Balclutha: by investigating old land claims in Wellington; and by a methodical reading of all old records—it has been possible to fit together all the parts of what was a few years ago an intricate jig–saw puzzle.

          
The early history of South Otago is recorded in the “Reminiscences of the Early Settlement of South Otago,” edited by John Wilson. Therein this passage occurs:—

          
“During the New Zealand land boom in 1839–40, one Thomas Jones, merchant in Sydney, became a large operator. He claimed to have purchased from the native owners 307,000 acres of land, of which 256,000 acres were in the Molyneux district. A syndicate was formed, stock purchased, and the brig “Portenia” chartered to convey a party to the Molyneux. Besides Jones himself, she carried George Willcher, William Bessant, Conning, and Thomas Russell. Willcher represented Jones as resident agent, Bessant represented two men, Cruikshanks and Cohen, who belonged to the syndicate, while Conning represented an area of 7000 acres purchased from Jones.

          
“Russell's status is not specially known, but the likelihood is that he was another purchaser from Jones. He remained in the colony till his death, which occurred in Dunedin many years ago. He had been awarded 100 acres in place of his original claim of thousands of acres, and he lived all along in hopes of getting further concessions—hopes which were never realised.

          
“The voyage was a tempestuous one, and all the stock perished except one cow. The party landed near the Karoro Creek, and Willcher was so disgusted with the failure of the expedition that he remained in New Zealand. He secured a section of some twenty acres of land at the mouth of the Karoro, and the bay near Port Molyneux is called Willcher Bay after him.”

        

        

          

A Scrap of History.

          
In 1889 “A Scrap of History” was published in the 
Southland Times, and from it the following extracts are taken:—

          

“There were originally four persons who settled at Molyneux Bay, bringing with them the stock mentioned in the letter, in the ship “Portenia,” Captain Morris. Of the cattle only one cow was landed.

          


          
Fortunately this cow was in calf, and with much joy to her owner, Mr Willcher, the calf was a bull. From this beginning a herd of 600 head was eventually raised. Some of the goats and pigs that were landed strayed into the bush.

          
“The names of the original settlers were Thomas Russell, Robert Conning, Mr George Willcher (acting for Thomas Jones, merchant, of Sydney), and T. W. Bessant (acting for Cruickshanks and Cohen, of Sydney). Of these, Russell and Willcher obtained grants of land. Bessant and Conning resided there about twelve months, and, being disgusted with the solitude and privations forced upon them, returned to Sydney at the first opportunity. Russell died about fifteen or twenty years ago in Dunedin; Willcher left for England about twelve years ago, and it is not known whether he is still alive.”


        

        

          

            
A Valuable Letter
          

          
Fortunately, Bessant wrote a long letter to Mr Cohen, of Sydney, and it is well worth reprinting:—

        

        

        

        

          
“Molyneux Bay,
          
“Monday, July 6th, 1840.


          
Dear Cohen,—Here we are, and have been since Sunday week, after a passage of four weeks exactly [from Sydney], during which we experienced all kinds of misforturne. In the first place, on leaving Sydney Heads we popped into the midst of a heavy gale of wind, which lasted four days and destroyed twenty–eight head of cattle. You can imagine the state the hold was in—the dead cattle all rotting. The people had to cut them up and heave them overboard. As you may suppose, our provision for the stock was soon wasted, and we were at our wits' end to find feed for them. I am sorry to say poor Billy and one of the pigs died, and one of the goats dropped her kid. Russell lost one goat and two pigs. We are now all on shore with our stock and some of the things, but they are not all landed yet. By the by, you may guess what a harbour it is when I tell you you must bring all your things in ironbound casks, except the small cases you can carry. I have had to unpack all mine, and find the iron has destroyed all the [illegible]. Now I must tell you the land is, by everyone's account, and I think so too, everything you could wish, and when Jones gets his piece, as he says he will, the place will prosper.

          
“The land here is covered with a thick bush, and all around the place is the same, but by the river all tremendous hills and dales with nothing but grass and flax upon them. You cannot imagine how beautiful the country looks.

          
“Russell and I penetrated a long way back yesterday and found some splendid trees [indistinct, may be grass], and the whole country watered by small bits of brooks. I must tell you the chart is no



more like the place than you. There is no island in the river, but a bar thrown up by the sea, and impassable for any boat. Jones is a man of no enterprise or the place would soon be valuable; we have been a week here now, but instead of laying out a town he is fuddling about on board ship for fear his wine would be drunk in his absence.

          
“However, we have got our houses at the only landing place, and it, of course, will be the town. My goods are all at the tent, and I have got a house nearly finished. I have a small stream of water at the door. I do not think he intends measuring the land now, but talks of sending a surveyor down and plenty more people; but as long as he will measure the water frontage we can do the rest. Of course, I cannot tell you the bounds, nor can Conning sign the deed (as we have not got the land yet), but you may rest assured I am on the lookout, and will take pretty good care of them all.

          
“I like Russell and Conning very well indeed. Conning is a hard–working fellow; Russell is a schemer. The captain no doubt will speak bad enough of the bay, so I will only say look at the best side of the question, as a sailor, of course, looks to the safety of his ship, and not at the land. If we could get a craft from 60 to 80 tons we should do splendidly, and I hope some day or other we will. Russell says, ‘Never mind, the hills are as good as the dales, and the dales as good as possible.’ The whole country is covered with flax. Mr. Jones says he will get a piece here, and if so we shall soon … There is a very heavy surf here, but a whale boat can always manage to land. Should you get a boat, it must be a whale boat … It is good holding ground for a ship, but the bay is quite open. Our stock are all running about, and find such food they will not eat anything that we have to give them. As for the weather, it is not at all cold, though winter time.

          
“In our excursion yesterday we shot a tremendous dove … it was the size of a fowl … and we had him for supper. When you come, please bring … a cap as I always wear a … and a pair of strong shoes. You could not do better than bring the cattle and some rabbits, another billy goat, etc. We must get a cutter, and if, by and by, we should be able to get a brig or schooner from Home, it would be a fortune about here, for Johnny Jones has too much of his own way.

          
“We went to Rubucka Island, where Bloody Jack lives. Mr. Jones went to see him. It was about five miles from the port. He was ill, but talks of calling on us when he gets well. He engages to defend Jones in his purchase, and gave him to the chief to come with us.

          


          
“I shall very likely write to Mr. Ellard, but as the land is not measured yet, have nothing to tell him. I forgot to say there is a clerk of Johnny Jones' living with Bloody Jack, and there are no natives at Molyneux, so, of course, we have no assistance; but I do not mind that, as they understand money so well as to prefer it to anything else, and will do nothing here for a handkerchief. I could say a deal, but cannot put in a letter. Come as soon as you can and persuade as many as you can, for the place wants people more than anything. Do not forget to look out for my letter and give my brother a paper or two.

          
“Relying upon seeing you, I am, with best respects to Mr. and Mrs. Cruickshanks, etc., etc.

          

“Yours truly,

          

“T. W. Bessant.”


        





        

          

Landing was June 28, 1840.

          
In order to gain some information about the “Portenia” I wrote to Mr Taylor, the New Zealand Commissioner in Sydney, as follows:—

          

“I wonder if you could help me in determining the date of departure of a vessel from Sydney in 1840?

          
“In 1840 a party of four landed at the mouth of the Clutha River and established a settlement. We propose to set up a memorial cairn for our Centennial, and I would like to get the details about the vessel if there are any records in Sydney. The vessel's name was ‘Portenia.’

          
“If you could get access to old shipping records you might be able to find particulars of her sailing date and her cargo. A letter, written by T. W. Bessant, and dated Molyneux Bay, Monday, July 6th, 1840, commences: ‘Here we are and have been since Sunday week, after a passage of four weeks exactly (from Sydney)…’ The party apparently landed on Sunday, June 28th, 1840. A four weeks' voyage would mean that they left Sydney somewhere about June 1st.

          
“If there is any means of searching departures of ships from Sydney for the last week of May, 1840, it is possible that the departure of the vessel ‘Portenia,’ Captain Morris in command, might be definitely traced.”


        

        

          

“Portenia” Sails from Sydney.

          
In due course I received the interesting information that the “Portenia” had left Sydney on May 31, 1840. Here is the reply:—

          

“I arranged for a search of the documents and newspapers housed in the Mitchell Library, Sydney, and the investigations have disclosed the following details regarding the ‘Portenia.’

          
“‘Portenia,’ brig of 221 tons. Sydney agent, Edward Hunt, Jamieson Street, Sydney. Left Cape of Good Hope 22/1/1840 commanded by Capt. C. Comin with cargo of wines and sundries for



Sydney. Arrived Sydney March 20, 1840. Left Girard's Wharf, Sydney, for Port Nicholson, Cloudy Bay, and Queen Charlotte Sound on May 31, 1840.

          
“The master is shown in some newspapers as Capt. Comin, but others and shipping gazettes and clearance documents show the master as Capt. Morris, and it would appear that Capt. Comin was replaced by Capt. Morris, who took the vessel to New Zealand.

          
“Passengers: Messrs Jones, Wilshire, Russell, Conning, Waik (or Waite), Robinson, and Walpole; also thirteen steerage passengers whose names are not recorded.

          
“Unfortunately, details of the cargo are not recorded in any form, the description being simply ‘sundries.’ The general trade list shows details of cargoes, but for some reason the ‘Portenia’ is not recorded in the issue covering the period of her departure, although several other vessels which left simultaneously are recorded. However, there is no mention of the cargo of the ‘Portenia’ in any of the papers.

          
“However, it might be of interest to you to know that the brig returned to Sydney from New Zealand on 24/9/1840 and left again for New Zealand on 18/10/1840. Captain Morris was still in command, and the vessel is shown as carrying the following cargo:—10 baskets, 2 tierces, 5 kegs tobacco, arrack, 5 barrels beef, 20 kegs gunpowder, 10 bags flour, 1 case muskets, 41 packages of oilman's stores, 12 packages of furniture, 10 packages of ironmongery and sundries.”


        

        

          

The Ravages of Rum.

          
“Arrack” was a second–rate grade of rum, and has been described as the “usual currency” of the whaling days. Most people employed at whaling stations were paid in rum. Unfortunately, the Maoris rapidly became addicted to rum and brandy, and its use at tangis and on other occasions played havoc. Much of the plundering of whaling stations was the result of rum drinking.

        

        

          

            
The First Trip of the “Portenia.”
          

          
In this letter from Mr. Taylor we find that Edward Hunt was the Sydney agent of the “Portenia.”

          
In the head office of the Lands and Survey Department, Wellington, are carefully preserved the old papers referring to the early land claims in Otago and Southland. By the courtesy of the Under–secretary of Lands, it has been ascertained that Edward Hunt was a purchaser from Jones, and that Russell paid Hunt £375 for one of the blocks. It does not appear that Jones ever proceeded with the survey and subdivision of the original block, but, fortunately, light is thrown on the purchase of the “Portenia,” and an original letter written by Edward Hunt, of Sydney, is preserved among the old claim papers,



and dated 10th October, 1846. This document supplies us with an important piece of the jig–saw puzzle:—

          

“In April, 1840, I joined Mr. Jones in the purchase of the Brig ‘Portenia’ for the purpose of establishing a settlement upon the land purchased of the Natives, and we embarked on board that Vessel a number of Settlers consisting of a Surveyor and builder, Superintendent, an Agriculturist, Carpenters, Sawyers and a Ploughman. We also shipped on board the Brig a full sized whale–boat, twenty–seven cows, one bull, six working bullocks, drays, harness, ploughs, harrows and other farming implements. Houses in frame, pitsaws, Carpenters’ tools for erecting houses, together with stores of every description necessary for eighteen months’ consumption; and pigs, goats, poultry, grain, potatoes and garden seeds, and, in fact, everything necessary for the use of first inhabitants forming a New Settlement.

          
“The Settlers were landed with much expense and trouble at Molyneux Bay in June, 1840, and the Brig discharged her cargo. She afterwards returned to Sydney, where we sent her a second voyage to Molyneux with a further eighteen months’ supply of stores for the Settlers.”


          
To get the authentic details of the sale by Tuhawaiki to Thomas Jones we must again have recourse to early official documents, to old newspaper files, and to the Land Claim papers now reposing in Wellington.
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[introduction]



          
The year 1940 is in every sense a centennial year for South Otago. For a definite settlement was established at Port Molyneux in the year 1840.

          
Starting from a base of definite local knowledge, by making inquiries in Sydney and elsewhere; by searching newspaper files in Sydney, Wellington, Dunedin, Invercargill, and Balclutha: by investigating old land claims in Wellington; and by a methodical reading of all old records—it has been possible to fit together all the parts of what was a few years ago an intricate jig–saw puzzle.

          
The early history of South Otago is recorded in the “Reminiscences of the Early Settlement of South Otago,” edited by John Wilson. Therein this passage occurs:—

          
“During the New Zealand land boom in 1839–40, one Thomas Jones, merchant in Sydney, became a large operator. He claimed to have purchased from the native owners 307,000 acres of land, of which 256,000 acres were in the Molyneux district. A syndicate was formed, stock purchased, and the brig “Portenia” chartered to convey a party to the Molyneux. Besides Jones himself, she carried George Willcher, William Bessant, Conning, and Thomas Russell. Willcher represented Jones as resident agent, Bessant represented two men, Cruikshanks and Cohen, who belonged to the syndicate, while Conning represented an area of 7000 acres purchased from Jones.

          
“Russell's status is not specially known, but the likelihood is that he was another purchaser from Jones. He remained in the colony till his death, which occurred in Dunedin many years ago. He had been awarded 100 acres in place of his original claim of thousands of acres, and he lived all along in hopes of getting further concessions—hopes which were never realised.

          
“The voyage was a tempestuous one, and all the stock perished except one cow. The party landed near the Karoro Creek, and Willcher was so disgusted with the failure of the expedition that he remained in New Zealand. He secured a section of some twenty acres of land at the mouth of the Karoro, and the bay near Port Molyneux is called Willcher Bay after him.”
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A Scrap of History.

          
In 1889 “A Scrap of History” was published in the 
Southland Times, and from it the following extracts are taken:—

          

“There were originally four persons who settled at Molyneux Bay, bringing with them the stock mentioned in the letter, in the ship “Portenia,” Captain Morris. Of the cattle only one cow was landed.

          


          
Fortunately this cow was in calf, and with much joy to her owner, Mr Willcher, the calf was a bull. From this beginning a herd of 600 head was eventually raised. Some of the goats and pigs that were landed strayed into the bush.

          
“The names of the original settlers were Thomas Russell, Robert Conning, Mr George Willcher (acting for Thomas Jones, merchant, of Sydney), and T. W. Bessant (acting for Cruickshanks and Cohen, of Sydney). Of these, Russell and Willcher obtained grants of land. Bessant and Conning resided there about twelve months, and, being disgusted with the solitude and privations forced upon them, returned to Sydney at the first opportunity. Russell died about fifteen or twenty years ago in Dunedin; Willcher left for England about twelve years ago, and it is not known whether he is still alive.”
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A Valuable Letter
          

          
Fortunately, Bessant wrote a long letter to Mr Cohen, of Sydney, and it is well worth reprinting:—

        

        

        

        

          
“Molyneux Bay,
          
“Monday, July 6th, 1840.


          
Dear Cohen,—Here we are, and have been since Sunday week, after a passage of four weeks exactly [from Sydney], during which we experienced all kinds of misforturne. In the first place, on leaving Sydney Heads we popped into the midst of a heavy gale of wind, which lasted four days and destroyed twenty–eight head of cattle. You can imagine the state the hold was in—the dead cattle all rotting. The people had to cut them up and heave them overboard. As you may suppose, our provision for the stock was soon wasted, and we were at our wits' end to find feed for them. I am sorry to say poor Billy and one of the pigs died, and one of the goats dropped her kid. Russell lost one goat and two pigs. We are now all on shore with our stock and some of the things, but they are not all landed yet. By the by, you may guess what a harbour it is when I tell you you must bring all your things in ironbound casks, except the small cases you can carry. I have had to unpack all mine, and find the iron has destroyed all the [illegible]. Now I must tell you the land is, by everyone's account, and I think so too, everything you could wish, and when Jones gets his piece, as he says he will, the place will prosper.

          
“The land here is covered with a thick bush, and all around the place is the same, but by the river all tremendous hills and dales with nothing but grass and flax upon them. You cannot imagine how beautiful the country looks.

          
“Russell and I penetrated a long way back yesterday and found some splendid trees [indistinct, may be grass], and the whole country watered by small bits of brooks. I must tell you the chart is no



more like the place than you. There is no island in the river, but a bar thrown up by the sea, and impassable for any boat. Jones is a man of no enterprise or the place would soon be valuable; we have been a week here now, but instead of laying out a town he is fuddling about on board ship for fear his wine would be drunk in his absence.

          
“However, we have got our houses at the only landing place, and it, of course, will be the town. My goods are all at the tent, and I have got a house nearly finished. I have a small stream of water at the door. I do not think he intends measuring the land now, but talks of sending a surveyor down and plenty more people; but as long as he will measure the water frontage we can do the rest. Of course, I cannot tell you the bounds, nor can Conning sign the deed (as we have not got the land yet), but you may rest assured I am on the lookout, and will take pretty good care of them all.

          
“I like Russell and Conning very well indeed. Conning is a hard–working fellow; Russell is a schemer. The captain no doubt will speak bad enough of the bay, so I will only say look at the best side of the question, as a sailor, of course, looks to the safety of his ship, and not at the land. If we could get a craft from 60 to 80 tons we should do splendidly, and I hope some day or other we will. Russell says, ‘Never mind, the hills are as good as the dales, and the dales as good as possible.’ The whole country is covered with flax. Mr. Jones says he will get a piece here, and if so we shall soon … There is a very heavy surf here, but a whale boat can always manage to land. Should you get a boat, it must be a whale boat … It is good holding ground for a ship, but the bay is quite open. Our stock are all running about, and find such food they will not eat anything that we have to give them. As for the weather, it is not at all cold, though winter time.

          
“In our excursion yesterday we shot a tremendous dove … it was the size of a fowl … and we had him for supper. When you come, please bring … a cap as I always wear a … and a pair of strong shoes. You could not do better than bring the cattle and some rabbits, another billy goat, etc. We must get a cutter, and if, by and by, we should be able to get a brig or schooner from Home, it would be a fortune about here, for Johnny Jones has too much of his own way.

          
“We went to Rubucka Island, where Bloody Jack lives. Mr. Jones went to see him. It was about five miles from the port. He was ill, but talks of calling on us when he gets well. He engages to defend Jones in his purchase, and gave him to the chief to come with us.

          


          
“I shall very likely write to Mr. Ellard, but as the land is not measured yet, have nothing to tell him. I forgot to say there is a clerk of Johnny Jones' living with Bloody Jack, and there are no natives at Molyneux, so, of course, we have no assistance; but I do not mind that, as they understand money so well as to prefer it to anything else, and will do nothing here for a handkerchief. I could say a deal, but cannot put in a letter. Come as soon as you can and persuade as many as you can, for the place wants people more than anything. Do not forget to look out for my letter and give my brother a paper or two.

          
“Relying upon seeing you, I am, with best respects to Mr. and Mrs. Cruickshanks, etc., etc.

          

“Yours truly,

          

“T. W. Bessant.”
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Landing was June 28, 1840.

          
In order to gain some information about the “Portenia” I wrote to Mr Taylor, the New Zealand Commissioner in Sydney, as follows:—

          

“I wonder if you could help me in determining the date of departure of a vessel from Sydney in 1840?

          
“In 1840 a party of four landed at the mouth of the Clutha River and established a settlement. We propose to set up a memorial cairn for our Centennial, and I would like to get the details about the vessel if there are any records in Sydney. The vessel's name was ‘Portenia.’

          
“If you could get access to old shipping records you might be able to find particulars of her sailing date and her cargo. A letter, written by T. W. Bessant, and dated Molyneux Bay, Monday, July 6th, 1840, commences: ‘Here we are and have been since Sunday week, after a passage of four weeks exactly (from Sydney)…’ The party apparently landed on Sunday, June 28th, 1840. A four weeks' voyage would mean that they left Sydney somewhere about June 1st.

          
“If there is any means of searching departures of ships from Sydney for the last week of May, 1840, it is possible that the departure of the vessel ‘Portenia,’ Captain Morris in command, might be definitely traced.”
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“Portenia” Sails from Sydney.

          
In due course I received the interesting information that the “Portenia” had left Sydney on May 31, 1840. Here is the reply:—

          

“I arranged for a search of the documents and newspapers housed in the Mitchell Library, Sydney, and the investigations have disclosed the following details regarding the ‘Portenia.’

          
“‘Portenia,’ brig of 221 tons. Sydney agent, Edward Hunt, Jamieson Street, Sydney. Left Cape of Good Hope 22/1/1840 commanded by Capt. C. Comin with cargo of wines and sundries for



Sydney. Arrived Sydney March 20, 1840. Left Girard's Wharf, Sydney, for Port Nicholson, Cloudy Bay, and Queen Charlotte Sound on May 31, 1840.

          
“The master is shown in some newspapers as Capt. Comin, but others and shipping gazettes and clearance documents show the master as Capt. Morris, and it would appear that Capt. Comin was replaced by Capt. Morris, who took the vessel to New Zealand.

          
“Passengers: Messrs Jones, Wilshire, Russell, Conning, Waik (or Waite), Robinson, and Walpole; also thirteen steerage passengers whose names are not recorded.

          
“Unfortunately, details of the cargo are not recorded in any form, the description being simply ‘sundries.’ The general trade list shows details of cargoes, but for some reason the ‘Portenia’ is not recorded in the issue covering the period of her departure, although several other vessels which left simultaneously are recorded. However, there is no mention of the cargo of the ‘Portenia’ in any of the papers.

          
“However, it might be of interest to you to know that the brig returned to Sydney from New Zealand on 24/9/1840 and left again for New Zealand on 18/10/1840. Captain Morris was still in command, and the vessel is shown as carrying the following cargo:—10 baskets, 2 tierces, 5 kegs tobacco, arrack, 5 barrels beef, 20 kegs gunpowder, 10 bags flour, 1 case muskets, 41 packages of oilman's stores, 12 packages of furniture, 10 packages of ironmongery and sundries.”


        








Victoria University of Wellington Library




Port Molyneux : the story of Maori and pakeha in South Otago : a centennial history : commemorating the landing of George Willsher and his companions at Willsher Bay, June 28, 1840 : with a programme for the unveiling of the centennial cairn, erected by the Clutha County Council, June 28, 1940

The Ravages of Rum



          

The Ravages of Rum.

          
“Arrack” was a second–rate grade of rum, and has been described as the “usual currency” of the whaling days. Most people employed at whaling stations were paid in rum. Unfortunately, the Maoris rapidly became addicted to rum and brandy, and its use at tangis and on other occasions played havoc. Much of the plundering of whaling stations was the result of rum drinking.

        








Victoria University of Wellington Library




Port Molyneux : the story of Maori and pakeha in South Otago : a centennial history : commemorating the landing of George Willsher and his companions at Willsher Bay, June 28, 1840 : with a programme for the unveiling of the centennial cairn, erected by the Clutha County Council, June 28, 1940

The First Trip of the “Portenia.”



          

            
The First Trip of the “Portenia.”
          

          
In this letter from Mr. Taylor we find that Edward Hunt was the Sydney agent of the “Portenia.”

          
In the head office of the Lands and Survey Department, Wellington, are carefully preserved the old papers referring to the early land claims in Otago and Southland. By the courtesy of the Under–secretary of Lands, it has been ascertained that Edward Hunt was a purchaser from Jones, and that Russell paid Hunt £375 for one of the blocks. It does not appear that Jones ever proceeded with the survey and subdivision of the original block, but, fortunately, light is thrown on the purchase of the “Portenia,” and an original letter written by Edward Hunt, of Sydney, is preserved among the old claim papers,



and dated 10th October, 1846. This document supplies us with an important piece of the jig–saw puzzle:—

          

“In April, 1840, I joined Mr. Jones in the purchase of the Brig ‘Portenia’ for the purpose of establishing a settlement upon the land purchased of the Natives, and we embarked on board that Vessel a number of Settlers consisting of a Surveyor and builder, Superintendent, an Agriculturist, Carpenters, Sawyers and a Ploughman. We also shipped on board the Brig a full sized whale–boat, twenty–seven cows, one bull, six working bullocks, drays, harness, ploughs, harrows and other farming implements. Houses in frame, pitsaws, Carpenters’ tools for erecting houses, together with stores of every description necessary for eighteen months’ consumption; and pigs, goats, poultry, grain, potatoes and garden seeds, and, in fact, everything necessary for the use of first inhabitants forming a New Settlement.

          
“The Settlers were landed with much expense and trouble at Molyneux Bay in June, 1840, and the Brig discharged her cargo. She afterwards returned to Sydney, where we sent her a second voyage to Molyneux with a further eighteen months’ supply of stores for the Settlers.”


          
To get the authentic details of the sale by Tuhawaiki to Thomas Jones we must again have recourse to early official documents, to old newspaper files, and to the Land Claim papers now reposing in Wellington.
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Chapter V.



Claims For Land At Molyneux.

        

          

            
A Land Boom in Sydney
          

          
During the closing years of the “eighteen–thirties” a boom in New Zealand lands raged in Sydney. The decision by the New South Wales Governor to finalise the Treaty of Wiatangi in 1840 added fuel to the flame. This land fever has been described as “sharking” or “grabbing,” and “bona fide speculation.” Old official records state:—

          

“Almost every captain of a ship arriving at Sydney from New Zealand exhibited a piece of paper with a tattooed Native head rudely drawn on it, which he described as the title deed of an estate bought for a few muskets, hatchets or blankets… Other captains were supplied in Sydney with blank ‘Deeds of Feoffment’ for use in these purchases… Among other claimants to land in the Southern portion of the Colony, Mr. Wentworth asserted his right to 20,100,000 acres in the Middle Island; Catlin & Co., 7,000,000; Weller & Co., 3,557,000; Jones & Co., 1,930,000; Peacock & Co., 1,450,000; Green & Co., 1,377,000; Guard & Co., 1,200,000; and the New Zealand Company to 20,000,000 acres… One Company, consisting of four



gentlemen, claimed the Middle Island, excepting all previously sold, in consideration of giving the Chiefs a few hundred pounds in money and a life annuity of £100 per annum.”


          
In most of these deals an old Port Molyneux boy, Tuhawaiki, the greatest of all South Island land salesmen, played a prominent part.

          
Sir George Gipps, then Governor of New South Wales, put a damper on these proceedings by issuing a proclamation prohibiting all future purchases of land from Natives and appointing commissioners to investigate all purchases previously made. “Sufficient payment” was fixed at varying rates: Between 1815 and 1824, 6d per acre; 1835 and 1836, 1s to 2s per acre; 1839, 4s to 8s per acre.

          
As the amount of cash in each purchase had been small, grants for only very small areas were authorised.

        

        

          

All Claims Disallowed.

          
Some particulars of all claims lodged are printed in a Parliamentary paper known as D—14, which is an appendix to the “Report of the Land Claims Commissioner.” This was presented to the House of Representatives on the 8th of July, 1862.

          
Of the thousands of claims made for areas alleged to have been purchased in the North and South Islands, those in the list below are the Molyneux claims.

          
The acreage in six claims, for which areas are given, total 1,360,482 acres. For five other claims no acreages are given.

          
Claim No. 267 is obviously the one that caused Willsher and Russell to sail with Thomas Jones in the “Portenia.” Probably the vessel cleared for Cloudy Bay to throw other claimants off the scent.

          
In this table is given, first, the claim number; second, name of claimant; third, the year purchase was made; then the amount paid, if available; and, last, how the claim was dealt with:—

          
No. 72.—Brown and Campbell. 1838 to 1840. Claim disallowed.

          
No. 255.—John Jones. Claimant sold half claim to C. Wentworth and two–twelfths to Brown and Campbell. 1838. Paid £200. Claim withdrawn.

          
No. 267.—Thomas Jones. 1839. Claimed 256,000 acres. Disallowed, claimant not appearing.

          
No. 276.—A. Lamont. 1840. Claimed 1281 acres. Disallowed.

          
No. 281.—James Liddle. 1840. Claimed 1281 acres. Disallowed. No claim preferred.

          
No. 296.—A. McIntyre. 1840. Claimed 1920 acres. Disallowed. No claim preferred.

          
No. 476.—F. W. Unwin. 1838. Claim disallowed.

          


          
No. 482.—Edward Weller. 1839. Paid £82. Claimed 1,000,000 acres at Molyneux. In addition, claimed additional areas elsewhere in South Island of 881,360 acres. Disallowed. No claim preferred.

          
No. 488.—George Weller. 1839. Paid £91 13s. Claimed 100,000 acres at Molyneux. In addition, claimed additional areas of 845,360 in the South Island and 480,200 in the North Island. Disallowed, the claimant not appearing. In 1846 the claimant applied to have claim reopened, but refused. The claimant stated that he and Edward Weller had actually surveyed 63,600 acres at a cost of £800, and had sold 14,000 at 5s per acre to other persons.

          
No. 497.—W. C. Wentworth. 1839. Acreage claimed at Molyneux not stated. In addition, made 12 other claims in both islands. All these claims were disallowed, the claimant not appearing. There appears to have been a kind of partnership between Messrs. Wentworth, Jones, Leathart and others, of Sydney, in these claims.

          
No. 1350.—Edward Hunt. Paid £30. Not referred to any commissioner. No claim preferred.

        

        

          

The Speculation of Thomas Jones, of Sydney.

          
In the reminiscences of J. E. Richter, published in the 
Sydney Mail (date unknown), we get some interesting details about the land, the purchase price, and Jones, the purchaser:—

          

“I was well acquainted with one purchase made in Sydney from the Chief Tewaiki of a block of 20 miles square (400 square miles) for a few whaleboats, guns, fishing tackle, flour, etc., in value about £70.

          
“This block was sold to Thomas Jones, who was then a wine and spirit merchant of Bathurst Street, Sydney, and a brother of David Jones, the founder of a large drapery business still carried on in George Street.

          
“… That particular land is now regarded as one of the finest parts in New Zealand, the River Molyneux running through the centre of it. It included the present town of Balclutha as well as the Kaitangata Coal Mines, with a seam of 30 feet in thickness. Its value now would amount to over two millions.

          
“Money was hard to obtain from financial institutions in the forties, to carry out the conditions of a speculation of this kind, when the existence of New Zealand as a British colony was still in doubt, and when it was by no means certain that the new settlers would not be driven out by the Maoris…”


          


        

        

          

Lands Sold and Price Paid.

          
A search of the records available in the Lands Department in New Zealand discloses the nearest we can get to the facts.

          
The original deed of sale is not included in the New Zealand records, but may be in existence in Sydney. Bearing in mind that there were no typewriters in 1840; that the New Zealand copy is a hand–written copy of the original; and that in some parts the papers are torn—bearing all these things in mind, the following facts emerge:—

          
The seller was “John Toawack.” The purchaser was “Thomas Jones, of Sydney, merchant.”

          
The land was “a tract of land … adjoining by Molyneux Harbour or Bay”; and the boundaries were described as “from the commencement of Point Tuguttar in Molyneux Bay extending in a South–westerly direction as far as Port Owarker Lower, which adjoins Mr. Edward Cattlin's purchase, and land extending ten miles on each side of Mataw River which disembogues itself into Molyneux Bay and running back twenty miles into the interior, thus forming a tract of land four hundred miles square.” (Really twenty miles square, or four hundred square miles.)

          
The date was “the seventh day of January, 1840.”

          
The purchase price was “thirty pounds sterling money of Great Britain, and other goods.” It appears that these other goods were of the value of £13 9s, according to Sydney prices. This is a total of £43 9s. There is also mention of a £20 annuity to John Tohowick, but there is apparently no documentary evidence that an annuity was paid.

        

        

          

            
The Block “Twenty Miles Square.”
          

          
If a map is taken, it is possible to identify Point Tuguttar as Point Tokata, or Nugget Point. Point Owaka Lower is obviously somewhere about the mouth of the Owaka River. The boundaries mentioned in one of Cattlin's purchases are:—

          

“A tract of land described as near Molyneux Bay in the Middle Island. The northern boundary commences at Wangapawa, a point south of Matau (Molyneux Harbour), and extending inland to the mountains. The eastern boundary is the sea coast, and extending as far as the South Head of a small harbour called Owaka, from which point a line drawn inland to the mountains from the southern boundary.”


          
So far I cannot determine the place name Wangapawa. And at first sight it is difficult to draw a map of a block twenty miles square with a baseline of the mileage from Nugget Point to the mouth of the Owaka River. If, however, we take the old mouth of the Molyneux



and mark a point ten miles north of it, and another ten miles south, we will find the two extremities as indicated in the sketch map. Ten miles from the old mouth of the Matau measured south alongthe coast arrives at a point about False Island, just to the north of the Owaka estuary.

          

            

[image: Sketch map of the block of land twenty miles square sold by Tuhawaiki to Thomas Jones.]
Sketch map of the block of land twenty miles square sold by Tuhawaiki


to Thomas Jones.


          

          


          
If inland we measure twenty miles up the Molyneux, we get to somewhere near the mouth of the Waiwera River, with a western point towards Clinton and an eastern limit about Clarksville.

          
On a map it would enclose the area shown on the sketch map, and this approximates to the description given by Richter in his reminiscences.
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A Land Boom in Sydney
          

          
During the closing years of the “eighteen–thirties” a boom in New Zealand lands raged in Sydney. The decision by the New South Wales Governor to finalise the Treaty of Wiatangi in 1840 added fuel to the flame. This land fever has been described as “sharking” or “grabbing,” and “bona fide speculation.” Old official records state:—

          

“Almost every captain of a ship arriving at Sydney from New Zealand exhibited a piece of paper with a tattooed Native head rudely drawn on it, which he described as the title deed of an estate bought for a few muskets, hatchets or blankets… Other captains were supplied in Sydney with blank ‘Deeds of Feoffment’ for use in these purchases… Among other claimants to land in the Southern portion of the Colony, Mr. Wentworth asserted his right to 20,100,000 acres in the Middle Island; Catlin & Co., 7,000,000; Weller & Co., 3,557,000; Jones & Co., 1,930,000; Peacock & Co., 1,450,000; Green & Co., 1,377,000; Guard & Co., 1,200,000; and the New Zealand Company to 20,000,000 acres… One Company, consisting of four



gentlemen, claimed the Middle Island, excepting all previously sold, in consideration of giving the Chiefs a few hundred pounds in money and a life annuity of £100 per annum.”


          
In most of these deals an old Port Molyneux boy, Tuhawaiki, the greatest of all South Island land salesmen, played a prominent part.

          
Sir George Gipps, then Governor of New South Wales, put a damper on these proceedings by issuing a proclamation prohibiting all future purchases of land from Natives and appointing commissioners to investigate all purchases previously made. “Sufficient payment” was fixed at varying rates: Between 1815 and 1824, 6d per acre; 1835 and 1836, 1s to 2s per acre; 1839, 4s to 8s per acre.

          
As the amount of cash in each purchase had been small, grants for only very small areas were authorised.
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All Claims Disallowed.

          
Some particulars of all claims lodged are printed in a Parliamentary paper known as D—14, which is an appendix to the “Report of the Land Claims Commissioner.” This was presented to the House of Representatives on the 8th of July, 1862.

          
Of the thousands of claims made for areas alleged to have been purchased in the North and South Islands, those in the list below are the Molyneux claims.

          
The acreage in six claims, for which areas are given, total 1,360,482 acres. For five other claims no acreages are given.

          
Claim No. 267 is obviously the one that caused Willsher and Russell to sail with Thomas Jones in the “Portenia.” Probably the vessel cleared for Cloudy Bay to throw other claimants off the scent.

          
In this table is given, first, the claim number; second, name of claimant; third, the year purchase was made; then the amount paid, if available; and, last, how the claim was dealt with:—

          
No. 72.—Brown and Campbell. 1838 to 1840. Claim disallowed.

          
No. 255.—John Jones. Claimant sold half claim to C. Wentworth and two–twelfths to Brown and Campbell. 1838. Paid £200. Claim withdrawn.

          
No. 267.—Thomas Jones. 1839. Claimed 256,000 acres. Disallowed, claimant not appearing.

          
No. 276.—A. Lamont. 1840. Claimed 1281 acres. Disallowed.

          
No. 281.—James Liddle. 1840. Claimed 1281 acres. Disallowed. No claim preferred.

          
No. 296.—A. McIntyre. 1840. Claimed 1920 acres. Disallowed. No claim preferred.

          
No. 476.—F. W. Unwin. 1838. Claim disallowed.

          


          
No. 482.—Edward Weller. 1839. Paid £82. Claimed 1,000,000 acres at Molyneux. In addition, claimed additional areas elsewhere in South Island of 881,360 acres. Disallowed. No claim preferred.

          
No. 488.—George Weller. 1839. Paid £91 13s. Claimed 100,000 acres at Molyneux. In addition, claimed additional areas of 845,360 in the South Island and 480,200 in the North Island. Disallowed, the claimant not appearing. In 1846 the claimant applied to have claim reopened, but refused. The claimant stated that he and Edward Weller had actually surveyed 63,600 acres at a cost of £800, and had sold 14,000 at 5s per acre to other persons.

          
No. 497.—W. C. Wentworth. 1839. Acreage claimed at Molyneux not stated. In addition, made 12 other claims in both islands. All these claims were disallowed, the claimant not appearing. There appears to have been a kind of partnership between Messrs. Wentworth, Jones, Leathart and others, of Sydney, in these claims.

          
No. 1350.—Edward Hunt. Paid £30. Not referred to any commissioner. No claim preferred.
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The Speculation of Thomas Jones, of Sydney.

          
In the reminiscences of J. E. Richter, published in the 
Sydney Mail (date unknown), we get some interesting details about the land, the purchase price, and Jones, the purchaser:—

          

“I was well acquainted with one purchase made in Sydney from the Chief Tewaiki of a block of 20 miles square (400 square miles) for a few whaleboats, guns, fishing tackle, flour, etc., in value about £70.

          
“This block was sold to Thomas Jones, who was then a wine and spirit merchant of Bathurst Street, Sydney, and a brother of David Jones, the founder of a large drapery business still carried on in George Street.

          
“… That particular land is now regarded as one of the finest parts in New Zealand, the River Molyneux running through the centre of it. It included the present town of Balclutha as well as the Kaitangata Coal Mines, with a seam of 30 feet in thickness. Its value now would amount to over two millions.

          
“Money was hard to obtain from financial institutions in the forties, to carry out the conditions of a speculation of this kind, when the existence of New Zealand as a British colony was still in doubt, and when it was by no means certain that the new settlers would not be driven out by the Maoris…”
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Lands Sold and Price Paid.

          
A search of the records available in the Lands Department in New Zealand discloses the nearest we can get to the facts.

          
The original deed of sale is not included in the New Zealand records, but may be in existence in Sydney. Bearing in mind that there were no typewriters in 1840; that the New Zealand copy is a hand–written copy of the original; and that in some parts the papers are torn—bearing all these things in mind, the following facts emerge:—

          
The seller was “John Toawack.” The purchaser was “Thomas Jones, of Sydney, merchant.”

          
The land was “a tract of land … adjoining by Molyneux Harbour or Bay”; and the boundaries were described as “from the commencement of Point Tuguttar in Molyneux Bay extending in a South–westerly direction as far as Port Owarker Lower, which adjoins Mr. Edward Cattlin's purchase, and land extending ten miles on each side of Mataw River which disembogues itself into Molyneux Bay and running back twenty miles into the interior, thus forming a tract of land four hundred miles square.” (Really twenty miles square, or four hundred square miles.)

          
The date was “the seventh day of January, 1840.”

          
The purchase price was “thirty pounds sterling money of Great Britain, and other goods.” It appears that these other goods were of the value of £13 9s, according to Sydney prices. This is a total of £43 9s. There is also mention of a £20 annuity to John Tohowick, but there is apparently no documentary evidence that an annuity was paid.
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The Block “Twenty Miles Square.”
          

          
If a map is taken, it is possible to identify Point Tuguttar as Point Tokata, or Nugget Point. Point Owaka Lower is obviously somewhere about the mouth of the Owaka River. The boundaries mentioned in one of Cattlin's purchases are:—

          

“A tract of land described as near Molyneux Bay in the Middle Island. The northern boundary commences at Wangapawa, a point south of Matau (Molyneux Harbour), and extending inland to the mountains. The eastern boundary is the sea coast, and extending as far as the South Head of a small harbour called Owaka, from which point a line drawn inland to the mountains from the southern boundary.”


          
So far I cannot determine the place name Wangapawa. And at first sight it is difficult to draw a map of a block twenty miles square with a baseline of the mileage from Nugget Point to the mouth of the Owaka River. If, however, we take the old mouth of the Molyneux



and mark a point ten miles north of it, and another ten miles south, we will find the two extremities as indicated in the sketch map. Ten miles from the old mouth of the Matau measured south alongthe coast arrives at a point about False Island, just to the north of the Owaka estuary.
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Sketch map of the block of land twenty miles square sold by Tuhawaiki


to Thomas Jones.


          

          


          
If inland we measure twenty miles up the Molyneux, we get to somewhere near the mouth of the Waiwera River, with a western point towards Clinton and an eastern limit about Clarksville.

          
On a map it would enclose the area shown on the sketch map, and this approximates to the description given by Richter in his reminiscences.
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Chapter VI.



George Willsher And His Companions.

        

          
The claim of Mr. Thomas Jones having been disallowed, Willsher and Russell were in a grave difficulty.

          
Included in some early official correspondence, there is a note attached to a letter to D. Wakefield, dated Otago, 13 June, 1844, in which Mr. Tuckett says:

          

“Immediately South of the Mouth of the Kunesoo (Karoro), Molineux Bay, on the seashore, three or four good houses have been erected, two of which are occupied, the one by Mr. Wilshire, the other by Mr. Russell, the former the agent of some party in Sydney, the latter as proprietor of land which he purchased of the same party in Sydney. Mr Wiltshire has cleared and partially cultivated about 10 acres of land; Russell less than half that quantity. They have no acknowledged claim.”


        

        

          

Magistrate Recommends Willsher's Claim.

          
In a letter dated “Wellington, 2 September, 1844,” John Jermyn Symonds, P.M., wrote:
          

“I beg to enclose, for the consideration of His Excellency the Governor, the accompanying documents transmitted to me by certain settlers named in the margin, the justness of whose claims the natives allowed before myself and Mr. Clarke. The first, name George Willsher, is settled at Karoro, and is anxious to obtain a title to the land (20 acres), which he has brought into cultivation…”



          
(There is no mention here of any land claimed by Russell.)

        

        

          

Grants of Land Made.

          
Although Willsher and Russell settled on their areas in 1840, and Tuckett in June, 1844, records them as having built houses, it was not till September, 1844, that Willsher's claim is recommended by Symonds.

          
Eventually Willsher's grant is dated February 10, 1854, ten years after the recommendation, while Russell's grant is dated 1867, and documents in Wellington show that by this time Russell's was a deceased's estate.

          


          
In the old files of the “Bruce Herald” appears a Death Notice: “Thomas Russell, died at Dowling Street, Dunedin, on September 10, 1866; aged 78.”

        

        

          

The Definite Areas Granted.

          
The following letter from the Commissioner of Crown Lands, Dunedin, defines the grants made:
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Sketch map showing the Native Reserve and the grants to Willsher and Russell. Russell's grant was sections 1 and 2 of VII, while Willsher's comprised the small sections at the mouth of the Karoro Creek.


          

          


          
“I have been able to trace grants of land to Messrs. George Willsher and Thomas Russell as follows:—

          
George Willsher.—A search shows that the above–named selected an area of 20 acres at Willsher Bay, the grant being dated 10th February, 1854. The area was later numbered as Section 16, Block VII, South Molyneux S.D. Some years later the section was subdivided as follows:—

          

	
              
1 of 16, area 1:1:30p.

            

	
              
2 of 16, area 3:0:33p.

            

	
              
3 of 16, area 6:3:27p.

            

	
              
4 of 16, area 3:3:30p.

            

	
              
Road, area 2:0:22p.

            


          
In 1902 Sections 1, 3 and 4 of 16 were acquired by His Majesty the King, and they now comprise the Willsher Bay Domain.

          
Thomas Russell.—The records in this office show that the above–named selected Sections 1 and 2, Block VII, South Molyneux, area 103:1:07p. The grant was dated 1867.

          
I have been unable to trace any grants to either William Bessant or Robert Conning.”

          
We know, of course, that Bessant and Conning left after a few months, and there is some grounds for believing that Bessant, the writer of the letter on page 11, was killed by natives in the South Sea Islands in 1841.

        

        

          

            
Where did Willsher and Russell Build?
          

          
Willsher built his house on the edge of the Karoro Creek, about 400 yards from the present concrete bridge. On the space between the present road and the creek, this little house stood. Fruit trees, apples, cherries and gooseberries were planted, and the old boys of the district well remember the apples that grew there; Emma Potiki, one of the daughters of Ihaia Potiki, confirms this story. This old apple tree survived until recently, but picnic parties chopped away at it. In a last effort to protect this historic apple tree, lovers of old Port Molyneux put a barb wire fence around the mutilated tree. But the vandals triumphed, and the tree is no more.

          
Russell constructed his wattle and daub house out on the terrace, between Rowley's and the Erlstoke dwelling, and on a site which is now occupied by the road to the Nuggets. This was a terrace one hundred years ago, and covered with very heavy manuka, but, owing to the sea cutting in, the distance from the site of Russell's house to the sea is to–day much less than it was.

          


        

        

          

Pen Picture of Willsher.

          
In his book, “Early Days in Otago,” Mr. William Ayson gives his personal experience of Willsher:

          

“When we arrived in Dunedin in 1853 I heard that Willsher had about 40 head of cattle. He did not return to Sydney, but lived with the Maoris at Willsher Bay. He took to himself a Maori wife, a Chieftainess named Makariri. Russell never spoke to him after that…

          
“Some time in the late 1850's Willsher cleared off to England and never returned. He did not take with him his Maori wife, who was left to mourn his loss…

          
“As I have never seen a photo of Willsher, and I do not think there is any in existence, a description of him may be of interest. He was a man of about 40 years of age as I remember him, and would be about 5 feet 10 inches in height. He had clear–cut features, and was of good appearance. His eyes were blue, and his beard was inclined to be fair, but not ginger. Willsher was a very gentlemanly, well–educated Englishman, and was a man with a ready wit.”


          

            

[image: Makariri with Ben Rakiraki.]

Makariri with Ben Rakiraki.


          

        

        

          

What Happened to Willsher.

          
Mr. Wilson, in his “Reminiscences,” said that about 1859 Willsher sold his cattle and left the colony. This is probably the source of Mr. Ayson's information, Mr. Wilson says further:

          

“In 1880 a lady well known in Otago, Mrs Joseph Maitland, was on a visit to the Old Country, and was making some purchases in a shop in London when she remarked to the shopman that the goods were for exportation to Otago. “Pardon me, madam,” said a well–dressed, gentlemanly–looking man, “I overheard you say you came from Otago; do you know the Clutha?” On being answered in the affirmative, and names being exchanged, the man turned out to be Mr. Willsher. His land was afterwards purchased by the Hon.



Thomas Mackenzie, who sold part of it to the people of Clutha as a recreation ground.”


        

        

          

Willsher's Cattle.

          
Edward Hunt stated that the cattle put on board the “Portenia” were 27 cows, 1 bull and 6 working bullocks; apparently they all died except the famous cow.

          
Here is one account of the development of the herd:

          

“Shortly after landing she gave birth to a calf. It was a bull calf, and no other cattle being imported into that locality for many years, these two formed the nucleus of what became a herd of 500 head in 1863. These were then taken by Wilshire to the newly discovered goldfields of Gabriel's Gully and the Dunstan, and sold as fat cattle at £10 a head.”


          
William Ayson has stated that he heard that Willsher had about 40 head of cattle in 1853. If anyone interested in breeding cares to take a pencil and a large sheet of paper, and starts with an adult cow and a bull calf in the year 1840, it will be found possible to have 40 head of cattle by 1853—so long as there were few deaths of breeding cows and plenty of heifer calves.

          
But Willsher could not have taken a herd of 500 to Gabriel's Gully goldfield in 1863 if he had previously left for England in 1859.

          
There is a record of Willsher selling 50 head of cattle in the year 1859 at Balclutha. This sale of Willsher's cattle in 1859 may have been his clearing sale before he left for the Old Country. It is fairly obvious that some statements made about the large number of cattle must be taken with reserve, and that after the year 1850 many other settlers brought cattle into the district.
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The claim of Mr. Thomas Jones having been disallowed, Willsher and Russell were in a grave difficulty.

          
Included in some early official correspondence, there is a note attached to a letter to D. Wakefield, dated Otago, 13 June, 1844, in which Mr. Tuckett says:

          

“Immediately South of the Mouth of the Kunesoo (Karoro), Molineux Bay, on the seashore, three or four good houses have been erected, two of which are occupied, the one by Mr. Wilshire, the other by Mr. Russell, the former the agent of some party in Sydney, the latter as proprietor of land which he purchased of the same party in Sydney. Mr Wiltshire has cleared and partially cultivated about 10 acres of land; Russell less than half that quantity. They have no acknowledged claim.”
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Magistrate Recommends Willsher's Claim.

          
In a letter dated “Wellington, 2 September, 1844,” John Jermyn Symonds, P.M., wrote:
          

“I beg to enclose, for the consideration of His Excellency the Governor, the accompanying documents transmitted to me by certain settlers named in the margin, the justness of whose claims the natives allowed before myself and Mr. Clarke. The first, name George Willsher, is settled at Karoro, and is anxious to obtain a title to the land (20 acres), which he has brought into cultivation…”



          
(There is no mention here of any land claimed by Russell.)
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Grants of Land Made.

          
Although Willsher and Russell settled on their areas in 1840, and Tuckett in June, 1844, records them as having built houses, it was not till September, 1844, that Willsher's claim is recommended by Symonds.

          
Eventually Willsher's grant is dated February 10, 1854, ten years after the recommendation, while Russell's grant is dated 1867, and documents in Wellington show that by this time Russell's was a deceased's estate.

          


          
In the old files of the “Bruce Herald” appears a Death Notice: “Thomas Russell, died at Dowling Street, Dunedin, on September 10, 1866; aged 78.”
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The Definite Areas Granted.

          
The following letter from the Commissioner of Crown Lands, Dunedin, defines the grants made:
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“I have been able to trace grants of land to Messrs. George Willsher and Thomas Russell as follows:—

          
George Willsher.—A search shows that the above–named selected an area of 20 acres at Willsher Bay, the grant being dated 10th February, 1854. The area was later numbered as Section 16, Block VII, South Molyneux S.D. Some years later the section was subdivided as follows:—

          

	
              
1 of 16, area 1:1:30p.

            

	
              
2 of 16, area 3:0:33p.

            

	
              
3 of 16, area 6:3:27p.

            

	
              
4 of 16, area 3:3:30p.

            

	
              
Road, area 2:0:22p.

            


          
In 1902 Sections 1, 3 and 4 of 16 were acquired by His Majesty the King, and they now comprise the Willsher Bay Domain.

          
Thomas Russell.—The records in this office show that the above–named selected Sections 1 and 2, Block VII, South Molyneux, area 103:1:07p. The grant was dated 1867.

          
I have been unable to trace any grants to either William Bessant or Robert Conning.”

          
We know, of course, that Bessant and Conning left after a few months, and there is some grounds for believing that Bessant, the writer of the letter on page 11, was killed by natives in the South Sea Islands in 1841.
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Where did Willsher and Russell Build?
          

          
Willsher built his house on the edge of the Karoro Creek, about 400 yards from the present concrete bridge. On the space between the present road and the creek, this little house stood. Fruit trees, apples, cherries and gooseberries were planted, and the old boys of the district well remember the apples that grew there; Emma Potiki, one of the daughters of Ihaia Potiki, confirms this story. This old apple tree survived until recently, but picnic parties chopped away at it. In a last effort to protect this historic apple tree, lovers of old Port Molyneux put a barb wire fence around the mutilated tree. But the vandals triumphed, and the tree is no more.

          
Russell constructed his wattle and daub house out on the terrace, between Rowley's and the Erlstoke dwelling, and on a site which is now occupied by the road to the Nuggets. This was a terrace one hundred years ago, and covered with very heavy manuka, but, owing to the sea cutting in, the distance from the site of Russell's house to the sea is to–day much less than it was.

          


        








Victoria University of Wellington Library




Port Molyneux : the story of Maori and pakeha in South Otago : a centennial history : commemorating the landing of George Willsher and his companions at Willsher Bay, June 28, 1840 : with a programme for the unveiling of the centennial cairn, erected by the Clutha County Council, June 28, 1940

Pen Picture of Willsher



          

Pen Picture of Willsher.

          
In his book, “Early Days in Otago,” Mr. William Ayson gives his personal experience of Willsher:

          

“When we arrived in Dunedin in 1853 I heard that Willsher had about 40 head of cattle. He did not return to Sydney, but lived with the Maoris at Willsher Bay. He took to himself a Maori wife, a Chieftainess named Makariri. Russell never spoke to him after that…

          
“Some time in the late 1850's Willsher cleared off to England and never returned. He did not take with him his Maori wife, who was left to mourn his loss…

          
“As I have never seen a photo of Willsher, and I do not think there is any in existence, a description of him may be of interest. He was a man of about 40 years of age as I remember him, and would be about 5 feet 10 inches in height. He had clear–cut features, and was of good appearance. His eyes were blue, and his beard was inclined to be fair, but not ginger. Willsher was a very gentlemanly, well–educated Englishman, and was a man with a ready wit.”


          

            

[image: Makariri with Ben Rakiraki.]

Makariri with Ben Rakiraki.
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What Happened to Willsher.

          
Mr. Wilson, in his “Reminiscences,” said that about 1859 Willsher sold his cattle and left the colony. This is probably the source of Mr. Ayson's information, Mr. Wilson says further:

          

“In 1880 a lady well known in Otago, Mrs Joseph Maitland, was on a visit to the Old Country, and was making some purchases in a shop in London when she remarked to the shopman that the goods were for exportation to Otago. “Pardon me, madam,” said a well–dressed, gentlemanly–looking man, “I overheard you say you came from Otago; do you know the Clutha?” On being answered in the affirmative, and names being exchanged, the man turned out to be Mr. Willsher. His land was afterwards purchased by the Hon.



Thomas Mackenzie, who sold part of it to the people of Clutha as a recreation ground.”
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Willsher's Cattle.

          
Edward Hunt stated that the cattle put on board the “Portenia” were 27 cows, 1 bull and 6 working bullocks; apparently they all died except the famous cow.

          
Here is one account of the development of the herd:

          

“Shortly after landing she gave birth to a calf. It was a bull calf, and no other cattle being imported into that locality for many years, these two formed the nucleus of what became a herd of 500 head in 1863. These were then taken by Wilshire to the newly discovered goldfields of Gabriel's Gully and the Dunstan, and sold as fat cattle at £10 a head.”


          
William Ayson has stated that he heard that Willsher had about 40 head of cattle in 1853. If anyone interested in breeding cares to take a pencil and a large sheet of paper, and starts with an adult cow and a bull calf in the year 1840, it will be found possible to have 40 head of cattle by 1853—so long as there were few deaths of breeding cows and plenty of heifer calves.

          
But Willsher could not have taken a herd of 500 to Gabriel's Gully goldfield in 1863 if he had previously left for England in 1859.

          
There is a record of Willsher selling 50 head of cattle in the year 1859 at Balclutha. This sale of Willsher's cattle in 1859 may have been his clearing sale before he left for the Old Country. It is fairly obvious that some statements made about the large number of cattle must be taken with reserve, and that after the year 1850 many other settlers brought cattle into the district.
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Chapter VII.



The Treaty Of Waitangi, 1840.

        

          
As reports had reached England that the Natives were likely to suffer at the hands of unscrupulous white traders and dealers in land, Captain Hobson, R.N., was sent to negotiate a Treaty under which the rights of the Natives were to be protected. Hobson was instructed that he was to deal with the Maoris in a spirit of “mildness, justice, and perfect sincerity.”

          
The copy of the Treaty signed at Waitangi on the 16th of February, 1840, is only one of many copies.

          


          
In order to get the principal chiefs all over New Zealand to sign in a reasonable time, copies were taken by responsible men to different districts. For instance, the Rev. H. Maunsell got most of the Waikato signatures; the Rev. W. Williams was responsible for the Poverty Bay district; the Rev. Henry Williams worked all around Cook Strait, Kapiti, and Wanganui, and intended to proceed to “Cloudy Bay, Banks Peninsula and Otako,” when he heard that H.M.S. “Herald” had left the Bay of Islands for the South Island.

          
The “Herald” (Captain Nias) carried Major Bunbury, H.M.'s 8oth Regiment, as the officer detailed to get signatures. British Sovereignty was proclaimed at Stewart Island on June 17th, 1840, but they found no chiefs, and consequently got no signatures. The vessel then proceeded to Ruapuke.

          
In Major Bunbury's report on his mission he says: “On Tuesday, the 9th June, the wind having shifted to a more favourable quarter, we were enabled to leave the Harbour and sail for Robuka or Long Island in Foveaux Strait, where we expected to meet a tribe with a chief named Bloody Jack, an epithet of which he is now ashamed and disowns, having resumed his Native name of Tooiaki.

          

“On nearing the Land a boat came off with some Europeans and Natives, who we found had been expecting our arrival for some time. A Mr. Hesketh, connected with the House of Jones, of Sydney, kindly undertook to bring off the Chief in his boat the same evening, leaving an English Seaman, formerly in the employ of Captain Stuart, to Pilot us to an anchorage.

          
“The native village being at some distance from our anchorage ground Mr. Hesketh did not return until late in the evening. The Chief Tooiaki came on board in the full dress Staff Uniform or of a British Aid–de–Camp, with Gold Lace trousers, Cocked–hat and plume in which he looked extremely well, and his behaviour at Captain Nias' table where he took tea shewed that the examples he had seen had not been lost upon him; he was also accompanied by a Native Orderly Sergeant dressed in a corresponding costume. The Chief spoke a little English and appeared to be aware of the Nature of the Treaty, but which I thought it necessary to have read and explained to him in the presence of Mr. Hesketh, and he signed it without hesitation. He said he had at his village twenty men dressed and in training as British Soldiers, and was very anxious that Captain Nias should permit them to come on Board the following morning and see the Marines go through the Manual and Pelotoon Exercise which he kindly acceded to.

          


          
“On the Chief taking leave I told him I should return his visit on the morrow, which I accordingly did accompanied by Lieut. Hewett, Rl. Marines, Captain Stuart (to whom the Chief was known), Mr. Williams and an Officer from the Ship in charge of the boat.

          
“After being carried through the surf by some natives, we were received by the Chief in the same scarlet uniform he had worn the day before, and by the Sergeant, who then accompanied him at the head of six soldiers dressed in British uniforms without hats or shoes. The Chief took us to his cottage, a weather board hut, and offered us rum, of which he appeared to have a good supply, but Mr. Hesketh, to their credit, states that although they are not absolutely temperence men they seldom get drunk.

          
“I was afterwards introduced to his son, a fine boy of about seven years of age, of whom he appears justly proud. The child was dressed in a very becoming manner, and has six toes on each of his feet, which his father appears to exhibit with much satisfaction. Rauparaha, who is a great warrior and the Mortal Enemy of this Tribe, is similarly gifted with this unusual addition to his feet.

          
“Knowing that Captain Nias was anxious to proceed on his voyage, we were obliged to shorten our visit. The Chief and his son came off with us, and the Sergeant and six of his Soldiers with two other Chiefs came off in two whale boats, a third following with Natives bringing potatoes, etc., to the ship. The Soldiers of the Chief and Natives having arranged themselves on deck, the Marines went through the Manual and Pelotoon Exercise as had been promised, and afterwards at my request Captain Nias permitted a few sailors to go through the Sword Exercise, which, as I had anticipated, pleased and interested them much, particularly the “Attack and Defence,” the Chief frequently calling to his followers to pay attention and see how it was performed.

          
“Whilst the ship was getting under weigh they took their departure, two other Chiefs having also been permitted to sign at the request of Tooiaki.

          
“This influencial Chief is one of those individuals who (similarly with Rauparaha in Cook's Strait) have had sufficient address to gain the ascendancy over the Chiefs of the neighbouring Tribes, without any claim from circumstance of birth.”


        

        

          

            
Signatures At Ruapuke.
          

          
The three signatures obtained at Ruapuke are signed as John Touwaick, Kaikoura, and Taiaroa. Going on to Otago Heads, John



Karetai and Korako also signed. These five are the only Southern names on any copies of the Treaty of Waitangi.

          

            

[image: Treaty of Waitangi signatures from southern chiefs]
          

          
The “Herald” then proceeded northwards, got a few signatures at Akaroa and at Cloudy Bay, then sailed across the Straits to the Island of Kapiti, where the Southerners' old–time enemies, Te Rauparaha and Rangihaeata, signed on the same sheet as Tuhawaiki, Taiaroa and Karetai. So the Ngatitoa signed the same document as their late foes, the Kaitahu people.

        

      








Victoria University of Wellington Library




Port Molyneux : the story of Maori and pakeha in South Otago : a centennial history : commemorating the landing of George Willsher and his companions at Willsher Bay, June 28, 1840 : with a programme for the unveiling of the centennial cairn, erected by the Clutha County Council, June 28, 1940

[introduction]



          
As reports had reached England that the Natives were likely to suffer at the hands of unscrupulous white traders and dealers in land, Captain Hobson, R.N., was sent to negotiate a Treaty under which the rights of the Natives were to be protected. Hobson was instructed that he was to deal with the Maoris in a spirit of “mildness, justice, and perfect sincerity.”

          
The copy of the Treaty signed at Waitangi on the 16th of February, 1840, is only one of many copies.

          


          
In order to get the principal chiefs all over New Zealand to sign in a reasonable time, copies were taken by responsible men to different districts. For instance, the Rev. H. Maunsell got most of the Waikato signatures; the Rev. W. Williams was responsible for the Poverty Bay district; the Rev. Henry Williams worked all around Cook Strait, Kapiti, and Wanganui, and intended to proceed to “Cloudy Bay, Banks Peninsula and Otako,” when he heard that H.M.S. “Herald” had left the Bay of Islands for the South Island.

          
The “Herald” (Captain Nias) carried Major Bunbury, H.M.'s 8oth Regiment, as the officer detailed to get signatures. British Sovereignty was proclaimed at Stewart Island on June 17th, 1840, but they found no chiefs, and consequently got no signatures. The vessel then proceeded to Ruapuke.

          
In Major Bunbury's report on his mission he says: “On Tuesday, the 9th June, the wind having shifted to a more favourable quarter, we were enabled to leave the Harbour and sail for Robuka or Long Island in Foveaux Strait, where we expected to meet a tribe with a chief named Bloody Jack, an epithet of which he is now ashamed and disowns, having resumed his Native name of Tooiaki.

          

“On nearing the Land a boat came off with some Europeans and Natives, who we found had been expecting our arrival for some time. A Mr. Hesketh, connected with the House of Jones, of Sydney, kindly undertook to bring off the Chief in his boat the same evening, leaving an English Seaman, formerly in the employ of Captain Stuart, to Pilot us to an anchorage.

          
“The native village being at some distance from our anchorage ground Mr. Hesketh did not return until late in the evening. The Chief Tooiaki came on board in the full dress Staff Uniform or of a British Aid–de–Camp, with Gold Lace trousers, Cocked–hat and plume in which he looked extremely well, and his behaviour at Captain Nias' table where he took tea shewed that the examples he had seen had not been lost upon him; he was also accompanied by a Native Orderly Sergeant dressed in a corresponding costume. The Chief spoke a little English and appeared to be aware of the Nature of the Treaty, but which I thought it necessary to have read and explained to him in the presence of Mr. Hesketh, and he signed it without hesitation. He said he had at his village twenty men dressed and in training as British Soldiers, and was very anxious that Captain Nias should permit them to come on Board the following morning and see the Marines go through the Manual and Pelotoon Exercise which he kindly acceded to.

          


          
“On the Chief taking leave I told him I should return his visit on the morrow, which I accordingly did accompanied by Lieut. Hewett, Rl. Marines, Captain Stuart (to whom the Chief was known), Mr. Williams and an Officer from the Ship in charge of the boat.

          
“After being carried through the surf by some natives, we were received by the Chief in the same scarlet uniform he had worn the day before, and by the Sergeant, who then accompanied him at the head of six soldiers dressed in British uniforms without hats or shoes. The Chief took us to his cottage, a weather board hut, and offered us rum, of which he appeared to have a good supply, but Mr. Hesketh, to their credit, states that although they are not absolutely temperence men they seldom get drunk.

          
“I was afterwards introduced to his son, a fine boy of about seven years of age, of whom he appears justly proud. The child was dressed in a very becoming manner, and has six toes on each of his feet, which his father appears to exhibit with much satisfaction. Rauparaha, who is a great warrior and the Mortal Enemy of this Tribe, is similarly gifted with this unusual addition to his feet.

          
“Knowing that Captain Nias was anxious to proceed on his voyage, we were obliged to shorten our visit. The Chief and his son came off with us, and the Sergeant and six of his Soldiers with two other Chiefs came off in two whale boats, a third following with Natives bringing potatoes, etc., to the ship. The Soldiers of the Chief and Natives having arranged themselves on deck, the Marines went through the Manual and Pelotoon Exercise as had been promised, and afterwards at my request Captain Nias permitted a few sailors to go through the Sword Exercise, which, as I had anticipated, pleased and interested them much, particularly the “Attack and Defence,” the Chief frequently calling to his followers to pay attention and see how it was performed.

          
“Whilst the ship was getting under weigh they took their departure, two other Chiefs having also been permitted to sign at the request of Tooiaki.

          
“This influencial Chief is one of those individuals who (similarly with Rauparaha in Cook's Strait) have had sufficient address to gain the ascendancy over the Chiefs of the neighbouring Tribes, without any claim from circumstance of birth.”
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Signatures At Ruapuke.
          

          
The three signatures obtained at Ruapuke are signed as John Touwaick, Kaikoura, and Taiaroa. Going on to Otago Heads, John



Karetai and Korako also signed. These five are the only Southern names on any copies of the Treaty of Waitangi.
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The “Herald” then proceeded northwards, got a few signatures at Akaroa and at Cloudy Bay, then sailed across the Straits to the Island of Kapiti, where the Southerners' old–time enemies, Te Rauparaha and Rangihaeata, signed on the same sheet as Tuhawaiki, Taiaroa and Karetai. So the Ngatitoa signed the same document as their late foes, the Kaitahu people.
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Chapter VIII.



Who Were The South Otago Maoris?

        

          
There is no evidence that there were any people in New Zealand before the Maoris. Certainly there were people here long before the historic migration in which the Arawa, Tainui, Takitimu, and other canoes took part. But those earlier people were likewise Polynesians. Some Melanesians would also be driven here, and the mixture of these two peoples, but in which the Polynesians were dominant, formed the Maori people who were here before the principal migrations. It is these older immigrants who are referred to as “the people of the land.” Sometimes they are loosely referred to as the Moriori. But even the Moriori of the Chatham Islands is a Polynesian of the Maori type.

          
Early Maori history is very confused. But from researches carried out amongst old Maoris it is possible to set down the main outlines.

          


          
As some historians take 20 years for a generation—Stack, for instance—and others take 25, dates in Maori history vary considerably. The late Mr. Percy Smith, using the 25 year generation, correlated New Zealand, Rarotongan and Tahitian traditions, and arrived at the following approximate dates:—

          
925 
A.D.—Kupe sailed from Rarotonga for New Zealand.

          
975 
A.D.—Early waves of migration to New Zealand.

          
1150 
A.D.—Time of Toi.

          
1175 
A.D.—Moriori migration from New Zealand to Chathams.

          
1250 to 1325 
A.D.—Voyages of the second Kupe, Ngahue, and others.

          
1350 
A.D.—New Zealand settled by the “Fleet.”

        

        

          

            
Tribal Accounts Differ Greatly.
          

          
To give an indication of the uncertainties of writing precise Maori history a quotation from Elsdon Best's “The Land of Tara” will serve:—

          

“The peopling of the South Island is not clearly explained in tradition, for accounts given by different tribes do not agree. T. E. Green of Ngai Tahu, has stated a tribe named Hawea occupied that island prior to the arrival of Waitaha, but the Takitumu tribes of the East Coast of the North Island maintain that the Waitaha and Rapuwai clans, who came from Eastern Polynesia in the vessel Tikitimu were the first people to settle there. Te Rapuwai was an offshot clan from the Waitaha. The former folk were known at Te Tine o Te Rapuwai, but the collective name of all these people in their former home had been Ngati Kohuwai. The Mamoe aborigines are supposed to have settled in the South Island after the advent of the above peoples, and the Ngai Tahu followed in still later times.”


        

        

          

            
Rakaihaitu: The Great Digger Of Lakes.
          

          
To some people the “Uruao” canoe is a mythical one, and Rakaihaitu is a mythical hero. In the Journal of the Polynesian Society, volume 27, page 142, Mr. Beattie sets down an old tradition:—

          

“The Uruao canoe brought here the people called Waitaha, Te Kahui–tipua, and Te Kahui–roko, who were the same kind of people as Toi and Rauru…

          
“It brought here the people of Matiti, and landed on that (North) Island, which was full of people, so they came on to this island, which had no man on it…

          
“Rakaihaitu and his men started to go through the middle of the island, and he took his spade Tu–Whakaroria to dig the inland lakes and the lakes near the sea. The names of those lakes are Takapo, Pukaki, Ohou, Hawea, Wanaka, Whakatipu–wai–Maori



(Lake Wakatipu), and Whakatipu–wai–tai (Lake McKerrow). He went on to Te Anau and down the Waiau River till he came to the end of the island, where he left people… He then returned by Te Roto–nui–o–whatu (now called Lake Tuakitoto …) Maranuku (district of Port Molyneux), Waihora (Lake Waihola), Kaikarae (now called Kaikorai), Wainono (Lake Studholme), Okahu (lagoon at Otaia), Te Aitarakihi (near Waitara–kao), Waihora (Lake Ellesmere), and Wairewa (Lake Forsyth).”


          
In South Island tradition this first canoe “Uruao” brought the earliest, people; the “Takitimu” brought the next wave.

        

        

          

            
South Island Traditional History.
          

          
Some Maori authorities may consider that this next section errs on the side of too great a simplification of the Maori occupation of Otago and Southland, but it is an attempt at simplification.

          
Apart from the shadowy Kahui–tipua folk, of whom legends are many, old South Island Maoris agree that the colonisation in the South has been (1) Te Rapuwai, (2) Waitaha, (3) Kati Mamoe, (4) Kai Tahu.

          
It will be observed that the southern form of spelling is used. The “ng” of northern or classical Maori turns into a “k.” So we have Waitaki in place of Waitangi, and Kai Tahu and Kati Mamoe instead of Ngai Tahu and Ngati Mamoe.

        

        

          

            
Te Rapuwai.
          

          
Of these ancient people there is very little known. The old Maoris say that the reason why no one knows of their origin is because no natives claim descent from them. They were finally absorbed into the Waitaha people, but they left many place names to record their presence. Round about the Kaitangata lakes was a favourite haunt, and almost certainly there were settlements at the mouth of the Matau.

        

        

          

            
The Waitaha People.
          

          
The South Otago name Waiwera—often translated “wai,” water, and “wera,” hot—is a place name preserved from Waitaha times. In North Auckland there is a place called Waiwera, and there are hot springs in the neighbourhood. There are no hot springs in South Otago, and the water in the Waiwera River could never be described as even warm.

          
Place names in Otago were set down by early travellers and surveyors. Mostly these people came from the north, and did not appreciate the fact that there was a southern dialect. As early place names were set down without any inquiry as to their traditional



meaning, it is not possible to–day to take a list of place names in one hand and a Maori dictionary in the other and so compile a satisfactory account of what place names mean.

          
From the traditions of the Waitaha people we get the real reason for the naming of Waiwera.

        

        

          

            
Were There Two Different Waitaha Tribes?
          

          
North Island traditions give the story of the Waitaha people who came in the Takitimu canoe. But some southern family trees go farther back than the Takitimu story of 1350. The explanation probably is that there were two Waitaha tribes, as suggested by Mr. Herries Beattie:—

          

	
              
(1) Those who came about 850 
A.D. in the “Uruao” canoe.

            

	
              
(2) Those who came in the “Takitimu” canoe about 1350 
A.D..

            


          
Mr. Beattie suggests that it is likely that the people who came in 1350 and called themselves Waitaha found themselves among another tribe called Waitaha, who arrived centuries earlier.

          
It is safe to say that when the Takitimu party arrived the land was already inhabited. Whoever the earlier people were, they became amalgamated with the Takitimu people, and were known as Waitaha.

          
Bearing in mind, then, that there was an earlier wave of Waitaha people, we go on to consider the coming of the Takitimu.

          
The canoe Takitimu arrived from Tahiti in 1350, and made a landfall in the Bay of Plenty. She sailed down the coasts of both islands, leaving people at several points. The farthest south party was left somewhere near the Waiau River, in Southland.

          
The captain of the Takitimu was Tamatea. When we say, “Oh, that happened in the dim and distant past!” meaning a long time ago, the Maori says, “That happened in the time of Tamatea.” So anything very old is indicated—for instance, the great fires that swept the countryside after the coming of the Maori are referred to as “the fire of Tamatea.”

          
Two extracts from their traditions as set down by Mr. Herries Beattie are as follows:—

          

“The Waitaha, living in peace, increased in numbers and spread over the land. A great resort of theirs was Lake Te Anau… They also had pas at Mataipipi and Otupatu, near the mouth of the Molyneux River.”


          
The second extract is interesting:—

          

“A large number of place names in Otago and Southland are named after Waitaha men and women… A tributary of the Matau (Molyneux) is called Waiwhero, and is usually translated



‘red water’ because of its supposed colour, but it is really named after a Waitaha chief.”


          
In the Maori dictionary “whero” is given as red or reddish brown. But the chief Waiwhero is a historical person. He died on the banks of the river, and the river, whatever it was called before that, from the time of the chief's death was known as Waiwhero. And it is interesting that through the Kati Mamoe and Kati Tahu invasions the Waitaha place name survives.

        

        

          

            
The Coming Of The Kati Mamoe.
          

          
This was a North Island tribe, some say “half Polynesian and half Melanesian,” who were descended from the old people of the land in Hawke's Bay. They were driven south, and settled near Wellington. They crossed to the South Island, and Judge Mackay in his “Native Affairs—South Island,” says:—

          

“These people Waitaha did not continue long in undisturbed possession of the hills and plains of Te Wai Pounamu, as another tribe arrived to dispute their rights to the rich fishing and hunting grounds.”


          
These newcomers were the Kati Mamoe. It is not possible to assign dates, for although there are references to the “Waitaha swarming like ants,” Mackay says they were not left “long in undisturbed possession.” Canon Stack, who had opportunities of working on some family history tables, estimates the arrival of the Kati Mamoe as about 1577.

        

        

          

            
The Kai Tahu People.
          

          
When the early whalers and missionaries arrived in New Zealand, the dominant tribe in the South Island was the Kai Tahu. This tribe was a sub–tribe from Gisborne way, who crossed over from the North Island somewhere about 1650–75.

          
Another party went down and lived on the West Coast about Arahura and Greymouth. Later, a further party settled at O–Takou (Otago Heads), and further strife ensued between the Kati Mamoe and the newcomers.

          
Just as the Waitaha and Kati Mamoe fought and then intermarried, so did the Kati Mamoe and the Kai Tahu. When the Otago block was bought for settlement, chiefs descended from both Kai Tahu and Kati Mamoe signed, as we see in the case of Tuhawaiki.

          
When the early whalers started to work the southern coasts, the dominant tribe was the Kai Tahu. It used to be assumed that the Kati Mamoe were practically wiped out and that their sole remnants were the isolated fugitives in the West Coast sounds, but a surprisingly large proportion of southern Natives show Kati Mamoe ancestry and to–day are proud of it.

          


          
A note here about the hill near Clinton known as Popotunoa will serve to illustrate this phase and will also put on record its proper spelling. It is recorded that “after the Kai Tahu had pressed the Kati Mamoe back from Canterbury into Southland, and peace made, a post was erected at Poupou–tu–noa to mark the tribal boundary. The Kai Tahu were supposed to have no territorial rights beyond that.”

        

        

          

            
Early Fighting At Matau.
          

          
In an attempt to disentangle the confusing traditions of Kati Mamoe–Kai Tahu fighting in Otago and Southland, Mr. Beattie worked out some approximate dates. From that list I have extracted the Matau fighting:—

          
1650.—Kai Tahu first invasion of South Island.

          
1680.—Campaign against Clutha Natives.

          
1750.—Fight at Iwikatea (Balclutha). Kati Mamoe won.

          
1765.—Fight near Kaitangata Lake. Kai Tahu won.

          
1775.—Massacre at Kauwae Whakatoro or Hillend. Kai Tahu won.

          
1800.—Fighting at Port Molyneux. Kai Tahu won. “The fighting started at Murikauhaka, the old village at the mouth of the Molyneux, and then the scene shifted to the Whawhapo (the creek at the northern end of the Karoro Reserve).”

          
After this time, the introduction of firearms and boats altered the complexion of warfare. The new order of things made Otakou and Ruapuke the fighting headquarters.

          
We see in the family history of Tuhawaiki an illustration of the attempt to patch up a peace between Kati Mamoe and Kai Tahu.

        

        

          

            
The Hapu At Matau.
          

          
Within each tribe were sub–tribes or hapus. The hapu most frequently mentioned in latter days as residing at Matau was called Huirapa, which has been described as “a mixture of Kai Tahu and Kati Mamoe with some Waitaha blood.” This hapu called Huirapa also had representatives living at most places in Southland and Otago, even as far north as Waikouaiti.
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[introduction]



          
There is no evidence that there were any people in New Zealand before the Maoris. Certainly there were people here long before the historic migration in which the Arawa, Tainui, Takitimu, and other canoes took part. But those earlier people were likewise Polynesians. Some Melanesians would also be driven here, and the mixture of these two peoples, but in which the Polynesians were dominant, formed the Maori people who were here before the principal migrations. It is these older immigrants who are referred to as “the people of the land.” Sometimes they are loosely referred to as the Moriori. But even the Moriori of the Chatham Islands is a Polynesian of the Maori type.

          
Early Maori history is very confused. But from researches carried out amongst old Maoris it is possible to set down the main outlines.

          


          
As some historians take 20 years for a generation—Stack, for instance—and others take 25, dates in Maori history vary considerably. The late Mr. Percy Smith, using the 25 year generation, correlated New Zealand, Rarotongan and Tahitian traditions, and arrived at the following approximate dates:—

          
925 
A.D.—Kupe sailed from Rarotonga for New Zealand.

          
975 
A.D.—Early waves of migration to New Zealand.

          
1150 
A.D.—Time of Toi.

          
1175 
A.D.—Moriori migration from New Zealand to Chathams.

          
1250 to 1325 
A.D.—Voyages of the second Kupe, Ngahue, and others.

          
1350 
A.D.—New Zealand settled by the “Fleet.”
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Tribal Accounts Differ Greatly.
          

          
To give an indication of the uncertainties of writing precise Maori history a quotation from Elsdon Best's “The Land of Tara” will serve:—

          

“The peopling of the South Island is not clearly explained in tradition, for accounts given by different tribes do not agree. T. E. Green of Ngai Tahu, has stated a tribe named Hawea occupied that island prior to the arrival of Waitaha, but the Takitumu tribes of the East Coast of the North Island maintain that the Waitaha and Rapuwai clans, who came from Eastern Polynesia in the vessel Tikitimu were the first people to settle there. Te Rapuwai was an offshot clan from the Waitaha. The former folk were known at Te Tine o Te Rapuwai, but the collective name of all these people in their former home had been Ngati Kohuwai. The Mamoe aborigines are supposed to have settled in the South Island after the advent of the above peoples, and the Ngai Tahu followed in still later times.”
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Rakaihaitu: The Great Digger Of Lakes.
          

          
To some people the “Uruao” canoe is a mythical one, and Rakaihaitu is a mythical hero. In the Journal of the Polynesian Society, volume 27, page 142, Mr. Beattie sets down an old tradition:—

          

“The Uruao canoe brought here the people called Waitaha, Te Kahui–tipua, and Te Kahui–roko, who were the same kind of people as Toi and Rauru…

          
“It brought here the people of Matiti, and landed on that (North) Island, which was full of people, so they came on to this island, which had no man on it…

          
“Rakaihaitu and his men started to go through the middle of the island, and he took his spade Tu–Whakaroria to dig the inland lakes and the lakes near the sea. The names of those lakes are Takapo, Pukaki, Ohou, Hawea, Wanaka, Whakatipu–wai–Maori



(Lake Wakatipu), and Whakatipu–wai–tai (Lake McKerrow). He went on to Te Anau and down the Waiau River till he came to the end of the island, where he left people… He then returned by Te Roto–nui–o–whatu (now called Lake Tuakitoto …) Maranuku (district of Port Molyneux), Waihora (Lake Waihola), Kaikarae (now called Kaikorai), Wainono (Lake Studholme), Okahu (lagoon at Otaia), Te Aitarakihi (near Waitara–kao), Waihora (Lake Ellesmere), and Wairewa (Lake Forsyth).”


          
In South Island tradition this first canoe “Uruao” brought the earliest, people; the “Takitimu” brought the next wave.

        








Victoria University of Wellington Library




Port Molyneux : the story of Maori and pakeha in South Otago : a centennial history : commemorating the landing of George Willsher and his companions at Willsher Bay, June 28, 1840 : with a programme for the unveiling of the centennial cairn, erected by the Clutha County Council, June 28, 1940

South Island Traditional History



          

            
South Island Traditional History.
          

          
Some Maori authorities may consider that this next section errs on the side of too great a simplification of the Maori occupation of Otago and Southland, but it is an attempt at simplification.

          
Apart from the shadowy Kahui–tipua folk, of whom legends are many, old South Island Maoris agree that the colonisation in the South has been (1) Te Rapuwai, (2) Waitaha, (3) Kati Mamoe, (4) Kai Tahu.

          
It will be observed that the southern form of spelling is used. The “ng” of northern or classical Maori turns into a “k.” So we have Waitaki in place of Waitangi, and Kai Tahu and Kati Mamoe instead of Ngai Tahu and Ngati Mamoe.
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Te Rapuwai.
          

          
Of these ancient people there is very little known. The old Maoris say that the reason why no one knows of their origin is because no natives claim descent from them. They were finally absorbed into the Waitaha people, but they left many place names to record their presence. Round about the Kaitangata lakes was a favourite haunt, and almost certainly there were settlements at the mouth of the Matau.
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The Waitaha People.
          

          
The South Otago name Waiwera—often translated “wai,” water, and “wera,” hot—is a place name preserved from Waitaha times. In North Auckland there is a place called Waiwera, and there are hot springs in the neighbourhood. There are no hot springs in South Otago, and the water in the Waiwera River could never be described as even warm.

          
Place names in Otago were set down by early travellers and surveyors. Mostly these people came from the north, and did not appreciate the fact that there was a southern dialect. As early place names were set down without any inquiry as to their traditional



meaning, it is not possible to–day to take a list of place names in one hand and a Maori dictionary in the other and so compile a satisfactory account of what place names mean.

          
From the traditions of the Waitaha people we get the real reason for the naming of Waiwera.
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Were There Two Different Waitaha Tribes?
          

          
North Island traditions give the story of the Waitaha people who came in the Takitimu canoe. But some southern family trees go farther back than the Takitimu story of 1350. The explanation probably is that there were two Waitaha tribes, as suggested by Mr. Herries Beattie:—

          

	
              
(1) Those who came about 850 
A.D. in the “Uruao” canoe.

            

	
              
(2) Those who came in the “Takitimu” canoe about 1350 
A.D..

            


          
Mr. Beattie suggests that it is likely that the people who came in 1350 and called themselves Waitaha found themselves among another tribe called Waitaha, who arrived centuries earlier.

          
It is safe to say that when the Takitimu party arrived the land was already inhabited. Whoever the earlier people were, they became amalgamated with the Takitimu people, and were known as Waitaha.

          
Bearing in mind, then, that there was an earlier wave of Waitaha people, we go on to consider the coming of the Takitimu.

          
The canoe Takitimu arrived from Tahiti in 1350, and made a landfall in the Bay of Plenty. She sailed down the coasts of both islands, leaving people at several points. The farthest south party was left somewhere near the Waiau River, in Southland.

          
The captain of the Takitimu was Tamatea. When we say, “Oh, that happened in the dim and distant past!” meaning a long time ago, the Maori says, “That happened in the time of Tamatea.” So anything very old is indicated—for instance, the great fires that swept the countryside after the coming of the Maori are referred to as “the fire of Tamatea.”

          
Two extracts from their traditions as set down by Mr. Herries Beattie are as follows:—

          

“The Waitaha, living in peace, increased in numbers and spread over the land. A great resort of theirs was Lake Te Anau… They also had pas at Mataipipi and Otupatu, near the mouth of the Molyneux River.”


          
The second extract is interesting:—

          

“A large number of place names in Otago and Southland are named after Waitaha men and women… A tributary of the Matau (Molyneux) is called Waiwhero, and is usually translated



‘red water’ because of its supposed colour, but it is really named after a Waitaha chief.”


          
In the Maori dictionary “whero” is given as red or reddish brown. But the chief Waiwhero is a historical person. He died on the banks of the river, and the river, whatever it was called before that, from the time of the chief's death was known as Waiwhero. And it is interesting that through the Kati Mamoe and Kati Tahu invasions the Waitaha place name survives.
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The Coming Of The Kati Mamoe.
          

          
This was a North Island tribe, some say “half Polynesian and half Melanesian,” who were descended from the old people of the land in Hawke's Bay. They were driven south, and settled near Wellington. They crossed to the South Island, and Judge Mackay in his “Native Affairs—South Island,” says:—

          

“These people Waitaha did not continue long in undisturbed possession of the hills and plains of Te Wai Pounamu, as another tribe arrived to dispute their rights to the rich fishing and hunting grounds.”


          
These newcomers were the Kati Mamoe. It is not possible to assign dates, for although there are references to the “Waitaha swarming like ants,” Mackay says they were not left “long in undisturbed possession.” Canon Stack, who had opportunities of working on some family history tables, estimates the arrival of the Kati Mamoe as about 1577.
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The Kai Tahu People.
          

          
When the early whalers and missionaries arrived in New Zealand, the dominant tribe in the South Island was the Kai Tahu. This tribe was a sub–tribe from Gisborne way, who crossed over from the North Island somewhere about 1650–75.

          
Another party went down and lived on the West Coast about Arahura and Greymouth. Later, a further party settled at O–Takou (Otago Heads), and further strife ensued between the Kati Mamoe and the newcomers.

          
Just as the Waitaha and Kati Mamoe fought and then intermarried, so did the Kati Mamoe and the Kai Tahu. When the Otago block was bought for settlement, chiefs descended from both Kai Tahu and Kati Mamoe signed, as we see in the case of Tuhawaiki.

          
When the early whalers started to work the southern coasts, the dominant tribe was the Kai Tahu. It used to be assumed that the Kati Mamoe were practically wiped out and that their sole remnants were the isolated fugitives in the West Coast sounds, but a surprisingly large proportion of southern Natives show Kati Mamoe ancestry and to–day are proud of it.

          


          
A note here about the hill near Clinton known as Popotunoa will serve to illustrate this phase and will also put on record its proper spelling. It is recorded that “after the Kai Tahu had pressed the Kati Mamoe back from Canterbury into Southland, and peace made, a post was erected at Poupou–tu–noa to mark the tribal boundary. The Kai Tahu were supposed to have no territorial rights beyond that.”
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Early Fighting At Matau.
          

          
In an attempt to disentangle the confusing traditions of Kati Mamoe–Kai Tahu fighting in Otago and Southland, Mr. Beattie worked out some approximate dates. From that list I have extracted the Matau fighting:—

          
1650.—Kai Tahu first invasion of South Island.

          
1680.—Campaign against Clutha Natives.

          
1750.—Fight at Iwikatea (Balclutha). Kati Mamoe won.

          
1765.—Fight near Kaitangata Lake. Kai Tahu won.

          
1775.—Massacre at Kauwae Whakatoro or Hillend. Kai Tahu won.

          
1800.—Fighting at Port Molyneux. Kai Tahu won. “The fighting started at Murikauhaka, the old village at the mouth of the Molyneux, and then the scene shifted to the Whawhapo (the creek at the northern end of the Karoro Reserve).”

          
After this time, the introduction of firearms and boats altered the complexion of warfare. The new order of things made Otakou and Ruapuke the fighting headquarters.

          
We see in the family history of Tuhawaiki an illustration of the attempt to patch up a peace between Kati Mamoe and Kai Tahu.
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The Hapu At Matau.
          

          
Within each tribe were sub–tribes or hapus. The hapu most frequently mentioned in latter days as residing at Matau was called Huirapa, which has been described as “a mixture of Kai Tahu and Kati Mamoe with some Waitaha blood.” This hapu called Huirapa also had representatives living at most places in Southland and Otago, even as far north as Waikouaiti.
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Chapter IX.



An Old Port Molyneux Boy: Tuhawaiki.

        

          
The most famous old Port Molyneux boy was Tuhawaiki, sometimes referred to as John Tuhawaiki, and more commonly known as “Bloody Jack.”

          
It has been said that Tuhawaiki was born at Tauhinu, which is the old name of a swamp or district on Inchclutha; but all the old
          


          Maoris that I have talked with say, “Tuhawaiki was born at Port Molyneux.”

          
This much is certain: His father and mother lived at Port Molyneux in the old village known at Murikauhaka, at the mouth of the Matau River, opposite the old sandspit, in the vicinity of the present school.

          
Tuhawaiki's family history as given to me from a most reliable southern source was as follows:—

          

“A prominent chief of Kai Tahu, chief of Kaikoura, is often referred to as Te Hau. This was Hau–tapu–nui–o–tu, who drove Kati Mamoe south, finally defeating a Kati Mamoe party in the Waiau district near Te Anau. He married Taumate, and they had three children—a daughter, Whaka Rawa, and two sons, Hone Kai and Puka Rehu.

          
“Living at Matau was a Kati Mamoe chief, Te Rangi Ihia. He proceeded to Kaiapoi and married Hine Hakiri (a sister of Te Hau).

          
“Kohi Wai, sister of Rangi Ihia, was taken to Kaiapoi to marry Hone Kai, the son of Te Hau. Thus Kai Tahu and Kati Mamoe intermarried and made peace.

          

            

[image: Tattoo signature on Wentworth Deed.]
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“This marriage of Hone Kai and Kohi Wai produced a daughter, Kura, and a son, Whakataupuka.

          
“Kura, the daughter of Hone Kai, ran away from Ruapuke to Molyneux and married Te Kai Haere, of the Kati Huirapa hapu and they begat Tuhawaiki. So the young Tuhawaiki represented the best blood of Kai Tahu and Kati Mamoe.

          
“Whakataupuka was the uncle of Tuhawaiki. Whakatapuka died about August, 1834, and Tuhawaiki assumed the full tribal authority previously enjoyed by the uncle.”


        

        

          

            
Difficulty Of Fixing Ages.
          

          
Reckoning 25 years as a generation, this would give us Te Hau, 1750; Hone Kai, 1775; and Tuhawaiki, born 1800.

          
These dates can never be more than approximate. Before 1800 no Maori knew of dates, and no old Maori could give an exact idea of his age.

          
A few illustrations will suffice:—

          
In 1892 Hoani Wetere Korako, in giving evidence before a Parliamentary Committee, when asked, “How old are you? “replied, “I was grown up.”

          
At the same inquiry Tare Wetere Te Kahu answered the question, “How old were you at the time of the negotiation for the land purchases?” by replying, “I do not know, but I at the time had two children.”

          
The writer once asked an old Maori about his birthday, “What day was it?” and got the reply, “It was 6 o'clock in the morning!”

        

        

          

            
The Site Of Tuhawaiki's House.
          

          
To continue:—

          

“Tuhawaiki had two sons. One son, Poko, died; the other, Kihau, married Kuru Kuru.

          
“Kihau was drowned sailing from Stewart Island to Ruapuke in 1852.

          
“The widow, Kuru Kuru, married again and became the mother of Topi Patuki, the elder.

          
“After the death of Tuhawaiki, the son Kihau and Topi Patuki left Ruapuke and searched the village of Murikauhaka for the ancestral greenstone ornaments. They could not find them until King's mother said, ‘Look under the doorstep,’ which they did, and found the ornaments and weapons, which they took back to the southern village, where they were carried around out of respect for the dead and mourned over.


          


          
One of the big houses noted by Morrell in 1830 might have been the chief's house.

          
In later years, when Rauparaha was threatening the southern Maoris, the southerners made their strongholds at Otakou (Otago Heads) and on Ruapuke Island. On the island Tuhawaiki made his home.

        

        

          

            
Family Tree Of Tuhawaiki.
          

          
To check the foregoing, here is Tuhawaiki's own Whakapapa (family tree) as dictated by him to Shortland in 1844:—

          

            

[image: Whakapapa of Tuhawaiki]
          

        

        
        



          

            
Tuhawaiki's Descendant A New Zealand Soldier.
          

          
We have seen that Tuhawaiki had two sons and that Poko died.

          
Kihau married Matarina Kurukuru, and they had two children—Fred (Alfred Kihau) and Rena (Ellen Kihau).

          
Alfred married Hana Parata, Tame Parata's daughter. Ellen married William Cooper.

          
In minutes of evidence given in 1891 it was said that John Tuhawaiki left issue: “Four great–grandchildren, the children of Fred Kihau and Rena Kihau. Rena left issue one daughter, Anna Maraea Cooper; and Fred left three children—Teone (John), Peti (Bessie), and Keita (Kate).”

          
Of Tuhawaiki's descendants a great–great–granddaughter, Nina Kihau Russell, is now living at Ruapuke.

          
The marriage between Ellen Kihau and William Cooper resulted in one daughter, who married Abner Russell. A son of this union, Abner Russell, is now serving overseas with the 2nd N.Z.E.F. Abner Russell will be a great–great–grandson of John Tuhawaiki.

        

        

          

            
The Celebrated Uncle.
          

          
Whaka Tau Puka, being the son of Hone Kai and Kohi Wai, was the brother of Kura, who was Tuhawaiki', mother. Whaka Tau Puka consequently was the uncle of Tuhawaiki.

          
This was the old chief who has been variously described as “Old Wig” by the whalers, who “was very ugly,” but who was a great chief, and who was further distinguished by having six toes on each foot. We can imagine the rapture of Tuhawaiki when his son, Kihau, was born with the same distinguished adornments as the famous uncle!

        

        

          

            
The Pioneer Land Salesman.
          

          
Whaka Tau Puka was the first land salesman in the south. One sale recorded by McNab was of land “from the northward of Dusky to the south head of Preservation Inlet for 60 muskets.”

          
Peter Williams said that he bought the land in 1829, but the deed was signed and dated the “ninth day of November in the year of our Lord One Thousand Eight Hundred and Thirty–two.”

          
In the great uncertainty of specific dates, it is in one place stated that “Taboca, Rangetera,” died of measles in 1833.

          
McNab gave some consideration to the date, and writes:—

          

“It will be remembered that Te Whaka Tau Puka sold a portion of his land to Peter Williams in 1832 and that Taylor gave 1833 as the date of the old chief's death from measles. There is reason to believe that Taylor is wrong in the date given, because as late as



September, 1834, Te Whaka Tau Puka took part in the raid on the Otago Station, and left to raid the gangs on Port Bunn, when he was carried off by measles which raged among the southern Maoris during 1835. As a result Tuhawaiki became the foremost Maori in the southern portion of the island.” (Port Bunn was the Preservation Whaling Station.)


          
After the old chief's death, Williams applied to Tuhawaiki for confirmation of the 1832 sale, and Tuhawaiki, under date 31st day of December, 1835, testifies that “I, Toawick, are now become Rangetera or Chief of these Southern territories,” and he affixed his moko (the tattoo marks on his face) to the deed.

          
McNab notes that this sale at Preservation Inlet was “probably the first conveyance of land in the South Island.”

          
Te Rauparaha was at this time waging war on the Kai Tahu tribe. The fights at Kaiapoi and other places are well known. Muskets, whaleboats, rum, and money became indispensable to the southern chiefs. So Tuhawaiki sold more and more land. He even went to Sydney on more than one occasion, and got right in amongst the land speculators. Always he wanted money with which to buy muskets and ammunition.

        

        

          

            
Northern Estimate Of His Character.
          

          
In the Kai Tahu fights against the North Island Ngatitoa, led by Rauparaha, the leading spirit was Tuhawaiki. Here is a Kaiapoi view. Canon Stack, in his “Maori History of Banks Peninsula,” gives an estimate of the paramount chiefs of Kai Tahu:—

          

“The Ngai Tahu chiefs who exercised the greatest influence over the fortunes of their people in modern times were Te Mai–hara–nui, Taiaroa, and Tuhawaiki … all three took a prominent part in the later history of the Peninsula. Te Mai–hara–nui was the highest in rank, while his cousin Tuhawaiki came next. But though slightly superior by birth, both were inferior in mental qualities to Taiaroa, a noble man, whose conduct stands out in pleasing contrast to those of the two cousins. For while they will be remembered only for their cruel and evil deeds, he will always be esteemed for his brave and generous actions in war and his wise and kindly counsels in peace.”


          
Taiaroa was a Kai Tahu chief who originally came from Taumutu (Lake Ellesmere), but who had taken up residence at Otakou. He was closely related to northern people, and had the habit of accompanying southern war parties who were having private wars with their kinsmen up north. On more than one occasion he went ahead and gave the northerners private warnings. How kindly and generous he was is vividly portrayed by Shortland in his account of Taiaroa's strangling of Kohi!

          


        

        

          

            
A Great Map Maker.
          

          
Here is Shortland's estimate of Tuhawaiki:—

          

“Tuhawaiki, who has obtained the inappropriate sobriquet of ‘Bloody Jack’ from the whalers, was a chief of a very intelligent and pleasing address. He spoke a little English, of which, and of his English dress, he was evidently proud. His influence over the natives present was decided, and appeared to be very beneficially exerted for all parties… Sometimes Tuhawaiki's account of goods received did not correspond with Mr. Jones' written lists of property paid; the latter, however, was always ready to admit the error to be most probably his own. Indeed this native had so good a character for integrity that he frequently … obtained on credit slops, flour, and rum in large quantities, which he retailed both to his own countrymen and to the whalers.”

          
Colonel Godfrey gives evidence that he “was much struck with the straightforward and willing evidence given by this chief in all the cases examined, and with the skill displayed by him in illustrating his description of boundaries by tracing with a pencil the line of coast and the position of islands, rivers, etc.”


          
Many of Shortland's sketch maps of southern coasts and harbours were drawn from particulars given by Tuhawaiki.

        

        

          

            
A Modern Valuation.
          

          
W. F. Alexander and H. D. Skinner, in describing the ravages of Te Rauparaha, say:—

          

“The principal war chiefs with whom the invader must reckon were Taiaroa and Tuhawaiki… The other high chief of Kai Tahu was Tuhawaiki… He impressed all the European observers who met him as a leader with great attributes, and Hay states that the lives of the early settlers in Canterbury were saved by his intervention. It would appear that by his early death in 1844 Kai Tahu lost a chief who would have more than filled Taiaroa's place.”


        

        

          

            
Watkin, The Missionary.
          

          
The Rev. Wm. Watkin had excellent opportunities of studying Tuhawaiki, and he writes in his journal:—

          

“October 19, 1840.—The principal chief of this island, who is libelled by the name given him by the whalers, ‘Bloody Jack,’ is now on a visit to this place, accompanied by as many of his people as four large boats can carry. His native name is Tuhovaiki. He appears to be very superior to most of his countrymen. He has a strong taste for, if not a passion for, European improvements, has a bodyguard of soldiers, clad in soldiers’ jackets which he was able to procure when he was in Sydney. The sergeant is a New Zealander who has



travelled a good deal and spent many years in the Sandwich Islands, where he was one of a regiment of native soldiers. Tuhovaiki has a splendid captain's uniform, and when he appears in it might not be ashamed of standing alongside the first military dandy, or he him. He has got quite a military air.”

          
“October 15, 1842.—On the 11th at Otakou I found a considerable number of southern Natives there with their chief, Tuhovaiki. I held three services and had long conversation with natives, chiefs, and people. They want a missionary resident amongst them.”

          
“October 12, 1843.—Tuhovaiki is anxious for a missionary. Tomorrow I leave for Port Nicholson.”


          
It was because of Tuhawaiki's insistence that the Rev. Wm. Wohlers went to Ruapuke in 1844. But the missionary landed on the island in May, 1844, an Tuhawaiki was drowned some months later at Timaru. It maybe that Wohlers and Tuhawaiki never met on Ruapuke.

        

        

          

            
As King He Sells The South Island.
          

          
As a sample of Tuhawaiki's salesmanship, and the skill of the Sydney lawyers in drafting a comprehensive description of property, the Wentworth claim supplies a good example.

          
On the 15th day of February, 1840, an indenture was signed showing that “John Towack King and Chief of Tavai Poenammoo or Kaikaldu being the Middle of the Group of Islands called New Zealand and also of the Southern Island of the same Group called Stewarts Island Jackey White, Kaikoraira, Tuckawa, Tyroa and Bogener Chiefs of Otago in the said Island of Tavai Poenammoo Tohowack, Patuckie or Tobie Chiefs of the Island of Tobuchi” sold the South Island and Stewart Island to Wentworth and John Jones, both of Sydney.

          
The lands are described as “the aforesaid Island of Tavai Poenammoo or Kaikaldu also called the Middle Island of New Zealand also the Island called Stewarts Island and all and singular the Islands Islets Rocks and Reefs thereto adjacent or appertaining situate between the degrees of Forty and Forty nine degrees South Latitude and One hundred and sixty five and One hundred and seventy six degrees of East Longitude Together with all seas harbours coasts bays Inlets rivers Lakes, Waters Mines Minerals Fisheries Woods Forests Liberties Franchises profits emoluments advantages hereditaments rights members and appurtenances whatsoever to the same belonging or in anywise appertaining 
and the reversions and remainders yearly and other rents issues and profits thereof 
and all the estate right title interest use trust possession inheritance claim or demand whatsoever both at law or in equity of them.”

          


          
The purchase money was partly by straightout cash payments and by annuities in addition. Tuhawaiki signed for “one hundred pounds of lawful British money and an annuity of fifty pounds a year during the term of his natural life,” while the others got lesser amounts, each receiving twenty pounds in cash and ten pounds a year for life.

          
From other sources we learn that Tuhawaiki was accompanied by Jackey White (Karetai) and three subordinate chiefs. As this deed was “Signed sealed and delivered by the said John Towack, Jackey White, Kaikoraira, Tuckawa, Bogener, and Tohowack,” the first five names would most likely be the visitors to Sydney.

          
The signatures of Taiaroa and Topi Patuki were witnessed separately, which indicates that they may have signed at a different time.

        

        

          

            
A Confused Study Of Signatures.
          

          
A study of these signatures gives rise to some doubts. From other sources we know that Tuhawaiki (Towack) and Karetai (Jackey White) and three other subordinate chiefs left the Bluff on January 10 and arrived in Sydney on the 27th, visiting Governor Gipps in Sydney on January 31, 1840.

          
The three minor chiefs would be Kaikoarare (Kaikoraira), Taikawa (Tuckawa), and Pokène (Bogener).

          
This raises the question as to whether or not Tuhawaiki signed twice—once as “Towack” for the mainland and a second time as “Tohowack” for Ruapuke. As “Tohowack'” name comes before that of Topi Patuki (Patuckie or Tobie), this is most likely.

          
A close examination of the moko signatures of Towack and Tohowack only gave me a headache.

        

        

          

            
Taiaroa Visits Sydney.
          

          
We have reason to believe that Taiaroa was in Sydney at the same time as Tuhawaiki, because Taiaroa said in a last statement: “To all my Tribe, to my Hapu, and to my son,” and dated 17th February, 1862:—

          
It was I and some other chiefs that went to Port Jackson (Sydney) and arranged a covenant there, in which we placed the whole of the island of New Zealand under the Sovereignty of the Queen, and the covenant was drawn up there, and the Governor of that colony gave a token of honour, also the Queen's flag to me, and to Tuhawaiki… We agreed to these arrangements of the Governor of New South Wales, and that covenant was established. After that was the Treaty of Waitangi, and I and my tribe agreed a second time…”

          
Other records say that the party of five chiefs headed by Tuhawaiki refused to sign anything for Governor Gipps in Sydney because he



would not ratify the sales of land they had already made to Wentworth, George Jones, and others.

          
Whatever they refused to sign in Sydney in January, it is a matter of history that both Tuhawaiki and Taiaroa signed the Treaty of Waitangi in New Zealand a few months later.

        

        

          

            
A Great Soldier And Traveller.
          

          
Tuhawaiki was a very active leader. In 1835 he succeeded his famous uncle. In 1836 we find him prominent in the party that clashed with the northerners at Tuturau.

          
A party of Ngatitoa, under a lieutenant of Rauparaha named Puoho, had come down the West Coast over the Haast Pass and surprised some southern natives at Lake Hawea and Wanaka. They then crossed the Kawarau at the Natural Bridge and went up the Nevis and down the Nokomai, and so by way of the Waimea Plains to Tuturau, where they camped.

          
An armed party left Ruapuke, led by the following chiefs:—Tuhawaiki, Haere–roa, Takatakino, Mahere, Tawhiri, Topi Patuki, Taiaroa, Hape, and Whaitiri.

          
This was in the year 1836. The invading chief, Puoho, was shot and the remainder of the party taken prisoner to Ruapuke.

          
This was the last intertribal fight in the South Island that caused bloodshed. Here is one southern account:—

          

“There was no battle, however, at Tuturau. To–hawaiki stalked Te Puoho and shot him as he sat in the Taketake (verandah) of his hut. As it was a long shot, the northerners marvelled at Tuhawaiki's skill, and the expression “konohi kai nukere”—“the seal–killer's eye”—has become proverbial. Tuhawaiki and the others were for continuing the fight, but Taiaroa (who was always a peace–maker) cried out, “He pai, he pai”—“Enough”—and persuaded them to offer terms, and the northerners surrendered.”


          
But Topi Patuki also makes a claim. Dealing with the date of the Puoho raid, Judge Chapman wrote:—

          

“I asked those about me when the story was told me at Waikouaiti what year that was, and a voice from the crowd answered in excellent English, ‘It was 1836.’ ‘How do you know?’ ‘Because I am the man who shot Te Puoho.’ This answer came from Topi Patuki, who assured me that he shot Te Puoho with his own gun. Others said it was the year of the plague (measles)…”


        

        

          

            
The Plague Of Measles.
          

          
In the North Island we find that the first plague occurred somewhere about 1795. The second one, called by the Taranaki people Te Ariki, occurred about the end of 1820. This was introduced from



the ship “Coromandel,” which visited the Hauraki Gulf in August, 1820. It swept from Auckland to Taranaki, taking village after village in its course. So severe was it that often there were not enough left alive to bury the dead. The tohungas made a representation of a ship in the sand, with masts and rigging, and made their incantations over these naval altars, but even that did not stop the spreading of the plague.

          
But what record have we of these plagues in the south? There seems to have been both influenza and measles.

          
In the “Reminiscences of the Settlement of South Otago” we read that Measly Beach, over the hills from Kaitangata, was named because a war party of Maoris pulled their canoes ashore in 1838 and all died of measles. In McNab's “Old Whaling Days” we find on page 236 that in March, 1838, great preparations were being made for war, and that fighting men were being gathered together in great numbers to take the field. Of these movements we have already had mention made at Cloudy Bay and Piraki. Disease had again broken out and was playing sad havoc among the Maoris. That to some extent confirms the references to the deaths of this war party at Measly Beach in 1838.

          
But if Te Puoho was killed in 1836, we have to look for an epidemic in that year. And on page 175 of “Old Whaling Days” we find a passage that reads:—

          

“The crew of the “Sydney Packets” had been badly affected by influenza before reaching New Zealand, and the natives had threatened to kill the steward for introducing this new disease among them. It had for some time been prevalent at Sydney. So disastrous had the malady proved among the New Zealanders that it was said to have arrested the warlike preparations made in connection with an invasion of the southern natives by Te Rauparaha. Great numbers of those affected by the ailment were said to be lying about half dead…”

 
The date of this epidemic was evidently November, 1836.

          
In a letter of Mr. Beattie to me he says, “The potatoes (at Tuturau) were just about ready to eat, and the raiders ate them.” This certainly sounds like new potatoes for Christmas, and does not clash with the month of December, 1836.

        

        

          

            
Leads War Parties Against Rauparaha.
          

          
In 1838 Tuhawaiki and Karetai led the expedition named Orau Moa Iti of 270 men from Otakou up to Queen Charlotte Sound, where Rauparaha suffered a severe defeat.

          
In December, 1839, the second expedition, called Orau Moa Nui, under Taiaroa, proceeded northwards, 400 warriors, part sailing in 29 canoes, the remainder proceeding overland.

          


          
In January and February of 1839 Tuhawaiki is in Sydney putting his signature to sales of land. On June 9th, 1840, he signed the Treaty of Waitangi at Ruapuke.

        

        

          

            
The Accident At Timaru.
          

          
In his “Jubilee History of South Canterbury” Johannes Christian Andersen gives some details of Tuhawaiki's death:-

          

“The name of Tuhawaiki is perpetuated in Bloody Jack's Point, south of Timaru… He was drowned at the point which bears his name… At a date soon after the signing of the deed by which the Maoris conveyed Otakou to the New Zealand Company—say, about the middle of 1844. He was coming north in a whaleboat by night, and a boy on board wanting a drink of water, he steered for the shore at a place called Mutu–mutu, where there was a spring of fresh water… He had slightly misjudged his position in the dark, and found when close inshore that he was almost on the reef. Having the steer oar, he swung the boat clear, but was himself knocked overboard. The boat reached the shore, but Tuhawaiki was drowned, and in the words of the Maori narrator, ‘his body was not found for weeks and days, and was then half eaten by fish.’ He was a well tattooed young man, at the time only about thirty years of age…”


          
This makes Tuhawaiki a “young man” at his death; other records say he was “a middle–aged chief.” To a young man of twenty, perhaps thirty years of age may seem middle–aged; to one of sixty, a man of fifty years may appear middle–aged. It is most likely that Tuhawaiki was about forty years of age when he died. It is impossible to fix the date of his birth. It is difficult to fix the date of his death.
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[introduction]



          
The most famous old Port Molyneux boy was Tuhawaiki, sometimes referred to as John Tuhawaiki, and more commonly known as “Bloody Jack.”

          
It has been said that Tuhawaiki was born at Tauhinu, which is the old name of a swamp or district on Inchclutha; but all the old
          


          Maoris that I have talked with say, “Tuhawaiki was born at Port Molyneux.”

          
This much is certain: His father and mother lived at Port Molyneux in the old village known at Murikauhaka, at the mouth of the Matau River, opposite the old sandspit, in the vicinity of the present school.

          
Tuhawaiki's family history as given to me from a most reliable southern source was as follows:—

          

“A prominent chief of Kai Tahu, chief of Kaikoura, is often referred to as Te Hau. This was Hau–tapu–nui–o–tu, who drove Kati Mamoe south, finally defeating a Kati Mamoe party in the Waiau district near Te Anau. He married Taumate, and they had three children—a daughter, Whaka Rawa, and two sons, Hone Kai and Puka Rehu.

          
“Living at Matau was a Kati Mamoe chief, Te Rangi Ihia. He proceeded to Kaiapoi and married Hine Hakiri (a sister of Te Hau).

          
“Kohi Wai, sister of Rangi Ihia, was taken to Kaiapoi to marry Hone Kai, the son of Te Hau. Thus Kai Tahu and Kati Mamoe intermarried and made peace.

          

            

[image: Tattoo signature on Wentworth Deed.]
Tattoo signature on Wentworth Deed.


          

          


          
“This marriage of Hone Kai and Kohi Wai produced a daughter, Kura, and a son, Whakataupuka.

          
“Kura, the daughter of Hone Kai, ran away from Ruapuke to Molyneux and married Te Kai Haere, of the Kati Huirapa hapu and they begat Tuhawaiki. So the young Tuhawaiki represented the best blood of Kai Tahu and Kati Mamoe.

          
“Whakataupuka was the uncle of Tuhawaiki. Whakatapuka died about August, 1834, and Tuhawaiki assumed the full tribal authority previously enjoyed by the uncle.”
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Difficulty Of Fixing Ages



          

            
Difficulty Of Fixing Ages.
          

          
Reckoning 25 years as a generation, this would give us Te Hau, 1750; Hone Kai, 1775; and Tuhawaiki, born 1800.

          
These dates can never be more than approximate. Before 1800 no Maori knew of dates, and no old Maori could give an exact idea of his age.

          
A few illustrations will suffice:—

          
In 1892 Hoani Wetere Korako, in giving evidence before a Parliamentary Committee, when asked, “How old are you? “replied, “I was grown up.”

          
At the same inquiry Tare Wetere Te Kahu answered the question, “How old were you at the time of the negotiation for the land purchases?” by replying, “I do not know, but I at the time had two children.”

          
The writer once asked an old Maori about his birthday, “What day was it?” and got the reply, “It was 6 o'clock in the morning!”
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The Site Of Tuhawaiki's House



          

            
The Site Of Tuhawaiki's House.
          

          
To continue:—

          

“Tuhawaiki had two sons. One son, Poko, died; the other, Kihau, married Kuru Kuru.

          
“Kihau was drowned sailing from Stewart Island to Ruapuke in 1852.

          
“The widow, Kuru Kuru, married again and became the mother of Topi Patuki, the elder.

          
“After the death of Tuhawaiki, the son Kihau and Topi Patuki left Ruapuke and searched the village of Murikauhaka for the ancestral greenstone ornaments. They could not find them until King's mother said, ‘Look under the doorstep,’ which they did, and found the ornaments and weapons, which they took back to the southern village, where they were carried around out of respect for the dead and mourned over.


          


          
One of the big houses noted by Morrell in 1830 might have been the chief's house.

          
In later years, when Rauparaha was threatening the southern Maoris, the southerners made their strongholds at Otakou (Otago Heads) and on Ruapuke Island. On the island Tuhawaiki made his home.
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Family Tree Of Tuhawaiki.
          

          
To check the foregoing, here is Tuhawaiki's own Whakapapa (family tree) as dictated by him to Shortland in 1844:—

          

            

[image: Whakapapa of Tuhawaiki]
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Tuhawaiki's Descendant A New Zealand Soldier.
          

          
We have seen that Tuhawaiki had two sons and that Poko died.

          
Kihau married Matarina Kurukuru, and they had two children—Fred (Alfred Kihau) and Rena (Ellen Kihau).

          
Alfred married Hana Parata, Tame Parata's daughter. Ellen married William Cooper.

          
In minutes of evidence given in 1891 it was said that John Tuhawaiki left issue: “Four great–grandchildren, the children of Fred Kihau and Rena Kihau. Rena left issue one daughter, Anna Maraea Cooper; and Fred left three children—Teone (John), Peti (Bessie), and Keita (Kate).”

          
Of Tuhawaiki's descendants a great–great–granddaughter, Nina Kihau Russell, is now living at Ruapuke.

          
The marriage between Ellen Kihau and William Cooper resulted in one daughter, who married Abner Russell. A son of this union, Abner Russell, is now serving overseas with the 2nd N.Z.E.F. Abner Russell will be a great–great–grandson of John Tuhawaiki.
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The Celebrated Uncle



          

            
The Celebrated Uncle.
          

          
Whaka Tau Puka, being the son of Hone Kai and Kohi Wai, was the brother of Kura, who was Tuhawaiki', mother. Whaka Tau Puka consequently was the uncle of Tuhawaiki.

          
This was the old chief who has been variously described as “Old Wig” by the whalers, who “was very ugly,” but who was a great chief, and who was further distinguished by having six toes on each foot. We can imagine the rapture of Tuhawaiki when his son, Kihau, was born with the same distinguished adornments as the famous uncle!
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The Pioneer Land Salesman.
          

          
Whaka Tau Puka was the first land salesman in the south. One sale recorded by McNab was of land “from the northward of Dusky to the south head of Preservation Inlet for 60 muskets.”

          
Peter Williams said that he bought the land in 1829, but the deed was signed and dated the “ninth day of November in the year of our Lord One Thousand Eight Hundred and Thirty–two.”

          
In the great uncertainty of specific dates, it is in one place stated that “Taboca, Rangetera,” died of measles in 1833.

          
McNab gave some consideration to the date, and writes:—

          

“It will be remembered that Te Whaka Tau Puka sold a portion of his land to Peter Williams in 1832 and that Taylor gave 1833 as the date of the old chief's death from measles. There is reason to believe that Taylor is wrong in the date given, because as late as



September, 1834, Te Whaka Tau Puka took part in the raid on the Otago Station, and left to raid the gangs on Port Bunn, when he was carried off by measles which raged among the southern Maoris during 1835. As a result Tuhawaiki became the foremost Maori in the southern portion of the island.” (Port Bunn was the Preservation Whaling Station.)


          
After the old chief's death, Williams applied to Tuhawaiki for confirmation of the 1832 sale, and Tuhawaiki, under date 31st day of December, 1835, testifies that “I, Toawick, are now become Rangetera or Chief of these Southern territories,” and he affixed his moko (the tattoo marks on his face) to the deed.

          
McNab notes that this sale at Preservation Inlet was “probably the first conveyance of land in the South Island.”

          
Te Rauparaha was at this time waging war on the Kai Tahu tribe. The fights at Kaiapoi and other places are well known. Muskets, whaleboats, rum, and money became indispensable to the southern chiefs. So Tuhawaiki sold more and more land. He even went to Sydney on more than one occasion, and got right in amongst the land speculators. Always he wanted money with which to buy muskets and ammunition.
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Northern Estimate Of His Character.
          

          
In the Kai Tahu fights against the North Island Ngatitoa, led by Rauparaha, the leading spirit was Tuhawaiki. Here is a Kaiapoi view. Canon Stack, in his “Maori History of Banks Peninsula,” gives an estimate of the paramount chiefs of Kai Tahu:—

          

“The Ngai Tahu chiefs who exercised the greatest influence over the fortunes of their people in modern times were Te Mai–hara–nui, Taiaroa, and Tuhawaiki … all three took a prominent part in the later history of the Peninsula. Te Mai–hara–nui was the highest in rank, while his cousin Tuhawaiki came next. But though slightly superior by birth, both were inferior in mental qualities to Taiaroa, a noble man, whose conduct stands out in pleasing contrast to those of the two cousins. For while they will be remembered only for their cruel and evil deeds, he will always be esteemed for his brave and generous actions in war and his wise and kindly counsels in peace.”


          
Taiaroa was a Kai Tahu chief who originally came from Taumutu (Lake Ellesmere), but who had taken up residence at Otakou. He was closely related to northern people, and had the habit of accompanying southern war parties who were having private wars with their kinsmen up north. On more than one occasion he went ahead and gave the northerners private warnings. How kindly and generous he was is vividly portrayed by Shortland in his account of Taiaroa's strangling of Kohi!
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A Great Map Maker.
          

          
Here is Shortland's estimate of Tuhawaiki:—

          

“Tuhawaiki, who has obtained the inappropriate sobriquet of ‘Bloody Jack’ from the whalers, was a chief of a very intelligent and pleasing address. He spoke a little English, of which, and of his English dress, he was evidently proud. His influence over the natives present was decided, and appeared to be very beneficially exerted for all parties… Sometimes Tuhawaiki's account of goods received did not correspond with Mr. Jones' written lists of property paid; the latter, however, was always ready to admit the error to be most probably his own. Indeed this native had so good a character for integrity that he frequently … obtained on credit slops, flour, and rum in large quantities, which he retailed both to his own countrymen and to the whalers.”

          
Colonel Godfrey gives evidence that he “was much struck with the straightforward and willing evidence given by this chief in all the cases examined, and with the skill displayed by him in illustrating his description of boundaries by tracing with a pencil the line of coast and the position of islands, rivers, etc.”


          
Many of Shortland's sketch maps of southern coasts and harbours were drawn from particulars given by Tuhawaiki.
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A Modern Valuation.
          

          
W. F. Alexander and H. D. Skinner, in describing the ravages of Te Rauparaha, say:—

          

“The principal war chiefs with whom the invader must reckon were Taiaroa and Tuhawaiki… The other high chief of Kai Tahu was Tuhawaiki… He impressed all the European observers who met him as a leader with great attributes, and Hay states that the lives of the early settlers in Canterbury were saved by his intervention. It would appear that by his early death in 1844 Kai Tahu lost a chief who would have more than filled Taiaroa's place.”
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Watkin, The Missionary.
          

          
The Rev. Wm. Watkin had excellent opportunities of studying Tuhawaiki, and he writes in his journal:—

          

“October 19, 1840.—The principal chief of this island, who is libelled by the name given him by the whalers, ‘Bloody Jack,’ is now on a visit to this place, accompanied by as many of his people as four large boats can carry. His native name is Tuhovaiki. He appears to be very superior to most of his countrymen. He has a strong taste for, if not a passion for, European improvements, has a bodyguard of soldiers, clad in soldiers’ jackets which he was able to procure when he was in Sydney. The sergeant is a New Zealander who has



travelled a good deal and spent many years in the Sandwich Islands, where he was one of a regiment of native soldiers. Tuhovaiki has a splendid captain's uniform, and when he appears in it might not be ashamed of standing alongside the first military dandy, or he him. He has got quite a military air.”

          
“October 15, 1842.—On the 11th at Otakou I found a considerable number of southern Natives there with their chief, Tuhovaiki. I held three services and had long conversation with natives, chiefs, and people. They want a missionary resident amongst them.”

          
“October 12, 1843.—Tuhovaiki is anxious for a missionary. Tomorrow I leave for Port Nicholson.”


          
It was because of Tuhawaiki's insistence that the Rev. Wm. Wohlers went to Ruapuke in 1844. But the missionary landed on the island in May, 1844, an Tuhawaiki was drowned some months later at Timaru. It maybe that Wohlers and Tuhawaiki never met on Ruapuke.
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As King He Sells The South Island



          

            
As King He Sells The South Island.
          

          
As a sample of Tuhawaiki's salesmanship, and the skill of the Sydney lawyers in drafting a comprehensive description of property, the Wentworth claim supplies a good example.

          
On the 15th day of February, 1840, an indenture was signed showing that “John Towack King and Chief of Tavai Poenammoo or Kaikaldu being the Middle of the Group of Islands called New Zealand and also of the Southern Island of the same Group called Stewarts Island Jackey White, Kaikoraira, Tuckawa, Tyroa and Bogener Chiefs of Otago in the said Island of Tavai Poenammoo Tohowack, Patuckie or Tobie Chiefs of the Island of Tobuchi” sold the South Island and Stewart Island to Wentworth and John Jones, both of Sydney.

          
The lands are described as “the aforesaid Island of Tavai Poenammoo or Kaikaldu also called the Middle Island of New Zealand also the Island called Stewarts Island and all and singular the Islands Islets Rocks and Reefs thereto adjacent or appertaining situate between the degrees of Forty and Forty nine degrees South Latitude and One hundred and sixty five and One hundred and seventy six degrees of East Longitude Together with all seas harbours coasts bays Inlets rivers Lakes, Waters Mines Minerals Fisheries Woods Forests Liberties Franchises profits emoluments advantages hereditaments rights members and appurtenances whatsoever to the same belonging or in anywise appertaining 
and the reversions and remainders yearly and other rents issues and profits thereof 
and all the estate right title interest use trust possession inheritance claim or demand whatsoever both at law or in equity of them.”

          


          
The purchase money was partly by straightout cash payments and by annuities in addition. Tuhawaiki signed for “one hundred pounds of lawful British money and an annuity of fifty pounds a year during the term of his natural life,” while the others got lesser amounts, each receiving twenty pounds in cash and ten pounds a year for life.

          
From other sources we learn that Tuhawaiki was accompanied by Jackey White (Karetai) and three subordinate chiefs. As this deed was “Signed sealed and delivered by the said John Towack, Jackey White, Kaikoraira, Tuckawa, Bogener, and Tohowack,” the first five names would most likely be the visitors to Sydney.

          
The signatures of Taiaroa and Topi Patuki were witnessed separately, which indicates that they may have signed at a different time.
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A Confused Study Of Signatures.
          

          
A study of these signatures gives rise to some doubts. From other sources we know that Tuhawaiki (Towack) and Karetai (Jackey White) and three other subordinate chiefs left the Bluff on January 10 and arrived in Sydney on the 27th, visiting Governor Gipps in Sydney on January 31, 1840.

          
The three minor chiefs would be Kaikoarare (Kaikoraira), Taikawa (Tuckawa), and Pokène (Bogener).

          
This raises the question as to whether or not Tuhawaiki signed twice—once as “Towack” for the mainland and a second time as “Tohowack” for Ruapuke. As “Tohowack'” name comes before that of Topi Patuki (Patuckie or Tobie), this is most likely.

          
A close examination of the moko signatures of Towack and Tohowack only gave me a headache.
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Taiaroa Visits Sydney.
          

          
We have reason to believe that Taiaroa was in Sydney at the same time as Tuhawaiki, because Taiaroa said in a last statement: “To all my Tribe, to my Hapu, and to my son,” and dated 17th February, 1862:—

          
It was I and some other chiefs that went to Port Jackson (Sydney) and arranged a covenant there, in which we placed the whole of the island of New Zealand under the Sovereignty of the Queen, and the covenant was drawn up there, and the Governor of that colony gave a token of honour, also the Queen's flag to me, and to Tuhawaiki… We agreed to these arrangements of the Governor of New South Wales, and that covenant was established. After that was the Treaty of Waitangi, and I and my tribe agreed a second time…”

          
Other records say that the party of five chiefs headed by Tuhawaiki refused to sign anything for Governor Gipps in Sydney because he



would not ratify the sales of land they had already made to Wentworth, George Jones, and others.

          
Whatever they refused to sign in Sydney in January, it is a matter of history that both Tuhawaiki and Taiaroa signed the Treaty of Waitangi in New Zealand a few months later.
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A Great Soldier And Traveller.
          

          
Tuhawaiki was a very active leader. In 1835 he succeeded his famous uncle. In 1836 we find him prominent in the party that clashed with the northerners at Tuturau.

          
A party of Ngatitoa, under a lieutenant of Rauparaha named Puoho, had come down the West Coast over the Haast Pass and surprised some southern natives at Lake Hawea and Wanaka. They then crossed the Kawarau at the Natural Bridge and went up the Nevis and down the Nokomai, and so by way of the Waimea Plains to Tuturau, where they camped.

          
An armed party left Ruapuke, led by the following chiefs:—Tuhawaiki, Haere–roa, Takatakino, Mahere, Tawhiri, Topi Patuki, Taiaroa, Hape, and Whaitiri.

          
This was in the year 1836. The invading chief, Puoho, was shot and the remainder of the party taken prisoner to Ruapuke.

          
This was the last intertribal fight in the South Island that caused bloodshed. Here is one southern account:—

          

“There was no battle, however, at Tuturau. To–hawaiki stalked Te Puoho and shot him as he sat in the Taketake (verandah) of his hut. As it was a long shot, the northerners marvelled at Tuhawaiki's skill, and the expression “konohi kai nukere”—“the seal–killer's eye”—has become proverbial. Tuhawaiki and the others were for continuing the fight, but Taiaroa (who was always a peace–maker) cried out, “He pai, he pai”—“Enough”—and persuaded them to offer terms, and the northerners surrendered.”


          
But Topi Patuki also makes a claim. Dealing with the date of the Puoho raid, Judge Chapman wrote:—

          

“I asked those about me when the story was told me at Waikouaiti what year that was, and a voice from the crowd answered in excellent English, ‘It was 1836.’ ‘How do you know?’ ‘Because I am the man who shot Te Puoho.’ This answer came from Topi Patuki, who assured me that he shot Te Puoho with his own gun. Others said it was the year of the plague (measles)…”
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The Plague Of Measles.
          

          
In the North Island we find that the first plague occurred somewhere about 1795. The second one, called by the Taranaki people Te Ariki, occurred about the end of 1820. This was introduced from



the ship “Coromandel,” which visited the Hauraki Gulf in August, 1820. It swept from Auckland to Taranaki, taking village after village in its course. So severe was it that often there were not enough left alive to bury the dead. The tohungas made a representation of a ship in the sand, with masts and rigging, and made their incantations over these naval altars, but even that did not stop the spreading of the plague.

          
But what record have we of these plagues in the south? There seems to have been both influenza and measles.

          
In the “Reminiscences of the Settlement of South Otago” we read that Measly Beach, over the hills from Kaitangata, was named because a war party of Maoris pulled their canoes ashore in 1838 and all died of measles. In McNab's “Old Whaling Days” we find on page 236 that in March, 1838, great preparations were being made for war, and that fighting men were being gathered together in great numbers to take the field. Of these movements we have already had mention made at Cloudy Bay and Piraki. Disease had again broken out and was playing sad havoc among the Maoris. That to some extent confirms the references to the deaths of this war party at Measly Beach in 1838.

          
But if Te Puoho was killed in 1836, we have to look for an epidemic in that year. And on page 175 of “Old Whaling Days” we find a passage that reads:—

          

“The crew of the “Sydney Packets” had been badly affected by influenza before reaching New Zealand, and the natives had threatened to kill the steward for introducing this new disease among them. It had for some time been prevalent at Sydney. So disastrous had the malady proved among the New Zealanders that it was said to have arrested the warlike preparations made in connection with an invasion of the southern natives by Te Rauparaha. Great numbers of those affected by the ailment were said to be lying about half dead…”

 
The date of this epidemic was evidently November, 1836.

          
In a letter of Mr. Beattie to me he says, “The potatoes (at Tuturau) were just about ready to eat, and the raiders ate them.” This certainly sounds like new potatoes for Christmas, and does not clash with the month of December, 1836.
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Leads War Parties Against Rauparaha.
          

          
In 1838 Tuhawaiki and Karetai led the expedition named Orau Moa Iti of 270 men from Otakou up to Queen Charlotte Sound, where Rauparaha suffered a severe defeat.

          
In December, 1839, the second expedition, called Orau Moa Nui, under Taiaroa, proceeded northwards, 400 warriors, part sailing in 29 canoes, the remainder proceeding overland.

          


          
In January and February of 1839 Tuhawaiki is in Sydney putting his signature to sales of land. On June 9th, 1840, he signed the Treaty of Waitangi at Ruapuke.

        








Victoria University of Wellington Library




Port Molyneux : the story of Maori and pakeha in South Otago : a centennial history : commemorating the landing of George Willsher and his companions at Willsher Bay, June 28, 1840 : with a programme for the unveiling of the centennial cairn, erected by the Clutha County Council, June 28, 1940

The Accident At Timaru



          

            
The Accident At Timaru.
          

          
In his “Jubilee History of South Canterbury” Johannes Christian Andersen gives some details of Tuhawaiki's death:-

          

“The name of Tuhawaiki is perpetuated in Bloody Jack's Point, south of Timaru… He was drowned at the point which bears his name… At a date soon after the signing of the deed by which the Maoris conveyed Otakou to the New Zealand Company—say, about the middle of 1844. He was coming north in a whaleboat by night, and a boy on board wanting a drink of water, he steered for the shore at a place called Mutu–mutu, where there was a spring of fresh water… He had slightly misjudged his position in the dark, and found when close inshore that he was almost on the reef. Having the steer oar, he swung the boat clear, but was himself knocked overboard. The boat reached the shore, but Tuhawaiki was drowned, and in the words of the Maori narrator, ‘his body was not found for weeks and days, and was then half eaten by fish.’ He was a well tattooed young man, at the time only about thirty years of age…”


          
This makes Tuhawaiki a “young man” at his death; other records say he was “a middle–aged chief.” To a young man of twenty, perhaps thirty years of age may seem middle–aged; to one of sixty, a man of fifty years may appear middle–aged. It is most likely that Tuhawaiki was about forty years of age when he died. It is impossible to fix the date of his birth. It is difficult to fix the date of his death.
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Chapter X.



Purchase Of The Otago Block.

        

          
As we have seen, by the end of 1840, a Government had been established at the Bay of Islands. In Otago the whaling industry had declined, but settlement had commenced at Waikouaiti, where Johnny Jones had commenced farming operations on a large scale. Watkin, the Missionary, had also arrived. Willsher and Russell had built their houses and made their gardens south of the Karoro Creek at Molyneux Bay.

          
The New Zealand Company had established settlements in the North and at Port Nicholson. Now plans were on foot for the establishment of a settlement in the South Island.

          
In 1842 Captain W. M. Smith, acting as Chief Surveyor for the New Zealand Company, had examined all southern harbours, and had formed the opinion that Broad Bay in Otago Harbour was the most suitable for a town settlement.

          


          
In 1843 Colonel Godfrey, who had been appointed Commissioner to inquire into land claims, and Dr. Edward Shortland, Protector of the Aborigines, had visited all Native settlements from Akaroa to Aparima.

        

        

          

            
Tuckett And Symonds.
          

          
This visit ran into the year 1844, and the stage was now set for the entry of Tuckett. Frederick Tuckett, a young Quaker, was a surveyor on the staff of the New Zealand Company, and he arrived on the 25th of April, 1844. to finally select a suitable site for the Otago Settlement. He came from Nelson on the brig Deborah, which also–carried the Rev. C. Creed, who relieved Watkin at Waikouaiti, and the Rev. J. F. H. Wohlers, who proceeded to Ruapuke, where for so many years he carried out such devoted work. Among the passengers was a certain Lieut. J. J. Symonds, a magistrate whose difficult job was to restrain Mr. Tuckett from trespassing unduly on the rights of the Natives.

          
In the tragic affair at the Wairau in June, 1843, twenty–two–pakehas were killed in an affray with Rauparaha and Rangihaeata. In 1841 Captain (not Colonel) Wakefield, agent for the New Zealand Company, had persisted in surveying land about which there was a dispute. Despite Rauparaha's entreaties, the survey proceeded, and on an accidental shot by one of the pakehas killing one of Rangihaeata's wives (a daughter of Rauparaha) the massacre took place. “Mr. Tuckett, one of the surveyors, escaped as soon as the firing began, and crossing the Strait on the second day after the fight to Wellington, told us as much as he had seen.” (Clarke.)

          
So it was not surprising that the Government sent a magistrate of the type of Symonds to see that the agents of the New Zealand Company did not again provoke an affair with the Natives. The series of letters writteen by Tuckett and Symonds show how, both being determined men, they quarrelled.

          
Tuckett's reports on the Otago Block are printed in Dr. Hocken's book, so there is no need to reproduce them here. In June, 1844, Tuckett, having consulted his employers, decided on a block of approximately 400,000 acres for the settlement.

        

        

          

            
Fill Up The Barrel!
          

          
Next month, July, 1844, the Native owners having assembled at Koputai (Port Chalmers), the bargaining took place. Tuhawaiki wanted a lot of money. He casually suggested a million. When asked to indicate how much, a barrel was pointed out: “That full!” The price finally agreed upon was £2,400. Dr. Hocken worked this out at three farthings an acre.

          
The Magistrate Symonds and a young man of 19 years of age, George Clarke, the Sub–Protector of the Aborigines, watched affairs.

          


          
to see that the Natives were not imposed upon, but Tuhawaiki, now a chief with much knowledge of the pakeha's ways, was the dominant figure.

        

        

          

            
Maori Would Always Fight For Land.
          

          
Young Clarke, a very capable Maori scholar, was determined that there should be no disputes later regarding either the boundaries or the Native reserves. His little book, “Early Life in New Zealand,” shows to what trouble he went. Clarke knew the Maori proverb: “He wahine he whenua e ngaro ai te tangata,” which he rendered into English as: “For land or wife, man stakes his life,” commenting “that a man, who is a man, will fight with all his life rather than be forced to surrender either land or woman. The depth of this feeling about their land, to say nothing about the wife, was greatly underrated by Europeans, and their disregard of it was and has continued to be, the source of most of the trouble that we have had with the Maoris… Now anyone who carries these three laws in his mind—the law of the Blood Bond, the law of Tribal Possession, and the law of Possession by Conquest—will have the key to all our great troubles with the Maoris from the Treaty of Waitangi to the present hour.”

        

        

          

            
“Bill Sikes.”
          

          
Arrived at Otago Harbour, Symonds and Clarke found the Maoris ready to sell, but in a very bad temper. Here is Clarke's description of Tuckett: “The irrepressible Tuckett, known familiarly in our expedition as Bill Sikes, who had learnt nothing by his escape from the Wairau massacre, would insist upon cutting his survey lines over anything that came in his way, and took not the least notice of the remonstrances of the Maoris. The Government and Colonel Wakefield together had to make him stop, and until he did so, Mr. Symonds refused to begin any negotiations. So the gentleman was not in very good humour when we arrived.”

          
They pulled up to the site of Port Chalmers, where there was a little forest of white pine, swarming with pigeons, which they shot from the door of the tent.

          
As the Maoris wanted the party to cross the harbour and inspect the boundaries of the proposed reserve at the Heads, they did so, and having ascended a hill called Ohinetu, Tuhawaiki asked the party to sit down while he addressed them.

        

        

          

            
Speech By Tuhawaiki.
          

          
Addressing Colonel Wakefield, Mr. Symonds, and Mr. Clarke, Tuhawaiki delivered a most eloquent and pathetic address which, fortunately, was taken down by Clarke. (“Karaka is the Maori version of Clarke): ‘Look here, Karaka,’ he said, ‘here, and there, and there and yonder; those are all burial places, not ancestral burial places, but



those of this generation. Our parents, uncles, aunts, brothers, sisters, children, they lie thick around us.

          
“We are but a poor remnant now, and the pakeha will soon see us all die out, but even in my time, we Ngailaki

* were a large and powerful tribe, stretching from Cook Strait to Akaroa, and the Ngatimamoe to the south of us were slaves. The wave which brought Rauparaha and his allies to the Strait, washed him over to the Southern Island. He went through us, fighting and burning and slaying. At Kaikoura, at Kaiapoi, and at other of our strongholds, hundreds and hundreds of our people fell, hundreds more were carried off as slaves, and hundreds died of cold and starvation in their flight. We are now dotted in families, few and far between, where we formerly lived as tribes. Our children are few, and we cannot rear them.

          
“But we had a worse enemy than even Rauparaha, and that was the visit of the pakeha with his drink and his disease. You think us very corrupted, but the very scum of Port Jackson shipped as whalers or landed as sealers on this coast. They brought us new plagues, unknown to our fathers, till our people melted away.

          
“This was one of our largest settlements, and it was beyond even the reach of Rauparaha. We lived secure, and feared no enemy; but one year, when I was a youth, a ship came from Sydney, and she brought measles among us. It was winter, as it is now. In a few months most of the inhabitants sickened and died. Whole families on this spot disappeared and left no one to represent them. My people lie all around us, and now you can tell Wide–awake (Wakefield) why we cannot part with this portion of our land, and why we were angry with Tuckett for cutting his lines about here.”

        

        

          

            
A Cold Trip To The Molyneux.
          

          
Having satisfied himself about the Northern boundary, Clarke came to the conclusion that the Southern line was vague. He refused to accept the line given by the surveyor, and to the disgust of all but Symonds, insisted on seeing the Southern boundary, and having the details pointed out to him on the spot by selected Maoris.

          
Colonel Wakefield decided to accompany Symonds and Clarke, so with a party of Maoris they started on a fortnight's tramp, in midwinter, with the ground covered with snow. They rowed up from Port Chalmers to the head of the harbour, struck across country, and then came down to the coast, possibly at St. Kilda Beach. They lived on native quail, wild pigeons, and wild pigs. When they reached the mouth of the Taieri, they got a boat and pulled up the river and down Lake Waihola. With firing both barrels of his gun Clarke brought down “nearly a dozen” ducks. They pulled ashore, lit a fire, and roasted them. “Leaving the head of the lake, after hauling the boat



ashore, we struck towards the south–west, dragging wearily over long rolling downs, with here and there a small clump of stunted trees, often miles apart. We always pitched our tent near one of these clumps, for the sake of shelter and firewood. Sometimes it would rain in the night and then freeze, so that the packing of the tent next morning was like folding a sheet of tin, and made it rather an unpleasant back–load for the unfortunate Maori who had to carry it… So we went on until we reached the boundary, and then returned by the same track, luckily killing three or four wild pigs on the journey… Back to Otago, I prepared the Maori deed… I wrote and certified the English translation, and no dispute has ever come of it…”

        

        

          

            
The Boundaries Of The Block.
          

          
The names of the lands were given as “Otakou, Kaikarae, Taieri Mataau, and Te Karoro.” The boundaries were given as: “The Northern Boundary line commences at Purehurehu, runs along the seashore, crossing the entrance of Otakou (Harbour) to Otupa, thence along the coast to Poatiri, the eastern boundary is the ocean from Poatiri to Tokata; thence the southern boundary runs along the summit of Taukohu to Pohueroa, it then runs along the summit of the Kaihiku range and crosses the Mataau River, thence along the summit of the Maunga–atua Range to Wakari, along the summit of Wakari to Mihiwaka and Otuwararoa, thence it descends to Purehurehu on the coast.”

        

        

          

            
The Karoro Reserve At Molyneux.
          

          
The reserves enumerated are at Otago Heads; at the Taieri; “also a portion of land at the Karoro, bounded on the South by the Karoro River, on the east by the ocean; the northern boundary includes the kainga of that place, and extends inland about one mile …”

        

        

          

            
The Signatories To The Deed.
          

          
The chiefs who signed the Deed of Sale to the New Zealand Company were (This is the rendering in McKay's “Native Affairs in the South Island.” Hocken gives different order and spellings):-

          

	
              
John Tuhawaiki

            

	
              
Taiaroa

            

	
              
Karetai

            

	
              
Korako

            

	
              
Kaikoarare

            

	
              
Takamaitu

            

	
              
Te Rake

            

	
              
John Tuhawaiki for Topi

            

	
              
Kihau

            

	
              
Horomona Pohio

            

	
              
Pohau

            

	
              
Kahuti

            

	
              
Kurakura

            

	
              
Mokomoko

            

	
              
Te Ao

            

	
              
Korako Karetai

            

	
              
Tutewaiuo

            

	
              
Papakawa

            

	
              
Te Hoki

            

	
              
Kaiwakana

            

	
              
Te Raki

            

	
              
Potiki

            

	
              
Pohota

            

	
              
Taiaroa for Pokihi

            

	
              
Pokene

            



	
              
The witnesses were:—

            

	
              
John Jermyn Symonds, P.M.

            

	
              
Frederick Tuckett

            

	
              
George Clarke, Junior, Protector of Aborigines

            

	
              
David Scott

            


        

        

          

            
The Question Of A Date.
          

          
If we believed some historians, this might well be the last signature made by Tuhawaiki. The date incorporated in the deed is July 31, 1844. Clarke's copy says so; so does the copy printed by Hocken.

          
But other records state that July 31, 1844, was the day on which Tuhawaiki was drowned at Jack's Point, off Timaru. Both cannot be right.

          
A search of the transaction as printed in Mackay's “Native Affairs of the South Island” shows the same date in the body of the deed. But in the declaration by Colonel Wakefield attached to the bottom of the papers the date is July 29th, 1840. One explanation might be that the deed was signed on July 29, but that it took effect on the last day of the month, and for that reason the last day of the month was inserted, but the exact wording is: “on this 31st day of July, in the year of our Lord 1844.”

          
It is probably in keeping with the spirit of the time—a day or two didn't matter!

        

        

          

Division Of The Money.

          
Symonds records that after the documnets had been formally read over in Maori and English, “the purchase money, to the amount of £2,400, was amicably divided among the different families and they all expressed themselves fully satisfied with the whole transaction.”

          
Another account says that Tuhawaiki took £900, plus £300 for his Taieri and Molyneux friends, Taiaroa and Karetai got £300 each, and the other £600 was divided among the other chiefs.

        

        

          

            
Discrepancy Of The Dates.
          

          
Re–reading all the documents convinces the writer of these notes that the date of the signing and the distribution of the money took place on July 31.

          
But the Rev. M. Rugby Pratt, who had access to many early missionary papers, states: “Tuhawaiki, who had survived many a warlike encounter, met his death by drowning at Timaru on July 31, 1844.”

          
But read Dr. Hocken: “… the portion (the £900) of this chief was devoted to the purchase and fitting out of a little vessel with which to extend the trade which he already carried on. Bold and skilful sailor as he was, he lost his life soon afterwards—in November, 1844—whilst piloting his boat through a tempestuous sea off Moeraki.”

          
It will be seen that there is a big discrepancy in dates, but Dr. Hocken may be right.

        

      



* Ngailaki is probably a misprint for Ngatahu.
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[introduction]



          
As we have seen, by the end of 1840, a Government had been established at the Bay of Islands. In Otago the whaling industry had declined, but settlement had commenced at Waikouaiti, where Johnny Jones had commenced farming operations on a large scale. Watkin, the Missionary, had also arrived. Willsher and Russell had built their houses and made their gardens south of the Karoro Creek at Molyneux Bay.

          
The New Zealand Company had established settlements in the North and at Port Nicholson. Now plans were on foot for the establishment of a settlement in the South Island.

          
In 1842 Captain W. M. Smith, acting as Chief Surveyor for the New Zealand Company, had examined all southern harbours, and had formed the opinion that Broad Bay in Otago Harbour was the most suitable for a town settlement.

          


          
In 1843 Colonel Godfrey, who had been appointed Commissioner to inquire into land claims, and Dr. Edward Shortland, Protector of the Aborigines, had visited all Native settlements from Akaroa to Aparima.
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Tuckett And Symonds.
          

          
This visit ran into the year 1844, and the stage was now set for the entry of Tuckett. Frederick Tuckett, a young Quaker, was a surveyor on the staff of the New Zealand Company, and he arrived on the 25th of April, 1844. to finally select a suitable site for the Otago Settlement. He came from Nelson on the brig Deborah, which also–carried the Rev. C. Creed, who relieved Watkin at Waikouaiti, and the Rev. J. F. H. Wohlers, who proceeded to Ruapuke, where for so many years he carried out such devoted work. Among the passengers was a certain Lieut. J. J. Symonds, a magistrate whose difficult job was to restrain Mr. Tuckett from trespassing unduly on the rights of the Natives.

          
In the tragic affair at the Wairau in June, 1843, twenty–two–pakehas were killed in an affray with Rauparaha and Rangihaeata. In 1841 Captain (not Colonel) Wakefield, agent for the New Zealand Company, had persisted in surveying land about which there was a dispute. Despite Rauparaha's entreaties, the survey proceeded, and on an accidental shot by one of the pakehas killing one of Rangihaeata's wives (a daughter of Rauparaha) the massacre took place. “Mr. Tuckett, one of the surveyors, escaped as soon as the firing began, and crossing the Strait on the second day after the fight to Wellington, told us as much as he had seen.” (Clarke.)

          
So it was not surprising that the Government sent a magistrate of the type of Symonds to see that the agents of the New Zealand Company did not again provoke an affair with the Natives. The series of letters writteen by Tuckett and Symonds show how, both being determined men, they quarrelled.

          
Tuckett's reports on the Otago Block are printed in Dr. Hocken's book, so there is no need to reproduce them here. In June, 1844, Tuckett, having consulted his employers, decided on a block of approximately 400,000 acres for the settlement.
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Fill Up The Barrel!
          

          
Next month, July, 1844, the Native owners having assembled at Koputai (Port Chalmers), the bargaining took place. Tuhawaiki wanted a lot of money. He casually suggested a million. When asked to indicate how much, a barrel was pointed out: “That full!” The price finally agreed upon was £2,400. Dr. Hocken worked this out at three farthings an acre.

          
The Magistrate Symonds and a young man of 19 years of age, George Clarke, the Sub–Protector of the Aborigines, watched affairs.

          


          
to see that the Natives were not imposed upon, but Tuhawaiki, now a chief with much knowledge of the pakeha's ways, was the dominant figure.
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Maori Would Always Fight For Land.
          

          
Young Clarke, a very capable Maori scholar, was determined that there should be no disputes later regarding either the boundaries or the Native reserves. His little book, “Early Life in New Zealand,” shows to what trouble he went. Clarke knew the Maori proverb: “He wahine he whenua e ngaro ai te tangata,” which he rendered into English as: “For land or wife, man stakes his life,” commenting “that a man, who is a man, will fight with all his life rather than be forced to surrender either land or woman. The depth of this feeling about their land, to say nothing about the wife, was greatly underrated by Europeans, and their disregard of it was and has continued to be, the source of most of the trouble that we have had with the Maoris… Now anyone who carries these three laws in his mind—the law of the Blood Bond, the law of Tribal Possession, and the law of Possession by Conquest—will have the key to all our great troubles with the Maoris from the Treaty of Waitangi to the present hour.”
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“Bill Sikes.”
          

          
Arrived at Otago Harbour, Symonds and Clarke found the Maoris ready to sell, but in a very bad temper. Here is Clarke's description of Tuckett: “The irrepressible Tuckett, known familiarly in our expedition as Bill Sikes, who had learnt nothing by his escape from the Wairau massacre, would insist upon cutting his survey lines over anything that came in his way, and took not the least notice of the remonstrances of the Maoris. The Government and Colonel Wakefield together had to make him stop, and until he did so, Mr. Symonds refused to begin any negotiations. So the gentleman was not in very good humour when we arrived.”

          
They pulled up to the site of Port Chalmers, where there was a little forest of white pine, swarming with pigeons, which they shot from the door of the tent.

          
As the Maoris wanted the party to cross the harbour and inspect the boundaries of the proposed reserve at the Heads, they did so, and having ascended a hill called Ohinetu, Tuhawaiki asked the party to sit down while he addressed them.
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Speech By Tuhawaiki.
          

          
Addressing Colonel Wakefield, Mr. Symonds, and Mr. Clarke, Tuhawaiki delivered a most eloquent and pathetic address which, fortunately, was taken down by Clarke. (“Karaka is the Maori version of Clarke): ‘Look here, Karaka,’ he said, ‘here, and there, and there and yonder; those are all burial places, not ancestral burial places, but



those of this generation. Our parents, uncles, aunts, brothers, sisters, children, they lie thick around us.

          
“We are but a poor remnant now, and the pakeha will soon see us all die out, but even in my time, we Ngailaki

* were a large and powerful tribe, stretching from Cook Strait to Akaroa, and the Ngatimamoe to the south of us were slaves. The wave which brought Rauparaha and his allies to the Strait, washed him over to the Southern Island. He went through us, fighting and burning and slaying. At Kaikoura, at Kaiapoi, and at other of our strongholds, hundreds and hundreds of our people fell, hundreds more were carried off as slaves, and hundreds died of cold and starvation in their flight. We are now dotted in families, few and far between, where we formerly lived as tribes. Our children are few, and we cannot rear them.

          
“But we had a worse enemy than even Rauparaha, and that was the visit of the pakeha with his drink and his disease. You think us very corrupted, but the very scum of Port Jackson shipped as whalers or landed as sealers on this coast. They brought us new plagues, unknown to our fathers, till our people melted away.

          
“This was one of our largest settlements, and it was beyond even the reach of Rauparaha. We lived secure, and feared no enemy; but one year, when I was a youth, a ship came from Sydney, and she brought measles among us. It was winter, as it is now. In a few months most of the inhabitants sickened and died. Whole families on this spot disappeared and left no one to represent them. My people lie all around us, and now you can tell Wide–awake (Wakefield) why we cannot part with this portion of our land, and why we were angry with Tuckett for cutting his lines about here.”
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A Cold Trip To The Molyneux.
          

          
Having satisfied himself about the Northern boundary, Clarke came to the conclusion that the Southern line was vague. He refused to accept the line given by the surveyor, and to the disgust of all but Symonds, insisted on seeing the Southern boundary, and having the details pointed out to him on the spot by selected Maoris.

          
Colonel Wakefield decided to accompany Symonds and Clarke, so with a party of Maoris they started on a fortnight's tramp, in midwinter, with the ground covered with snow. They rowed up from Port Chalmers to the head of the harbour, struck across country, and then came down to the coast, possibly at St. Kilda Beach. They lived on native quail, wild pigeons, and wild pigs. When they reached the mouth of the Taieri, they got a boat and pulled up the river and down Lake Waihola. With firing both barrels of his gun Clarke brought down “nearly a dozen” ducks. They pulled ashore, lit a fire, and roasted them. “Leaving the head of the lake, after hauling the boat



ashore, we struck towards the south–west, dragging wearily over long rolling downs, with here and there a small clump of stunted trees, often miles apart. We always pitched our tent near one of these clumps, for the sake of shelter and firewood. Sometimes it would rain in the night and then freeze, so that the packing of the tent next morning was like folding a sheet of tin, and made it rather an unpleasant back–load for the unfortunate Maori who had to carry it… So we went on until we reached the boundary, and then returned by the same track, luckily killing three or four wild pigs on the journey… Back to Otago, I prepared the Maori deed… I wrote and certified the English translation, and no dispute has ever come of it…”
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The Boundaries Of The Block.
          

          
The names of the lands were given as “Otakou, Kaikarae, Taieri Mataau, and Te Karoro.” The boundaries were given as: “The Northern Boundary line commences at Purehurehu, runs along the seashore, crossing the entrance of Otakou (Harbour) to Otupa, thence along the coast to Poatiri, the eastern boundary is the ocean from Poatiri to Tokata; thence the southern boundary runs along the summit of Taukohu to Pohueroa, it then runs along the summit of the Kaihiku range and crosses the Mataau River, thence along the summit of the Maunga–atua Range to Wakari, along the summit of Wakari to Mihiwaka and Otuwararoa, thence it descends to Purehurehu on the coast.”
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The Karoro Reserve At Molyneux.
          

          
The reserves enumerated are at Otago Heads; at the Taieri; “also a portion of land at the Karoro, bounded on the South by the Karoro River, on the east by the ocean; the northern boundary includes the kainga of that place, and extends inland about one mile …”

        








Victoria University of Wellington Library




Port Molyneux : the story of Maori and pakeha in South Otago : a centennial history : commemorating the landing of George Willsher and his companions at Willsher Bay, June 28, 1840 : with a programme for the unveiling of the centennial cairn, erected by the Clutha County Council, June 28, 1940

The Signatories To The Deed



          

            
The Signatories To The Deed.
          

          
The chiefs who signed the Deed of Sale to the New Zealand Company were (This is the rendering in McKay's “Native Affairs in the South Island.” Hocken gives different order and spellings):-

          

	
              
John Tuhawaiki

            

	
              
Taiaroa

            

	
              
Karetai

            

	
              
Korako

            

	
              
Kaikoarare

            

	
              
Takamaitu

            

	
              
Te Rake

            

	
              
John Tuhawaiki for Topi

            

	
              
Kihau

            

	
              
Horomona Pohio

            

	
              
Pohau

            

	
              
Kahuti

            

	
              
Kurakura

            

	
              
Mokomoko

            

	
              
Te Ao

            

	
              
Korako Karetai

            

	
              
Tutewaiuo

            

	
              
Papakawa

            

	
              
Te Hoki

            

	
              
Kaiwakana

            

	
              
Te Raki

            

	
              
Potiki

            

	
              
Pohota

            

	
              
Taiaroa for Pokihi

            

	
              
Pokene

            



	
              
The witnesses were:—

            

	
              
John Jermyn Symonds, P.M.

            

	
              
Frederick Tuckett

            

	
              
George Clarke, Junior, Protector of Aborigines

            

	
              
David Scott
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The Question Of A Date.
          

          
If we believed some historians, this might well be the last signature made by Tuhawaiki. The date incorporated in the deed is July 31, 1844. Clarke's copy says so; so does the copy printed by Hocken.

          
But other records state that July 31, 1844, was the day on which Tuhawaiki was drowned at Jack's Point, off Timaru. Both cannot be right.

          
A search of the transaction as printed in Mackay's “Native Affairs of the South Island” shows the same date in the body of the deed. But in the declaration by Colonel Wakefield attached to the bottom of the papers the date is July 29th, 1840. One explanation might be that the deed was signed on July 29, but that it took effect on the last day of the month, and for that reason the last day of the month was inserted, but the exact wording is: “on this 31st day of July, in the year of our Lord 1844.”

          
It is probably in keeping with the spirit of the time—a day or two didn't matter!
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Division Of The Money.

          
Symonds records that after the documnets had been formally read over in Maori and English, “the purchase money, to the amount of £2,400, was amicably divided among the different families and they all expressed themselves fully satisfied with the whole transaction.”

          
Another account says that Tuhawaiki took £900, plus £300 for his Taieri and Molyneux friends, Taiaroa and Karetai got £300 each, and the other £600 was divided among the other chiefs.
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Discrepancy Of The Dates.
          

          
Re–reading all the documents convinces the writer of these notes that the date of the signing and the distribution of the money took place on July 31.

          
But the Rev. M. Rugby Pratt, who had access to many early missionary papers, states: “Tuhawaiki, who had survived many a warlike encounter, met his death by drowning at Timaru on July 31, 1844.”

          
But read Dr. Hocken: “… the portion (the £900) of this chief was devoted to the purchase and fitting out of a little vessel with which to extend the trade which he already carried on. Bold and skilful sailor as he was, he lost his life soon afterwards—in November, 1844—whilst piloting his boat through a tempestuous sea off Moeraki.”

          
It will be seen that there is a big discrepancy in dates, but Dr. Hocken may be right.
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Chapter XI.



The Maori Village At Matau.

        

          
We have very little exact knowledge of the early occupation of the Port Molyneux district.

          
We have good reason to believe that the Rapuwai and certainly the Waitaha people lived in large numbers around the Kaitangata Lakes and at the mouth of the Matau.

          
We know that a village called Murikauhaka was in existence for some time prior to the whaling days. But before that villages called Matai–pipi and Otapatu were in existence near the mouth of the river. On the sea sandspit and in all the bays from Port Molyneux to the Nuggets there is evidence of very old occupation. This old occupation was also all down the coast to Pounawea and the mouth of the Tahakopa, this last being a very old moa hunter site, as the researches by Dr. H. D. Skinner, L. Lockerbie and D. Teviotdale disclose.

          
But these belong to a shadowy past, and the village that Morrell saw was the home of Tuhawaiki's people. This village was right opposite the long tongue of sandhills known as the Sandspit. Where the old pilot station stood, and where the present school stands, and back over those easy slopes which lie to the morning sun, the village was scattered. The burial ground was in the sandhills at the mouth of the river, and the present road goes over part of it. The canoes were tied up in a backwater between the present school and Mr. Wright's house.

          
The question naturally arises:: If this was the site of the old village, why did not Tuhawaiki insist on it being put in as a reserve when the block was sold to the pakeha in 1844?

          
The answer is that between Morrell's visit and the sale in 1844 epidemics of measles and influenza almost wiped out the Maori population of the village.

          
When a Maori was near death, he was removed from the permanent dwelling house to a temporary shelter. After death this shelter was abandoned. The removal of the dying person from the permanent house avoided it becoming tapu.

          
Many people died in the measles epidemics that swept Murikauhaka, and all the houses would become tapu. So they would be burnt, the dead being cremated in them. Those who survived would shift to new ground. And that ground was obviously near Karoro Creek.

          
The reserve that Clarke was asked to put into the map was the new clean ground.

          


        

        

          

            
How Many Maoris Lived At Murikauhaka.
          

          
Although all the travellers round about the 1844 period refer to very large Maori populations that had disappeared, we have little reliable evidence. The statements that there were thousands in those old southern villages cannot be accepted.

          
Food supply determines how many people could live in a district, and it is natural that the Polynesian would congregate in the warmer climates of the North Island where the kumara would grow. South of Temuka the kumara could not grow. Life was harder in the south.

          
Cook saw only fires—he did not see the village. The first real evidence we have is from Morrell. Fifty natives went out to see his ship. There is room in the houses for 200 or 300 people. It is more likely that 200 would be the maximum in the village at that time. The new whaling centres were beginning to disturb all the old Maori settlements. The threats of Rauparaha forced people to strongholds like Otakou and Ruapuke. Then came the measles.

          
In 1840 Willsher and his party finds a remnant of half a dozen.

        

        

          

            
Maoris Living At Molyneux In 1844.
          

          
We know Makariri was at Molyneux when Willsher arrived in 1840. On Tuckett's visit in June, 1844, he noted the following:—

          

“Immediately north of the mouth of the Kunesoo, also on the seashore, reside a few Maoris, viz., Toki, the widow of Tahin, formerly chief of Kunesoo; Maihou and Touwere, aged men; KakiKaki and Tohatu, young men; also the children. They have lately erected some new houses of improved construction and have a few acres of land adjoining under cultivation. These, with Te Kaki and Kuri, of the Tiarea, who dwell at the Taiarea, are the only aboriginal residents; Tuawiti was born on the banks of the Matau, and considers himself as almost sole proprietor.”


          
Mr. Tuckett had some difficulty in the spelling of Maori names; and the early compositors and proof readers were not very sure about these difficult names either; but I think we can agree on these: Kunesoo should be Karoro; Toki, the widow of Tahin, should be Toke, the widow of Tahu; Makauri is obviously Makariri; Kaki–Kaki should be Raki–Raki (later known as Haimona Lakitap); Tohatu may be the Kinihi Kurupohatu mentioned in the following list, and who was the father of the Maori known to the early settlers as Kingi Ruru.

        

        

          

            
An Interesting List Of Names.
          

          
Several attempts have been made to disentangle the claims of individual Maoris to the land in the South Island Native Reserves.

          


          
On the 7th of March, 1891, at Otago Heads old lists of names were examined, and I have extracted the following set of persons who appear to me to have had, or said they had, some interest in the reserve at Port Molyneux. The letters (f) and (m) stand for female and male:—

          

	
              
Puakihau (f)—Adult, sister to Tuhawaiki.

            

	
              
Ngaroimata (f)—Minor, child of Teone Topi Patuki.

            

	
              
Pinana (f)—Minor, child of Toke of Ngatihuirapa, had a take (right) at the Molyneux.

            

	
              
Toke Hauti Ihi.

            

	
              
Rota Pikaroro (m)—Adult.

            

	
              
Rawiri Korako te Rehe (m)—Adult, a nephew of Toke, take small.

            

	
              
Mata Makariri (f)—Adult, a niece of Toke.

            

	
              
Haimona Tuhatara (m)—Adult, brother of Kinihe Kurupohatu.

            

	
              
Ruru (m)—Adult, brother to Kinihi Kurupohatu.

            

	
              
Ruru (m)—Adult, belonged to Te Karoro, died in 1847.

            

	
              
Tuatara (m)—Adult, belonged to Te Karoro, died 1845.

            

	
              
Piri (m)—Adult, belonged to Te Karoro, died 1847; a brother to Kurupohatu.

            

	
              
Te Urukomako (m)—Adult, belonged to Te Karoro, died in 1847; a brother to Kurupohatu.

            

	
              
Werohia (m)—Adult, belonged to Te Karoro, was son of Kara.

            

	
              
Among the long list of names and persons submitted, but who were objected to through having no right, were:—

            

	
              
Tahu (m)—Adult, husband of Toke.

            

	
              
Te Kihi (m)—Adult, no take at Molyneux.

            

	
              
Te Kawewhitau (f)—Adult, wife of Te Kihi.

            

	
              
Tangata Huruhuru.

            


        

        

          

            
The Sister Of Tuhawaiki.
          

          
In regard to the reserve at Karoro, Mr. Symonds, writing on 2nd September, 1844, stated: “I suggested to Tuhawaiki that he should retain a portion of the land on that river where some of his family resided.”

          
This must be a reference to Puakihau, who was Tuhawaiki's only surviving sister. The three other sisters had died before 1844.

        

        

          

            
Descendants Of The Principal Chiefs.
          

          
In an old official return showing the holdings of land, those mentioned below are given as descendants of chiefs who signed the 1844 sale. It will be noticed that Anna Kihau and Kinehe Kurupohatu each held 100 acres.

          


          

	
              
Tuhawaiki's grandchildren:

            

	
              
Teone Kihau—25 acres (Karoro)

            

	
              
Peti Kihau—25 acres (Karoro)

            

	
              
Keita Kihau—25 acres (Karoro)

            

	
              
Anna Kihau—100 acres (Karoro)

            

	
              
Horomona Pohio—Descendants:

            

	
              
Teone te Ururaki—22 acres 1 pole 20 perches (Karoro) Tutewaio—Descendants:

            

	
              
Kinche Kurupohatu (Te Karoro A)—100 acres.

            

	
              
Rora Rakiraki (Te Karoro A)—11 acres 3 poles 34 perches Papakawa—Descendants:

            

	
              
Teone Paina (Te Karoro B)—5 acres 2 poles 18 perches

            

	
              
Tiriata Maiharoa (Te Karoro B)—2 acres 3 poles 9 perches

            

	
              
A note says that two of the names attached to the Otago deed—Pohio and Te Haki—belong to Horomona, who was known as Horomona Pohio and Horomona te Haki.

            


        

        

          

            
Trustees For Te Karoro Reserve.
          

          
Later, trustees were appointed to represent those who had some rights in the block.

          
Apparently Block A, nearest the Karoro Creek, was known as Karoro, while Block B, the northern end, was named Whawhapo, after the little creek at the northern boundary.

          
Block A Trustees (these appear to be Southlanders).—Alfred Kihau, Rena Kihau, Haimona Papaoka, Kinihi Rahimauki, Mere Hutu, Henrietta Whaitiri.

          
Kinihi Rahimauki is Kinehi Kurupohatu, while Mere Hutu is Mary Hood.

          
Block B Trustees (these are evidently South Otago Natives).—Haimona Rangireke, Rota Pikaroro, Rawiri Takata Huruhuru, Rawiri Koroko, Teone Te Ururaki, Ihaia Potiki.

          
Haimona Rangireke is old Raki Raki; Rawiri Takata Huruhuru is Takata Huru; while Ihaia Potiki is easily identified.

          
By the courtesy of Mr. William Paterson, the esteemed Secretary of the Otago Early Settlers’ Association, and one long identified with Port Molyneux, we are able to reproduce pictures of those old–time Maoris who will be well remembered by old residents of Port Molyneux.

        

        

          

            
Makariri.
          

          
Makariri was the daughter of Toke, who was the wife of Tahu, a chief of Matau. Makariri was well known for many years. She kept house for Willsher, and many wonderful stories are told about her. She protected Willsher “from being killed and eaten by the Maoris”; she swam out to the rocks of Willsher Bay, and made Willsher very worried; the early settlers sometimes referred to her as a “Maori princess.”

        

        
        



          

Haimona Rakiraki.

          

            

[image: Portrait of Haimona Rakiraki]
          

          
This was old Lakitap, who died at Port Molyneux in October, 1895. In the 1891 Parliamentary records he is shown as Haimona Rangireke. As a lad he escaped from Puoho at the Lakes, and was brought down to Molyneux by Haeareoa. When employed at the whaling station at Tautuku, he was disinclined to work on Sunday, so he was nicknamed Ratapu—a Maori name for Sunday. This was turned into Rakitapu, and then into Lakitap. He was a fine old type, and so long as he lived was regarded as the principal man. He claimed to be a Katimamoe.

        

        

          

Tangata Huru.

          

            

[image: Portrait of Tangata Huru]
          

          
As the “ng” turns into a “k” in the southern dialect, he was known as Takata Huru. His name is given on some official documents at Rawiri Takata Huruhuru. Rawiri is Maori for David. During one of the early epidemics of measles, one cure was to eat a dog. He did so, and was one of the few that survived.

        

        
        



          

Ihaia Potiki.

          

            

[image: Portrait of Ihaia Potiki]
          

          
A fine type of Maori, he was a descendant of the Potiki who signed the deed of sale of the Otago Block. Ihaia is his christening name—Isaiah. He was one of two sons, Ihaia and Henare. They were descendants of Taoka, the great fighting chief. In the 1891 records he had nine children—six girls and three boys. Emma Potiki and Tommy Potiki, son and daughter of Ihaia, still live at Karoro. Two others are alive—Jack Potiki, who lives at Te Puke, and Fanny, whose married name is Bryant, and who lives at Owaka. The late Mrs. G. S. Wilson was a daughter of Ihaia Potiki.

        

        

          

Kingi Ruru.

          

            

[image: Portrait of Kingi Ruru]
          

          
He also was a Katimamoe, and was best known as “old King.” Until a few years ago, he was a well–known figure at Karoro. He and Jack Lakitap were the two who lingered longest on the scene as links with the past. In the records he is known as Kiniti Kuropohatu Ruru, and at one time was shown as owning 140 acres of land. As Edward King he had a small interest at Stewart Island. Sometimes Edward King is rendered Erueti Kinihi.

        

        
        



          

Jack Rakiraki.

          

            

[image: Portrait of Jack Rakiraki]
          

          
Often known as Jack Lakatip, or Lakitap, he was the son of old Haimona. He was the father of the present Rakirakis. A son Ben (“Mingo”) is now at Heriot, while two daughters, Marion and Stella, still live at Karoro. Jack was shown on the official records as Puahu Rakiraki. This photograph shows Jack as a young man.

        

        

          

Ben Rakiraki.

          
Sometimes known as Ben Lakatip, he was another son of old Haimona, being a brother of Jack.

          
Rora Rakiraki (Mrs. Clifford) and Kere Petimana Rakiraki are daughter and son of Ben Rakiraki, and are grandchildren of old Haimona. Ben's picture, as a boy, is shown in the picture of Makariri, page 23.
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[introduction]



          
We have very little exact knowledge of the early occupation of the Port Molyneux district.

          
We have good reason to believe that the Rapuwai and certainly the Waitaha people lived in large numbers around the Kaitangata Lakes and at the mouth of the Matau.

          
We know that a village called Murikauhaka was in existence for some time prior to the whaling days. But before that villages called Matai–pipi and Otapatu were in existence near the mouth of the river. On the sea sandspit and in all the bays from Port Molyneux to the Nuggets there is evidence of very old occupation. This old occupation was also all down the coast to Pounawea and the mouth of the Tahakopa, this last being a very old moa hunter site, as the researches by Dr. H. D. Skinner, L. Lockerbie and D. Teviotdale disclose.

          
But these belong to a shadowy past, and the village that Morrell saw was the home of Tuhawaiki's people. This village was right opposite the long tongue of sandhills known as the Sandspit. Where the old pilot station stood, and where the present school stands, and back over those easy slopes which lie to the morning sun, the village was scattered. The burial ground was in the sandhills at the mouth of the river, and the present road goes over part of it. The canoes were tied up in a backwater between the present school and Mr. Wright's house.

          
The question naturally arises:: If this was the site of the old village, why did not Tuhawaiki insist on it being put in as a reserve when the block was sold to the pakeha in 1844?

          
The answer is that between Morrell's visit and the sale in 1844 epidemics of measles and influenza almost wiped out the Maori population of the village.

          
When a Maori was near death, he was removed from the permanent dwelling house to a temporary shelter. After death this shelter was abandoned. The removal of the dying person from the permanent house avoided it becoming tapu.

          
Many people died in the measles epidemics that swept Murikauhaka, and all the houses would become tapu. So they would be burnt, the dead being cremated in them. Those who survived would shift to new ground. And that ground was obviously near Karoro Creek.

          
The reserve that Clarke was asked to put into the map was the new clean ground.
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How Many Maoris Lived At Murikauhaka.
          

          
Although all the travellers round about the 1844 period refer to very large Maori populations that had disappeared, we have little reliable evidence. The statements that there were thousands in those old southern villages cannot be accepted.

          
Food supply determines how many people could live in a district, and it is natural that the Polynesian would congregate in the warmer climates of the North Island where the kumara would grow. South of Temuka the kumara could not grow. Life was harder in the south.

          
Cook saw only fires—he did not see the village. The first real evidence we have is from Morrell. Fifty natives went out to see his ship. There is room in the houses for 200 or 300 people. It is more likely that 200 would be the maximum in the village at that time. The new whaling centres were beginning to disturb all the old Maori settlements. The threats of Rauparaha forced people to strongholds like Otakou and Ruapuke. Then came the measles.

          
In 1840 Willsher and his party finds a remnant of half a dozen.

        








Victoria University of Wellington Library




Port Molyneux : the story of Maori and pakeha in South Otago : a centennial history : commemorating the landing of George Willsher and his companions at Willsher Bay, June 28, 1840 : with a programme for the unveiling of the centennial cairn, erected by the Clutha County Council, June 28, 1940

Maoris Living At Molyneux In 1844



          

            
Maoris Living At Molyneux In 1844.
          

          
We know Makariri was at Molyneux when Willsher arrived in 1840. On Tuckett's visit in June, 1844, he noted the following:—

          

“Immediately north of the mouth of the Kunesoo, also on the seashore, reside a few Maoris, viz., Toki, the widow of Tahin, formerly chief of Kunesoo; Maihou and Touwere, aged men; KakiKaki and Tohatu, young men; also the children. They have lately erected some new houses of improved construction and have a few acres of land adjoining under cultivation. These, with Te Kaki and Kuri, of the Tiarea, who dwell at the Taiarea, are the only aboriginal residents; Tuawiti was born on the banks of the Matau, and considers himself as almost sole proprietor.”


          
Mr. Tuckett had some difficulty in the spelling of Maori names; and the early compositors and proof readers were not very sure about these difficult names either; but I think we can agree on these: Kunesoo should be Karoro; Toki, the widow of Tahin, should be Toke, the widow of Tahu; Makauri is obviously Makariri; Kaki–Kaki should be Raki–Raki (later known as Haimona Lakitap); Tohatu may be the Kinihi Kurupohatu mentioned in the following list, and who was the father of the Maori known to the early settlers as Kingi Ruru.
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An Interesting List Of Names.
          

          
Several attempts have been made to disentangle the claims of individual Maoris to the land in the South Island Native Reserves.

          


          
On the 7th of March, 1891, at Otago Heads old lists of names were examined, and I have extracted the following set of persons who appear to me to have had, or said they had, some interest in the reserve at Port Molyneux. The letters (f) and (m) stand for female and male:—

          

	
              
Puakihau (f)—Adult, sister to Tuhawaiki.

            

	
              
Ngaroimata (f)—Minor, child of Teone Topi Patuki.

            

	
              
Pinana (f)—Minor, child of Toke of Ngatihuirapa, had a take (right) at the Molyneux.

            

	
              
Toke Hauti Ihi.

            

	
              
Rota Pikaroro (m)—Adult.

            

	
              
Rawiri Korako te Rehe (m)—Adult, a nephew of Toke, take small.

            

	
              
Mata Makariri (f)—Adult, a niece of Toke.

            

	
              
Haimona Tuhatara (m)—Adult, brother of Kinihe Kurupohatu.

            

	
              
Ruru (m)—Adult, brother to Kinihi Kurupohatu.

            

	
              
Ruru (m)—Adult, belonged to Te Karoro, died in 1847.

            

	
              
Tuatara (m)—Adult, belonged to Te Karoro, died 1845.

            

	
              
Piri (m)—Adult, belonged to Te Karoro, died 1847; a brother to Kurupohatu.

            

	
              
Te Urukomako (m)—Adult, belonged to Te Karoro, died in 1847; a brother to Kurupohatu.

            

	
              
Werohia (m)—Adult, belonged to Te Karoro, was son of Kara.

            

	
              
Among the long list of names and persons submitted, but who were objected to through having no right, were:—

            

	
              
Tahu (m)—Adult, husband of Toke.

            

	
              
Te Kihi (m)—Adult, no take at Molyneux.

            

	
              
Te Kawewhitau (f)—Adult, wife of Te Kihi.

            

	
              
Tangata Huruhuru.
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The Sister Of Tuhawaiki.
          

          
In regard to the reserve at Karoro, Mr. Symonds, writing on 2nd September, 1844, stated: “I suggested to Tuhawaiki that he should retain a portion of the land on that river where some of his family resided.”

          
This must be a reference to Puakihau, who was Tuhawaiki's only surviving sister. The three other sisters had died before 1844.
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Descendants Of The Principal Chiefs.
          

          
In an old official return showing the holdings of land, those mentioned below are given as descendants of chiefs who signed the 1844 sale. It will be noticed that Anna Kihau and Kinehe Kurupohatu each held 100 acres.

          


          

	
              
Tuhawaiki's grandchildren:

            

	
              
Teone Kihau—25 acres (Karoro)

            

	
              
Peti Kihau—25 acres (Karoro)

            

	
              
Keita Kihau—25 acres (Karoro)

            

	
              
Anna Kihau—100 acres (Karoro)

            

	
              
Horomona Pohio—Descendants:

            

	
              
Teone te Ururaki—22 acres 1 pole 20 perches (Karoro) Tutewaio—Descendants:

            

	
              
Kinche Kurupohatu (Te Karoro A)—100 acres.

            

	
              
Rora Rakiraki (Te Karoro A)—11 acres 3 poles 34 perches Papakawa—Descendants:

            

	
              
Teone Paina (Te Karoro B)—5 acres 2 poles 18 perches

            

	
              
Tiriata Maiharoa (Te Karoro B)—2 acres 3 poles 9 perches

            

	
              
A note says that two of the names attached to the Otago deed—Pohio and Te Haki—belong to Horomona, who was known as Horomona Pohio and Horomona te Haki.
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Trustees For Te Karoro Reserve.
          

          
Later, trustees were appointed to represent those who had some rights in the block.

          
Apparently Block A, nearest the Karoro Creek, was known as Karoro, while Block B, the northern end, was named Whawhapo, after the little creek at the northern boundary.

          
Block A Trustees (these appear to be Southlanders).—Alfred Kihau, Rena Kihau, Haimona Papaoka, Kinihi Rahimauki, Mere Hutu, Henrietta Whaitiri.

          
Kinihi Rahimauki is Kinehi Kurupohatu, while Mere Hutu is Mary Hood.

          
Block B Trustees (these are evidently South Otago Natives).—Haimona Rangireke, Rota Pikaroro, Rawiri Takata Huruhuru, Rawiri Koroko, Teone Te Ururaki, Ihaia Potiki.

          
Haimona Rangireke is old Raki Raki; Rawiri Takata Huruhuru is Takata Huru; while Ihaia Potiki is easily identified.

          
By the courtesy of Mr. William Paterson, the esteemed Secretary of the Otago Early Settlers’ Association, and one long identified with Port Molyneux, we are able to reproduce pictures of those old–time Maoris who will be well remembered by old residents of Port Molyneux.
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Makariri.
          

          
Makariri was the daughter of Toke, who was the wife of Tahu, a chief of Matau. Makariri was well known for many years. She kept house for Willsher, and many wonderful stories are told about her. She protected Willsher “from being killed and eaten by the Maoris”; she swam out to the rocks of Willsher Bay, and made Willsher very worried; the early settlers sometimes referred to her as a “Maori princess.”
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Haimona Rakiraki.

          

            

[image: Portrait of Haimona Rakiraki]
          

          
This was old Lakitap, who died at Port Molyneux in October, 1895. In the 1891 Parliamentary records he is shown as Haimona Rangireke. As a lad he escaped from Puoho at the Lakes, and was brought down to Molyneux by Haeareoa. When employed at the whaling station at Tautuku, he was disinclined to work on Sunday, so he was nicknamed Ratapu—a Maori name for Sunday. This was turned into Rakitapu, and then into Lakitap. He was a fine old type, and so long as he lived was regarded as the principal man. He claimed to be a Katimamoe.
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Tangata Huru.

          

            

[image: Portrait of Tangata Huru]
          

          
As the “ng” turns into a “k” in the southern dialect, he was known as Takata Huru. His name is given on some official documents at Rawiri Takata Huruhuru. Rawiri is Maori for David. During one of the early epidemics of measles, one cure was to eat a dog. He did so, and was one of the few that survived.
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Ihaia Potiki.

          

            

[image: Portrait of Ihaia Potiki]
          

          
A fine type of Maori, he was a descendant of the Potiki who signed the deed of sale of the Otago Block. Ihaia is his christening name—Isaiah. He was one of two sons, Ihaia and Henare. They were descendants of Taoka, the great fighting chief. In the 1891 records he had nine children—six girls and three boys. Emma Potiki and Tommy Potiki, son and daughter of Ihaia, still live at Karoro. Two others are alive—Jack Potiki, who lives at Te Puke, and Fanny, whose married name is Bryant, and who lives at Owaka. The late Mrs. G. S. Wilson was a daughter of Ihaia Potiki.
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Kingi Ruru.

          

            

[image: Portrait of Kingi Ruru]
          

          
He also was a Katimamoe, and was best known as “old King.” Until a few years ago, he was a well–known figure at Karoro. He and Jack Lakitap were the two who lingered longest on the scene as links with the past. In the records he is known as Kiniti Kuropohatu Ruru, and at one time was shown as owning 140 acres of land. As Edward King he had a small interest at Stewart Island. Sometimes Edward King is rendered Erueti Kinihi.
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Jack Rakiraki.

          

            

[image: Portrait of Jack Rakiraki]
          

          
Often known as Jack Lakatip, or Lakitap, he was the son of old Haimona. He was the father of the present Rakirakis. A son Ben (“Mingo”) is now at Heriot, while two daughters, Marion and Stella, still live at Karoro. Jack was shown on the official records as Puahu Rakiraki. This photograph shows Jack as a young man.
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Ben Rakiraki.

          
Sometimes known as Ben Lakatip, he was another son of old Haimona, being a brother of Jack.

          
Rora Rakiraki (Mrs. Clifford) and Kere Petimana Rakiraki are daughter and son of Ben Rakiraki, and are grandchildren of old Haimona. Ben's picture, as a boy, is shown in the picture of Makariri, page 23.
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Chapter XII.



Survey And Selection Of South Molyneux.

        

          
Coming after Tuckett, who made the exploratory survey of the Otago Block, Mr. C. H. Kettle was responsible for the definite survey of the area.

          
After working as a surveyor for the New Zealand Company in the Wellington and Hutt districts, he returned to England, and in 1845 he was appointed a surveyor to carry out the New Edinburgh surveys. He arrived in Otago on February 23, 1846. In 1851 he became Government Surveyor and Registrar of Deeds, and in 1854 took up a run in the Kaihiku district. In 1860 he was elected to the House of Representatives for the Bruce Electorate.

          


          
Kettle's first child was born on March 3, 1847, the first white girl born in Dunedin, and the second child. The first child born on the site of Dunedin was a boy, John Anderson, born at Pelichet Bay on December 10, 1846. He was well–known later as the greatly respected John Anderson, of “Carol,” Waiwera South.

          
Before leaving Wellington for Otago, Kettle advertised that “tenders are required for the survey of over 100,000 acres of land, chiefly unwooded, at New Edinburgh, at prices per acre, per ten acre, and per fifty acre sections …”

          
After a ten–day walk right down through the block from Port Chalmers to the Molyneux, Mr. Kettle decided to split the survey into five contracts.

          
The first contract: The land on the right of the river, including the areas now known at Molyneux, Balclutha, Inchclutha, Puerua, Kaihiku, and Waiwera. This block was allotted to Messrs. Wylie, Wills, and Jollie, a surveying partnership.

          
The second contract: The area between the Molyneux and the Tokomairiro Rivers. Surveyors: Messrs. Thomas and Harrison.

          
The third contract: Land between the Tokomairiro and Taieri Rivers, Waihola and Waipori. Surveyors: Messrs. Drake and Tully.

          
The fourth contract: North from the Taieri River, including the Taieri Plain. Surveyors: Messrs. Scrogg and Abbott.

          
The fifth contract: Anderson's Bay, the Otago Peninsula, and the Lower Kaikorai. Surveyor: Mr. Charlton.

          
The town of Dunedin had previously been surveyed by Messrs. Park and Davidson.

          
The South Molyneux surveyors—Edward Jollie, Andrew Wylie, and A. C. Wills—chartered a brig called the “Bee” in Wellington, and after calling at Port Chalmers, sailed for the Molyneux, but bad weather forced them to the Bluff for shelter. After two days there, they returned to Molyneux and landed in a heavy surf, with snow falling.

          
The North Molyneux survey party—Thomson and Harrison—also came by boat to Molyneux, which they used as a base.

          
The South Molyneux survey took the best part of a year, and was completed about the end of June, 1847.

        

        

          

            
First Sections Selected At Home.
          

          
All these sections were selected, either in London or Edinburgh, on November 16, 1847:—

          
Section 1, Block I, South Molyneux, 50 acres, selected by George Ross and Andrew Mercer. The land between the Lock Bridge and the other bridge. This section was the old Alexandra Hotel property. Now owned by Mrs. Shiels.

          


          
Section 3, Block I, South Molyneux, selected by John Brown and Sons. Now owned by Otago Presbyterian Church Board of Property, Dunedin. Now occupied by Mr. Aitkenhead.

          
Section 4, Block I, South Molyneux, 50 acres. Selected by John McDermid. Now occupied by Stanley McColl.

          
Section 5, Block I, South Molyneux, 50 acres. Selected by W. H. Cutten. Now occupied by George Watson.

          
Section 1, Block II, South Molyneux, 50 acres. Selected by David Garrick. Now occupied by Telford Tilson.

          
Section 2, Block II, South Molyneux, 50 acres. Selected by W. A. Mosley. Now occupied by Miss Bates.

          
Section 3, Block II, South Molyneux, 50 acres. Selected by Charles Smith. This is the section on which the township of Kaka Point commences.

          
It will be noticed that Section 2, Block I, is not included in the above list. Section 2 came between Sections 1 and 3, and obviously was the section on whcih the harbour end of the town was laid out.

        

        

          

            
The Memories Of A Pioneer.
          

          
Mr. John McNeil, the first man to settle on the Balclutha Flat, the first Mayor of Balclutha, and the first Chairman of the Clutha County Council, arrived in Otago in 1849. Here is his story of the first settlers: “In the spring of 1852 I was sent by my father to the Clutha with his cattle from Blanket Bay … on arriving at that part of the Clutha River where the town of Balclutha now stands, there was no habitation of any sort in sight. There were only a few people in the Clutha district then. On the south side of the Clutha Mr. Willsher was settled … He had brought a few cattle with him, which had increased to a considerable mob… There was also a Mr. Russell settled in Molyneux Bay. The first settlers were the late Mr. William Mosley and Mr. Burrell, who took up land near the mouth of the River. The next settlers were Mr. Fuller and Mr. George Hay, who settled at what is now called Romahapa. Alexander and Nathaniel Chalmers settled in the same locality about the same time. Thomas, Andrew, and Alexander Archibald were the next to settle. They took up land close to the Awikiki Bush, in the South Clutha district. Mr. Wallace and Mr. Andrew Mercer also settled about the same time in that locality… Mr. Thomas Redpath was the first to settle on Inchclutha. Mr. John Shaw settled shortly afterwards on the south bank of the river, opposite Mr. Redpath's place…”
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Coming after Tuckett, who made the exploratory survey of the Otago Block, Mr. C. H. Kettle was responsible for the definite survey of the area.

          
After working as a surveyor for the New Zealand Company in the Wellington and Hutt districts, he returned to England, and in 1845 he was appointed a surveyor to carry out the New Edinburgh surveys. He arrived in Otago on February 23, 1846. In 1851 he became Government Surveyor and Registrar of Deeds, and in 1854 took up a run in the Kaihiku district. In 1860 he was elected to the House of Representatives for the Bruce Electorate.

          


          
Kettle's first child was born on March 3, 1847, the first white girl born in Dunedin, and the second child. The first child born on the site of Dunedin was a boy, John Anderson, born at Pelichet Bay on December 10, 1846. He was well–known later as the greatly respected John Anderson, of “Carol,” Waiwera South.

          
Before leaving Wellington for Otago, Kettle advertised that “tenders are required for the survey of over 100,000 acres of land, chiefly unwooded, at New Edinburgh, at prices per acre, per ten acre, and per fifty acre sections …”

          
After a ten–day walk right down through the block from Port Chalmers to the Molyneux, Mr. Kettle decided to split the survey into five contracts.

          
The first contract: The land on the right of the river, including the areas now known at Molyneux, Balclutha, Inchclutha, Puerua, Kaihiku, and Waiwera. This block was allotted to Messrs. Wylie, Wills, and Jollie, a surveying partnership.

          
The second contract: The area between the Molyneux and the Tokomairiro Rivers. Surveyors: Messrs. Thomas and Harrison.

          
The third contract: Land between the Tokomairiro and Taieri Rivers, Waihola and Waipori. Surveyors: Messrs. Drake and Tully.

          
The fourth contract: North from the Taieri River, including the Taieri Plain. Surveyors: Messrs. Scrogg and Abbott.

          
The fifth contract: Anderson's Bay, the Otago Peninsula, and the Lower Kaikorai. Surveyor: Mr. Charlton.

          
The town of Dunedin had previously been surveyed by Messrs. Park and Davidson.

          
The South Molyneux surveyors—Edward Jollie, Andrew Wylie, and A. C. Wills—chartered a brig called the “Bee” in Wellington, and after calling at Port Chalmers, sailed for the Molyneux, but bad weather forced them to the Bluff for shelter. After two days there, they returned to Molyneux and landed in a heavy surf, with snow falling.

          
The North Molyneux survey party—Thomson and Harrison—also came by boat to Molyneux, which they used as a base.

          
The South Molyneux survey took the best part of a year, and was completed about the end of June, 1847.
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First Sections Selected At Home.
          

          
All these sections were selected, either in London or Edinburgh, on November 16, 1847:—

          
Section 1, Block I, South Molyneux, 50 acres, selected by George Ross and Andrew Mercer. The land between the Lock Bridge and the other bridge. This section was the old Alexandra Hotel property. Now owned by Mrs. Shiels.

          


          
Section 3, Block I, South Molyneux, selected by John Brown and Sons. Now owned by Otago Presbyterian Church Board of Property, Dunedin. Now occupied by Mr. Aitkenhead.

          
Section 4, Block I, South Molyneux, 50 acres. Selected by John McDermid. Now occupied by Stanley McColl.

          
Section 5, Block I, South Molyneux, 50 acres. Selected by W. H. Cutten. Now occupied by George Watson.

          
Section 1, Block II, South Molyneux, 50 acres. Selected by David Garrick. Now occupied by Telford Tilson.

          
Section 2, Block II, South Molyneux, 50 acres. Selected by W. A. Mosley. Now occupied by Miss Bates.

          
Section 3, Block II, South Molyneux, 50 acres. Selected by Charles Smith. This is the section on which the township of Kaka Point commences.

          
It will be noticed that Section 2, Block I, is not included in the above list. Section 2 came between Sections 1 and 3, and obviously was the section on whcih the harbour end of the town was laid out.
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The Memories Of A Pioneer.
          

          
Mr. John McNeil, the first man to settle on the Balclutha Flat, the first Mayor of Balclutha, and the first Chairman of the Clutha County Council, arrived in Otago in 1849. Here is his story of the first settlers: “In the spring of 1852 I was sent by my father to the Clutha with his cattle from Blanket Bay … on arriving at that part of the Clutha River where the town of Balclutha now stands, there was no habitation of any sort in sight. There were only a few people in the Clutha district then. On the south side of the Clutha Mr. Willsher was settled … He had brought a few cattle with him, which had increased to a considerable mob… There was also a Mr. Russell settled in Molyneux Bay. The first settlers were the late Mr. William Mosley and Mr. Burrell, who took up land near the mouth of the River. The next settlers were Mr. Fuller and Mr. George Hay, who settled at what is now called Romahapa. Alexander and Nathaniel Chalmers settled in the same locality about the same time. Thomas, Andrew, and Alexander Archibald were the next to settle. They took up land close to the Awikiki Bush, in the South Clutha district. Mr. Wallace and Mr. Andrew Mercer also settled about the same time in that locality… Mr. Thomas Redpath was the first to settle on Inchclutha. Mr. John Shaw settled shortly afterwards on the south bank of the river, opposite Mr. Redpath's place…”
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Chapter XIII.



The Church And The School.

        

          
A full account of the early activities of the Presbyterian Church is given in “Fifty Years Syne,” by the Rev. James Chisholm, and in “Reminiscences of the Early Settlement of South Otago,” by John Wilson.

          
The earliest record of christenings in the district is contained in the Rev. Charles Creed's diary, he having baptised five Maoris at Port Molyneux in 1847.

          

            

[image: Old School House at Port Molyneux.]
Old School House at Port Molyneux.


          

        

        

          

            
The Early Church At Puerua.
          

          
At a commemoration service held at Romahapa on March 10, 1940, a tablet was unveiled to mark the site of the first South Otago church.

          
Mr. M. Jackman gave some interesting details of this pioneer church. He said that the early settlers were glad to welcome the Rev. William Bannerman in 1854. In his earliest ministrations Mr. Bannerman covered the area now served by the Presbyteries of Clutha, Mataura, and Southland, from Waihola to Riverton.

          

“On his arrival in that extensive parish, Mr. Bannerman conducted his first service at Tokomairiro, his second on Inchclutha, where he lived for two years.”

          


          
“The first service conducted south of the Clutha River was held at Hilly Park, Romahapa. The congregation at that first service consisted of the Hays, Brughs, Mercer, G. Willsher, R. Christie, D. Dunn, Archibald, P. Ayson and son. Services were afterwards conducted at Mercer's Awakiki Bush.”

          
“In 1856 a church was built on a site presented by Mr. A. F. Burns. The men of the congregation went into the bush themselves and got to work. Mr. G. Hay and his son William pit–sawed the timber, Mr. Brugh and D. Dunn sledged it to the site, Mr. Archibald split the shingles, while Mr. William Hay and one of the Beggs cut the piles. Everybody turned–to to assist with the erection of the building. This building not only served as a church, but it also housed the schoolmaster and his pupils for a couple of years. It continued in use as a church until 1866.”


        

        

          

            
A Commemorative Tablet.
          

          
At the conclusion of this 1940 service the congregation moved about half a mile to the site of the first church. Here on the hillside amidst the kowhais and other remnants of native bush, a stone tablet had been placed to mark the site. The first church, though built so long ago, is still in use as a barn, and a flag hoisted upon it for the occasion fluttered vigorously in the strong breeze.

          
After prayer by the minister, the tablet was unveiled by two surviving daughters of the first minister, Mrs. Wilson and Mrs. Richards. The stone is a simple block bearing this inscription:—

          


“On this Site was Built the First Church


            
in South Clutha, 1856.


            
William Bannerman, Minister.”

            

        

        

          

            
Church Service At Port Molyneux.
          

          
In 1863 services were commenced at Port Molyneux in Thomson and Mailer's store. In 1865 a new church, which also served as a school, was opened, and continues in use as an Oddfellows’ Hall. (The illustration of this building is on page 58.) A new church was opened in 1875 by Dr. Stuart, of Dunedin. This church is the one now at Kaka Point, to which site it was removed in 1918.

        

        

          

            
The Beginnings Of Education.
          

          
As in all Scottish communities, the Church and the School went hand in hand. It is significant that at Inchclutha and Port Molyneux the pioneer buildings did the double duty of church and school.

          
By the courtesy of Mr. Carrington, Secretary of the Otago Education Board, access was given to the old records of the Board of Education set up by the Otago Provincial Council. But before the official schools started in 1858, Mr. William W. Waite, in 1853, had opened



in his own dwelling at Warepa a private school. Likewise at Port Molyneux Mr. J. Stevens had commenced teaching in a private house in 1863, two years before the school opened in 1865. This teacher, who was afterwards the Rev. John Stevens, of Papakaio, was one of the forerunners of the modern correspondence school, for Mr. Andrew Wylie informs me that Mr. Stevens would prepare and send to William and Mary Wylie, two children who had a long way to come, lessons that they could do at home.

          
Mr. Ayson was already teaching at Tokomairiro, but the report of the Board of Education dated September 30, 1857, states:—

          

“
Clutha—Buildings: None. Teacher: Vacant. Remarks: The committee have intimated that three sets of school buildings will be required—one in each of the three different localities within the district.”


          
Expenditure of £900 on the three schools was contemplated. Six months' salary to the three teachers was estimated to be £150, of which £30 would come from fees.

          
In the 1858 report there is mention of a School on Inchclutha and Side Schools at Warepa and South Clutha.

          
Out of the £900 appropriated for the district, £750 was allotted as follows: School buildings—Inchclutha, £300; South Clutha, £200; Warepa, £200; school fittings, £50—a total of £750. The yearly salaries were fixed at: Clutha, £100; Warepa, £100; South Clutha, £60.

        

        

          

            
The Inchclutha School.
          

          
From these early reports the following details are extracted: School established 1858. First teacher: A. Grigor, appointed 1858. The average attendances were: 1858, 12; 1864, 23; 1865, 26. The salary was £100 per annum.

          
A committee report of 1858 says: “Inchclutha School—Mr. Alexander Grigor, schoolmaster. A section of 50 acres of open land has been set apart, and 2 acres of bush… The school is at present accommodated in the church, in which there are plenty of forms and an excellent desk capable of accommodating 10 writers.” Attendance, five boys and seven girls.

          
In 1859, the average attendance was thirteen, but nine children having left the district, in the third quarter of the year the attendance was two boys and two girls. In 1860, the school boasts of “three desks and six forms,” and in one quarter the attendance was ten boys and seven girls. In 1861 the number present on the day of the inspector's visit was eleven.

          
To Mr. Grigor, fresh from the Homeland, the birds and the plants. were new, and in later years he used to recall that in the first week at the school he had only one pupil—James Willocks. The first week'



lessons consisted of the boy giving the teacher the names of the native birds and the forest trees, the teacher reciprocating by a description of the birds and beasts and trees of Britain. So in this practical way did education start on Inchclutha.

          
Apart from the bad roads—in some cases no roads at all—there were other difficulties outlined in the 1859 report: “The teachers experience no small hindrance in prosecuting their labours from the want of books and slate pencils and suitable copy books—a proper supply of which seems to be provided neither by the Government nor the merchants.”

        

        

          

            
The South Clutha Side School.
          

          
This was the school established at Puerua, which originally was held in the Romahapa building referred to by Mr. Jackman. The records show that it was established in 1858, and the average attendance was 14 that year; in 1859, 14; in 1860, started with 19, but dropped to 9; in 1861 the number present on the day of the inspector's visit was 13.

          
The first teacher was Mr. Brydone; Mr. D. 
McEwan was the teacher in 1860, Mr. A. 
McEwan being appointed in 1861. The salary was £80, half being found by the Board, the other half by the district.

        

        

          

            
Warepa Side School.
          

          
Following on the private school opened in 1853, the Side School was established in 1858, Mr. Waite continuing as teacher. The salary was the same as at South Clutha, £80 per annum. The average attendance was 12 in the first year; in the several quarters of 1859 it fluctuated from 16 to 9.

        

        

          

            
The Port Molyneux School.
          

          
In the year 1864, the Educational District of Clutha was divided into the four new districts of Inchclutha, East Clutha, Warepa, and Kaihiku. Schools are open at East Clutha (the old South Clutha), Inchclutha, Kaihiku, and Warepa.

          
In 1865 we find the first mention of the Port Molyneux School. This is the building illustrated on page 58, at which Mr. Wm. Paterson was a pupil. The permanent building was ready for use in that year, and Mr. Stevens was paid £130 per annum. The first year the average attendance was 11, and the number present on the last day was 17.

          
Successive teachers were J. Forbes, 1866; J. B. Hewitt, 1867; R. Wilson, 1868; G. Wilson, 1869; T. D. Thompson, 1870. The salary was sometimes £125 and sometimes £130.

        

        

          

            
The Native School at Karoro.
          

          
On that commanding position now occupied by the old school–house the first Native school was established. The first building was made of fern trees, with a clay floor. Like most early schools, it was half school and half dwelling.

          


          
The pupils consisted of three pakeha children—Mr. Charles Arthur was one of them—and a large number of Maori boys and girls.

          
The first teacher was Miss Jones, who afterwards married the Rev. G. B. Inglis.

          
Later a substantial school was built. This was called the Reomoana School, and served until the present school was opened on the site nearer Port Molyneux. The old school was given over to the Maoris for a dwelling house. Reomoana is not an old Maori place name, but one coined by the Education Department. Reo is voice, and moana the sea, and it is certainly a descriptive name, but it is a poor policy to put new names on old places, especially when suitable old names are available.
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[introduction]



          
A full account of the early activities of the Presbyterian Church is given in “Fifty Years Syne,” by the Rev. James Chisholm, and in “Reminiscences of the Early Settlement of South Otago,” by John Wilson.

          
The earliest record of christenings in the district is contained in the Rev. Charles Creed's diary, he having baptised five Maoris at Port Molyneux in 1847.
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The Early Church At Puerua.
          

          
At a commemoration service held at Romahapa on March 10, 1940, a tablet was unveiled to mark the site of the first South Otago church.

          
Mr. M. Jackman gave some interesting details of this pioneer church. He said that the early settlers were glad to welcome the Rev. William Bannerman in 1854. In his earliest ministrations Mr. Bannerman covered the area now served by the Presbyteries of Clutha, Mataura, and Southland, from Waihola to Riverton.

          

“On his arrival in that extensive parish, Mr. Bannerman conducted his first service at Tokomairiro, his second on Inchclutha, where he lived for two years.”

          


          
“The first service conducted south of the Clutha River was held at Hilly Park, Romahapa. The congregation at that first service consisted of the Hays, Brughs, Mercer, G. Willsher, R. Christie, D. Dunn, Archibald, P. Ayson and son. Services were afterwards conducted at Mercer's Awakiki Bush.”

          
“In 1856 a church was built on a site presented by Mr. A. F. Burns. The men of the congregation went into the bush themselves and got to work. Mr. G. Hay and his son William pit–sawed the timber, Mr. Brugh and D. Dunn sledged it to the site, Mr. Archibald split the shingles, while Mr. William Hay and one of the Beggs cut the piles. Everybody turned–to to assist with the erection of the building. This building not only served as a church, but it also housed the schoolmaster and his pupils for a couple of years. It continued in use as a church until 1866.”
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A Commemorative Tablet.
          

          
At the conclusion of this 1940 service the congregation moved about half a mile to the site of the first church. Here on the hillside amidst the kowhais and other remnants of native bush, a stone tablet had been placed to mark the site. The first church, though built so long ago, is still in use as a barn, and a flag hoisted upon it for the occasion fluttered vigorously in the strong breeze.

          
After prayer by the minister, the tablet was unveiled by two surviving daughters of the first minister, Mrs. Wilson and Mrs. Richards. The stone is a simple block bearing this inscription:—

          


“On this Site was Built the First Church


            
in South Clutha, 1856.


            
William Bannerman, Minister.”
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Church Service At Port Molyneux.
          

          
In 1863 services were commenced at Port Molyneux in Thomson and Mailer's store. In 1865 a new church, which also served as a school, was opened, and continues in use as an Oddfellows’ Hall. (The illustration of this building is on page 58.) A new church was opened in 1875 by Dr. Stuart, of Dunedin. This church is the one now at Kaka Point, to which site it was removed in 1918.
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The Beginnings Of Education.
          

          
As in all Scottish communities, the Church and the School went hand in hand. It is significant that at Inchclutha and Port Molyneux the pioneer buildings did the double duty of church and school.

          
By the courtesy of Mr. Carrington, Secretary of the Otago Education Board, access was given to the old records of the Board of Education set up by the Otago Provincial Council. But before the official schools started in 1858, Mr. William W. Waite, in 1853, had opened



in his own dwelling at Warepa a private school. Likewise at Port Molyneux Mr. J. Stevens had commenced teaching in a private house in 1863, two years before the school opened in 1865. This teacher, who was afterwards the Rev. John Stevens, of Papakaio, was one of the forerunners of the modern correspondence school, for Mr. Andrew Wylie informs me that Mr. Stevens would prepare and send to William and Mary Wylie, two children who had a long way to come, lessons that they could do at home.

          
Mr. Ayson was already teaching at Tokomairiro, but the report of the Board of Education dated September 30, 1857, states:—

          

“
Clutha—Buildings: None. Teacher: Vacant. Remarks: The committee have intimated that three sets of school buildings will be required—one in each of the three different localities within the district.”


          
Expenditure of £900 on the three schools was contemplated. Six months' salary to the three teachers was estimated to be £150, of which £30 would come from fees.

          
In the 1858 report there is mention of a School on Inchclutha and Side Schools at Warepa and South Clutha.

          
Out of the £900 appropriated for the district, £750 was allotted as follows: School buildings—Inchclutha, £300; South Clutha, £200; Warepa, £200; school fittings, £50—a total of £750. The yearly salaries were fixed at: Clutha, £100; Warepa, £100; South Clutha, £60.
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The Inchclutha School.
          

          
From these early reports the following details are extracted: School established 1858. First teacher: A. Grigor, appointed 1858. The average attendances were: 1858, 12; 1864, 23; 1865, 26. The salary was £100 per annum.

          
A committee report of 1858 says: “Inchclutha School—Mr. Alexander Grigor, schoolmaster. A section of 50 acres of open land has been set apart, and 2 acres of bush… The school is at present accommodated in the church, in which there are plenty of forms and an excellent desk capable of accommodating 10 writers.” Attendance, five boys and seven girls.

          
In 1859, the average attendance was thirteen, but nine children having left the district, in the third quarter of the year the attendance was two boys and two girls. In 1860, the school boasts of “three desks and six forms,” and in one quarter the attendance was ten boys and seven girls. In 1861 the number present on the day of the inspector's visit was eleven.

          
To Mr. Grigor, fresh from the Homeland, the birds and the plants. were new, and in later years he used to recall that in the first week at the school he had only one pupil—James Willocks. The first week'



lessons consisted of the boy giving the teacher the names of the native birds and the forest trees, the teacher reciprocating by a description of the birds and beasts and trees of Britain. So in this practical way did education start on Inchclutha.

          
Apart from the bad roads—in some cases no roads at all—there were other difficulties outlined in the 1859 report: “The teachers experience no small hindrance in prosecuting their labours from the want of books and slate pencils and suitable copy books—a proper supply of which seems to be provided neither by the Government nor the merchants.”
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The South Clutha Side School.
          

          
This was the school established at Puerua, which originally was held in the Romahapa building referred to by Mr. Jackman. The records show that it was established in 1858, and the average attendance was 14 that year; in 1859, 14; in 1860, started with 19, but dropped to 9; in 1861 the number present on the day of the inspector's visit was 13.

          
The first teacher was Mr. Brydone; Mr. D. 
McEwan was the teacher in 1860, Mr. A. 
McEwan being appointed in 1861. The salary was £80, half being found by the Board, the other half by the district.
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Warepa Side School.
          

          
Following on the private school opened in 1853, the Side School was established in 1858, Mr. Waite continuing as teacher. The salary was the same as at South Clutha, £80 per annum. The average attendance was 12 in the first year; in the several quarters of 1859 it fluctuated from 16 to 9.
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The Port Molyneux School.
          

          
In the year 1864, the Educational District of Clutha was divided into the four new districts of Inchclutha, East Clutha, Warepa, and Kaihiku. Schools are open at East Clutha (the old South Clutha), Inchclutha, Kaihiku, and Warepa.

          
In 1865 we find the first mention of the Port Molyneux School. This is the building illustrated on page 58, at which Mr. Wm. Paterson was a pupil. The permanent building was ready for use in that year, and Mr. Stevens was paid £130 per annum. The first year the average attendance was 11, and the number present on the last day was 17.

          
Successive teachers were J. Forbes, 1866; J. B. Hewitt, 1867; R. Wilson, 1868; G. Wilson, 1869; T. D. Thompson, 1870. The salary was sometimes £125 and sometimes £130.
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The Native School at Karoro.
          

          
On that commanding position now occupied by the old school–house the first Native school was established. The first building was made of fern trees, with a clay floor. Like most early schools, it was half school and half dwelling.

          


          
The pupils consisted of three pakeha children—Mr. Charles Arthur was one of them—and a large number of Maori boys and girls.

          
The first teacher was Miss Jones, who afterwards married the Rev. G. B. Inglis.

          
Later a substantial school was built. This was called the Reomoana School, and served until the present school was opened on the site nearer Port Molyneux. The old school was given over to the Maoris for a dwelling house. Reomoana is not an old Maori place name, but one coined by the Education Department. Reo is voice, and moana the sea, and it is certainly a descriptive name, but it is a poor policy to put new names on old places, especially when suitable old names are available.
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Chapter XIV.



The Rise and Decline of the Port.

        

          
In the “fifties” and “sixties” such roads as there were in South Otago all lead to Port Molyneux. An outstanding example still exists in the hairpin bend on the Main Highway at Mr. Jackman's residence at Romahapa. To–day it is an awkward corner for cars going from Balclutha to Owaka, but when the roads were made no one visualised that “the Port” would cease to be the centre of the South Otago world.
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Until late in the “seventies,” when the railway came to Stirling and then across the river to Balclutha, all produce from the Kaitangata and Inchclutha district went down the river by boat to Port. Molyneux.

        

        

          

            
Good Land, But A Bad Harbour.
          

          
Tuckett had no delusions about the value of Molyneux Harbour. In a letter dated Otakou, August 16, 1844, written to Dr. Hodgkinson, Tuckett gives a glowing account of land, but is not satisfied with the river entrance: “The Matau district alone would afford all the land required for the settlement, and there I would have established it could I have entered the Matau with the schooner. But without the aid of steam power, neither this nor the other principal rivers on the East Coast can be entered. Here there is rather more than 12ft. of water at low water on the bar. No vessel can remain in the Bay with an easterly wind. With the aid of a steam tug, I consider it perfectly available and eligible for vessels drawing 15ft. of water.”

        

        

          

            
Sailing Down to the Port.
          

          
In all new countries rivers are naturally the main highways. The Clutha River was navigable for many miles, up to Tuapeka Mouth, while the Matau and the Koau branches served Inchclutha, Kaitangata, South Molyneux, and Otanomomo.

          
The young men of the day remember what heavy work it was—quite easy sailing down with the current, but a very heavy pull back against the stream. Here is a description of the river inside the bar: “The harbour formed a wide stretch of water 300 or 400 yards wide and stretching away up river towards the junction. It was a beautiful and animating sight to see as many as six or eight ships unloading or loading, others lying at anchor waiting their turn to unload, or to get a wind to carry them up the river to Kaitangata.” The principal exports from the district were grain and potatoes, and sometimes a cargo of black pine sleepers. There were no waterside workers; the members of the crews doing all the loading and unloading.

        

        

          

            
Little Ships—And Shipwrecks.
          

          
Early newspaper records disclose the names of some of these early ships. On February 18, 1849, we learn that the cutter “Catherine Johnstone,” 10 tons, and the cutter “Mercury” left Otago Harbour for the Molyneux. In March, 1849, the “Jumping Jackass” arrived at the Port with George Hay, his wife, and family. Other cutters mentioned in this month are the “Catherine Johnstone” and the “Mercury.” In 1852 we find mention of the schooner “Endeavour” (Captain Sinclair) bringing the Mosleys to their selection on Inchclutha. The schooner “star,” Captain Blackie, is mentioned in 1856. In 1857,
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the “Endeavour,” a schooner known as the pioneer of the coastal trading fleet, was wrecked. The paddle steamer “Ada” suffered likewise in 1861.

          
The month of September, 1861, was a black one for the trading schooners, no less than three becoming total wrecks at Molyneux—the “Pioneer,” the “Ann Jane,” and the “Margaret.”

          
A paddle steamer, the Tairoa, 51 tons, was specially built for the Molyneux by Mr. Edward McGlashan in 1865. On May 27, 1871, “the master committed an error of judgment in entering the river after dark and against the ebb tide.” The vessel became a total loss.

          
Other vessels mentioned are the “Wallace,” Captain Edie, who stowed grain “in the hold, on the deck, and even in the cabin”; the “Storm Bird,” in command of Captain C. Fraser; and the “Lady of the Lake,” a steamer of 80 tons, which on December 29, 1876, became a total wreck in Molyneux Bay.

          
On more important occasions the s.s. “Geelong” came from Dunedin. In her travelled Captain Cargill on his famous visit to the river, when the settlers failed to appear, much to the disgust of the Superintendent of the Province!

          
On May 15, 1878, the schooner “Lloyd's Herald,” sailing from Catlins River to Port Molyneux, was wrecked in Willsher Bay.

        

        

          

            
Steamers On The River.
          

          
In an attempt to open up trade with the goldfields, the first steamer for up–river traffic, the “Tuapeka,” Captain Murray, reached Port Molyneux on August 11, 1863. She made trips as far as Tuapeka Mouth. In 1867, Sir George Grey, the Governor, used her to travel on the river, visiting Port Molyneux and the coalfields at Kaitangata.

          
The next steamer was not a success. The “Clutha” was a side paddle boat and was built at Clydevale in 1871. It is said that her engine was taken from a steam plough used at Clydevale.

          
The real successor to the “Tuapeka” was the “Balclutha.” The engine was taken out of the “Tuapeka” and put in the “Balclutha.” She was built at Port Molyneux, “opposite the Brick Cottage,” by Mr. Robert Mason from Dunedin.

          
The succeeding ships were the “Iona,” the “Matau,” and the “Clyde,” and the present steamer, the “Clutha.”

        

        

          

            
The Town Of Port Molyneux.
          

          
An elaborate plan of the Port Molyneux township is preserved in the office of the Clutha County Council. The main part of the town was on both sides of that road which now leads from the old jetty up to Romahapa. This street was called Pendennis Street. About



60 chains up the present main road, the layout culminated in an elaborate octagon, which ran round the area on which Mr. Andrew Wylie's house now stands.

          
The first road to the left was known as Flatholm Street, and this now serves as the road to Kaka Point and the Nuggets. Very few of the old sections are now distinguishable, the area now being grazing land.
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A Description Of The Town.
          

          
We are fortunate in that some years ago Mr. William Paterson set down details of the Port Molyneux in its heyday. With the help of the view printed on page 64, this description by Mr. Paterson enables us to visualise the Port Molyneux of the “sixties,” before the great flood of 1878 finally wrote “Ichabod” over the port:—

          

“When we went to Port Molyneux in 1863 it was a busy place. Standing on the jetty looking up the main road (Pendennis Street) on the left–hand side going up towards Balclutha, next the jetty was Allan Gault's timber yard, and the remains of Scott's shanty, where it is said they sold something stronger than tea. Going up Pendennis Street, the first building on the left was Allan Gault's ironmongery shop, now Adam Paterson's dwelling house. Next to that was Thomson and Mailler's general store; Robert Miller bought them out about 1865; then he failed, and my father (James Paterson) took over



the business about 1866, and now it is my brother Adam A. Paterson's shop. The next building, about two chains further up the street, was R. L. Begg's general store. I think about 1870 my father bought him out. The old building of R. L. Begg's was for many years used as the hall; it was later removed, and is now a barn and stable on a farm. Next to R. L. Begg's was the Government bond, in charge of Edmund Rich, Customs officer, a son–in–law of Major Richardson. A little further up was Walter Nicol's dwelling house. He was a carpenter. That was all on the left–hand side.

          
“Then back again to the jetty on the right–hand side, over near the Puerua River, was A. C. Begg's big general store and grain and wool shed. Between that and the Main Road was the Alexandra Hotel. Sockley was the first landlord, then Ancell, and then John Paterson (he was no relation of ours). Between the Alexandra Hotel and the Main Road was the police office and lockup—Albert was the policeman.

          
“We are now back to Pendennis Street. The first building on the right–hand side was Brewer and Levison's general store, late William Brown and Co., and somewhere about 1870 was bought out by my father, who removed the stock to his own shop. The old building was transformed into a residence, and for many years John L. Wylie lived in it. In later years the building was removed to Puerua, and was my home for many years. It was built at Port in 1861. Behind the shop, in two small huts, was a butcher and a painter and paperhanger.

          
“Farther up Pendennis Street was the Commercial Hotel. Robert McLay was proprietor, afterwards John Hartley Jenkinson. Next to the Commercial Hotel was John Colvin, carpenter, then Dan. McIntosh's blacksmith shop, and next his dwelling place. Then a little farther up, C. Finlayson, bootmaker, afterwards W. Glass.

          
At the top of the street, on the point of the ridge, was the old building, the first school and church. I attended the school as a boy when the school was first opened; we had no desks, and we had to go down on our knees and write on the forms. That building is now the Oddfellows’ Lodge, M.U.I.O.O.F. It was removed to its present position about 1874.

          
“What a change has taken place! Of all those buildings I have mentioned, only Allan Gault', Thomson and Mailer',

* Walter Nicol's and the Lodge Room remain. And my brother Adam is the only one left alive of those who were in Port Molyneux in 1854.

          


          
“The stern–wheel steamer “Tuapeka,” Captain Murray, reached Port Molyneux on August 11, 1863. John Brown was signal master at the pilot station at the mouth of the river.”


          

            

[image: Early Fishing Days at the Nuggets before the Breakwater was built.]
Early Fishing Days at the Nuggets before the Breakwater was built.


          

        

        

          

            
An “Octagon” That Was Not To Be.
          

          
“The best laid schemes … gang aft agley.” The Big Flood in the river in 1878 broke two new mouths through the sandspit—one at the Kaitangata end and one in the centre. The water scouring out these two new outlets caused the silting up of the old mouth. About the same time the railway to Balclutha from Dunedin was opened. So the glory of Port Molyneux diminished. In the few scattered buildings and the open paddocks of to–day it is hard to realise the old township, all laid out in small sections just as for Dunedin, with Pendennis Street as Stuart Street, and up at the top of Pendennis Street a Port Molyneux Octagon. To–day cows graze on a paddock which was designed to be the centre of a busy town. And the piles of the old jetty now stick up boldly enough just about two feet higher than the level of the dry land.

          
To–day Port Molyneux is neither a port nor a town. But a little farther on is Kaka Point, a summer resort which grows in popularity.

          
And the sports meeting held on New Year's Day at the Willsher Bay Domain is perhaps the oldest and most successful function of its



kind in New Zealand. Generation after generation has gone there on New Year's Day—first in sledges, then in drays and traps, and now in motor cars. Here, where in 1841 Willsher and Russell spent a very lonely New Year, one hundred years afterwards a thousand motor cars arrive from fifty miles away, and get home again that night. One wonders what John Tuhawaiki would think of it all. But most likely his thoughts would be with the soldier boy in Egypt.

        

      



* The Thomson of Thomson and Mailer was the Hon. J. W. Thomson, a member of the Provincial Council and later member of Parliament for Clutha. His son, Mr W. S. Thomson, is at present Chairman of the Clutha County Council.
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In the “fifties” and “sixties” such roads as there were in South Otago all lead to Port Molyneux. An outstanding example still exists in the hairpin bend on the Main Highway at Mr. Jackman's residence at Romahapa. To–day it is an awkward corner for cars going from Balclutha to Owaka, but when the roads were made no one visualised that “the Port” would cease to be the centre of the South Otago world.
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Shipping at Port Molyneux jetty.


          

          


          
Until late in the “seventies,” when the railway came to Stirling and then across the river to Balclutha, all produce from the Kaitangata and Inchclutha district went down the river by boat to Port. Molyneux.
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Good Land, But A Bad Harbour.
          

          
Tuckett had no delusions about the value of Molyneux Harbour. In a letter dated Otakou, August 16, 1844, written to Dr. Hodgkinson, Tuckett gives a glowing account of land, but is not satisfied with the river entrance: “The Matau district alone would afford all the land required for the settlement, and there I would have established it could I have entered the Matau with the schooner. But without the aid of steam power, neither this nor the other principal rivers on the East Coast can be entered. Here there is rather more than 12ft. of water at low water on the bar. No vessel can remain in the Bay with an easterly wind. With the aid of a steam tug, I consider it perfectly available and eligible for vessels drawing 15ft. of water.”

        








Victoria University of Wellington Library




Port Molyneux : the story of Maori and pakeha in South Otago : a centennial history : commemorating the landing of George Willsher and his companions at Willsher Bay, June 28, 1840 : with a programme for the unveiling of the centennial cairn, erected by the Clutha County Council, June 28, 1940

Sailing Down to the Port



          

            
Sailing Down to the Port.
          

          
In all new countries rivers are naturally the main highways. The Clutha River was navigable for many miles, up to Tuapeka Mouth, while the Matau and the Koau branches served Inchclutha, Kaitangata, South Molyneux, and Otanomomo.

          
The young men of the day remember what heavy work it was—quite easy sailing down with the current, but a very heavy pull back against the stream. Here is a description of the river inside the bar: “The harbour formed a wide stretch of water 300 or 400 yards wide and stretching away up river towards the junction. It was a beautiful and animating sight to see as many as six or eight ships unloading or loading, others lying at anchor waiting their turn to unload, or to get a wind to carry them up the river to Kaitangata.” The principal exports from the district were grain and potatoes, and sometimes a cargo of black pine sleepers. There were no waterside workers; the members of the crews doing all the loading and unloading.
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Little Ships—And Shipwrecks.
          

          
Early newspaper records disclose the names of some of these early ships. On February 18, 1849, we learn that the cutter “Catherine Johnstone,” 10 tons, and the cutter “Mercury” left Otago Harbour for the Molyneux. In March, 1849, the “Jumping Jackass” arrived at the Port with George Hay, his wife, and family. Other cutters mentioned in this month are the “Catherine Johnstone” and the “Mercury.” In 1852 we find mention of the schooner “Endeavour” (Captain Sinclair) bringing the Mosleys to their selection on Inchclutha. The schooner “star,” Captain Blackie, is mentioned in 1856. In 1857,





[image: Early View of Port Molyneux.]
Early View of Port Molyneux.





the “Endeavour,” a schooner known as the pioneer of the coastal trading fleet, was wrecked. The paddle steamer “Ada” suffered likewise in 1861.

          
The month of September, 1861, was a black one for the trading schooners, no less than three becoming total wrecks at Molyneux—the “Pioneer,” the “Ann Jane,” and the “Margaret.”

          
A paddle steamer, the Tairoa, 51 tons, was specially built for the Molyneux by Mr. Edward McGlashan in 1865. On May 27, 1871, “the master committed an error of judgment in entering the river after dark and against the ebb tide.” The vessel became a total loss.

          
Other vessels mentioned are the “Wallace,” Captain Edie, who stowed grain “in the hold, on the deck, and even in the cabin”; the “Storm Bird,” in command of Captain C. Fraser; and the “Lady of the Lake,” a steamer of 80 tons, which on December 29, 1876, became a total wreck in Molyneux Bay.

          
On more important occasions the s.s. “Geelong” came from Dunedin. In her travelled Captain Cargill on his famous visit to the river, when the settlers failed to appear, much to the disgust of the Superintendent of the Province!

          
On May 15, 1878, the schooner “Lloyd's Herald,” sailing from Catlins River to Port Molyneux, was wrecked in Willsher Bay.
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Steamers On The River.
          

          
In an attempt to open up trade with the goldfields, the first steamer for up–river traffic, the “Tuapeka,” Captain Murray, reached Port Molyneux on August 11, 1863. She made trips as far as Tuapeka Mouth. In 1867, Sir George Grey, the Governor, used her to travel on the river, visiting Port Molyneux and the coalfields at Kaitangata.

          
The next steamer was not a success. The “Clutha” was a side paddle boat and was built at Clydevale in 1871. It is said that her engine was taken from a steam plough used at Clydevale.

          
The real successor to the “Tuapeka” was the “Balclutha.” The engine was taken out of the “Tuapeka” and put in the “Balclutha.” She was built at Port Molyneux, “opposite the Brick Cottage,” by Mr. Robert Mason from Dunedin.

          
The succeeding ships were the “Iona,” the “Matau,” and the “Clyde,” and the present steamer, the “Clutha.”
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The Town Of Port Molyneux.
          

          
An elaborate plan of the Port Molyneux township is preserved in the office of the Clutha County Council. The main part of the town was on both sides of that road which now leads from the old jetty up to Romahapa. This street was called Pendennis Street. About



60 chains up the present main road, the layout culminated in an elaborate octagon, which ran round the area on which Mr. Andrew Wylie's house now stands.

          
The first road to the left was known as Flatholm Street, and this now serves as the road to Kaka Point and the Nuggets. Very few of the old sections are now distinguishable, the area now being grazing land.
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Horse and Buggy Days: Picnic Party at Karoro Creek.
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A Description Of The Town.
          

          
We are fortunate in that some years ago Mr. William Paterson set down details of the Port Molyneux in its heyday. With the help of the view printed on page 64, this description by Mr. Paterson enables us to visualise the Port Molyneux of the “sixties,” before the great flood of 1878 finally wrote “Ichabod” over the port:—

          

“When we went to Port Molyneux in 1863 it was a busy place. Standing on the jetty looking up the main road (Pendennis Street) on the left–hand side going up towards Balclutha, next the jetty was Allan Gault's timber yard, and the remains of Scott's shanty, where it is said they sold something stronger than tea. Going up Pendennis Street, the first building on the left was Allan Gault's ironmongery shop, now Adam Paterson's dwelling house. Next to that was Thomson and Mailler's general store; Robert Miller bought them out about 1865; then he failed, and my father (James Paterson) took over



the business about 1866, and now it is my brother Adam A. Paterson's shop. The next building, about two chains further up the street, was R. L. Begg's general store. I think about 1870 my father bought him out. The old building of R. L. Begg's was for many years used as the hall; it was later removed, and is now a barn and stable on a farm. Next to R. L. Begg's was the Government bond, in charge of Edmund Rich, Customs officer, a son–in–law of Major Richardson. A little further up was Walter Nicol's dwelling house. He was a carpenter. That was all on the left–hand side.

          
“Then back again to the jetty on the right–hand side, over near the Puerua River, was A. C. Begg's big general store and grain and wool shed. Between that and the Main Road was the Alexandra Hotel. Sockley was the first landlord, then Ancell, and then John Paterson (he was no relation of ours). Between the Alexandra Hotel and the Main Road was the police office and lockup—Albert was the policeman.

          
“We are now back to Pendennis Street. The first building on the right–hand side was Brewer and Levison's general store, late William Brown and Co., and somewhere about 1870 was bought out by my father, who removed the stock to his own shop. The old building was transformed into a residence, and for many years John L. Wylie lived in it. In later years the building was removed to Puerua, and was my home for many years. It was built at Port in 1861. Behind the shop, in two small huts, was a butcher and a painter and paperhanger.

          
“Farther up Pendennis Street was the Commercial Hotel. Robert McLay was proprietor, afterwards John Hartley Jenkinson. Next to the Commercial Hotel was John Colvin, carpenter, then Dan. McIntosh's blacksmith shop, and next his dwelling place. Then a little farther up, C. Finlayson, bootmaker, afterwards W. Glass.

          
At the top of the street, on the point of the ridge, was the old building, the first school and church. I attended the school as a boy when the school was first opened; we had no desks, and we had to go down on our knees and write on the forms. That building is now the Oddfellows’ Lodge, M.U.I.O.O.F. It was removed to its present position about 1874.

          
“What a change has taken place! Of all those buildings I have mentioned, only Allan Gault', Thomson and Mailer',

* Walter Nicol's and the Lodge Room remain. And my brother Adam is the only one left alive of those who were in Port Molyneux in 1854.

          


          
“The stern–wheel steamer “Tuapeka,” Captain Murray, reached Port Molyneux on August 11, 1863. John Brown was signal master at the pilot station at the mouth of the river.”
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Early Fishing Days at the Nuggets before the Breakwater was built.
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An “Octagon” That Was Not To Be.
          

          
“The best laid schemes … gang aft agley.” The Big Flood in the river in 1878 broke two new mouths through the sandspit—one at the Kaitangata end and one in the centre. The water scouring out these two new outlets caused the silting up of the old mouth. About the same time the railway to Balclutha from Dunedin was opened. So the glory of Port Molyneux diminished. In the few scattered buildings and the open paddocks of to–day it is hard to realise the old township, all laid out in small sections just as for Dunedin, with Pendennis Street as Stuart Street, and up at the top of Pendennis Street a Port Molyneux Octagon. To–day cows graze on a paddock which was designed to be the centre of a busy town. And the piles of the old jetty now stick up boldly enough just about two feet higher than the level of the dry land.

          
To–day Port Molyneux is neither a port nor a town. But a little farther on is Kaka Point, a summer resort which grows in popularity.

          
And the sports meeting held on New Year's Day at the Willsher Bay Domain is perhaps the oldest and most successful function of its



kind in New Zealand. Generation after generation has gone there on New Year's Day—first in sledges, then in drays and traps, and now in motor cars. Here, where in 1841 Willsher and Russell spent a very lonely New Year, one hundred years afterwards a thousand motor cars arrive from fifty miles away, and get home again that night. One wonders what John Tuhawaiki would think of it all. But most likely his thoughts would be with the soldier boy in Egypt.
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Chapter XV.



A Port Molyneux Diary.

        

	
            
1774, March 4—Cook discovered Molyneux Harbour.

          

	
            
1792-First sealing gang at Dusky Sound.

          

	
            
1829-Shore whaling station established at Preservation.

          

	
            
1830, January—Morrell visits Molyneux Harbour.

          

	
            
1838—Whaling station at Molyneux.

          

	
            
1839—In a whaleboat, William Palmer, whaler, ascends river as far as Tuapeka Mouth.

          

	
            
1840, January—Tuhawaiki sells land to Jones in Sydney.

          

	
            
1840, February 6—Treaty of Waitangi signed at Bay of Islands.

          

	
            
1840, June 17—British sovereignty proclaimed at Stewart Island.

          

	
            
1840, June 28—Willsher and companions, land at Willsher Bay.

          

	
            
1843—Wairau affair in which Captain Wakefield and 21 other pakehas were killed.

          

	
            
1844, May 6—Tuckett visits Molyneux to inspect land and harbour.

          

	
            
1844, May 6—Barnicoat and Davis survey Molyneux Bay.

          

	
            
1844, July—Colonel Wakefield and Clarke visit Karoro to define southern boundary of block.

          

	
            
1844, July 31—Otago Block purchased.

          

	
            
1846, May—Jollie, Wylie, and Mills survey South Molyneux Block.

          

	
            
1847, April 16—Rev. C. Creed baptises five Maoris at Molyneux.

          

	
            
1847, November 16—South Molyneux sections selected in Britain.

          

	
            
1849, February 18—Cutter “Catherine Johnston” (10 tons) leaves Otago Harbour for Molyneux.

          

	
            
1849, March—George Hay, with wife and family, arrive at Molyneux Bay in the “Jumping Jackass.”

          

	
            
1849—Redpath settles on Inchclutha.

          

	
            
1849—Mosleys settle at mouth of Clutha.

          

	
            
1850—H.M.S. Acheron surveys the southern coast.

          

	
            
1850—Archibald Anderson leased North Molyneux run. Edwin Meredith establishes sheep station at Otanomomo, and shears first sheep in district.

          



	
            
1851, February 8—
Otago Witness first published.

          

	
            
1852—James McNeil is first settler on present site of Balclutha.

          

	
            
1852—McNeil brings two boats by sea from Dunedin to Port Molyneux and starts ferry at Balclutha.

          

	
            
1852—Otago Provincial Council opened. Archibald Anderson elected Clutha representative.

          

	
            
1853—Peter Ayson settles at Warepa.

          

	
            
1854, February—Rev. W. Bannerman took over district south of Waihola Lake. First lived at Inchclutha.

          

	
            
1854, March 19—First church service in South Otago at Mr. George Hay's residence, Hilly Park.

          

	
            
1855—First private school opened at Warepa. Teacher, Mr. Waite.

          

	
            
1855—Messrs. Shaw and Anderson elected to Provincial Council.

          

	
            
1857—George Willsher takes up another 50 acres.

          

	
            
1858—Thomas Redpath establishes at Otanomomo first store in Clutha district.

          

	
            
1858—Alex. Grigor, first public school teacher, commences at Inchclutha.

          

	
            
1857, January 17—Wreck of “Endeavour” at Molyneux.

          

	
            
1857—First doctor in South Otago (Dr. Manning) settled at Warepa.

          

	
            
1858, October 23—Molyneux coal successfully tried by Captain John McLean, s.s. “White Swan.”

          

	
            
1859—Willsher sells fifty head of cattle at Balclutha.

          

	
            
1861—Wreck of p.s. “Ada” at Molyneux. Three schooners also wrecked.

          

	
            
1861—C. H. Kettle and T. B. Gillies elected M.H.R.'s for Bruce.

          

	
            
1861—First punt put on ferry at Balclutha.

          

	
            
1861, December 5—Port Molyneux declared a Port of Entry.

          

	
            
1861, June 4—Gabriel Read reports the discovery of goldfield.

          

	
            
1862, July 13—Andrew Wilson murdered at Molyneux.

          

	
            
1863, April 30—Stern–wheel steamer “Tuapeka” launched at Port Chalmers. August 11—“Tuapeka” placed on Molyneux. Steamed up to Tuapeka Mouth.

          

	
            
1863—Somervilles established flour mill at Waitepeka.

          

	
            
1864, April 16—
Bruce Herald issued.

          

	
            
1864, May 19—Port of Molyneux declared a Warehousing Port, and one for the importation of tobacco.

          

	
            
1864—Rev. James Kirkland commences preaching at Inchclutha.

          

	
            
1864, July—Black sand on beach being worked for gold.

          

	
            
1866—James Macandrew elected M.H. R. for Clutha.

          

	
            
1866, January 10—Big flood in Clutha River.

          

	
            
1866, May—Port Molyneux ceases to be a Port of Entry.

          

	
            
1866—Somervilles, Waitepeka, operate first portable threshing mill.

          

	
            
1866, September 10—Death of Thomas Russell at Dunedin.

          



	
            
1867, March 11—Loyal address read by Mr. George Hay to Sir George Grey on his visit to Port Molyneux.

          

	
            
1867, April 11—Wreck of s.s. “South Australia” near Coal Point.

          

	
            
1868, January 9—Clutha A. and P. Society first show.

          

	
            
1868, October 8—Opening of traffic bridge at Balclutha.

          

	
            
1869, March 9—Tender for Nuggets lighthouse accepted.

          

	
            
1870, June 22—Gazette notice that Nuggets light will be exhibited from July 4, 1870.

          

	
            
1871, February 1—J. W. Thomson succeeds Macandrew as M.H.R. for Clutha.

          

	
            
1871, March 18—First sod Dunedin–Clutha Railway turned by Sir George Bowen at Kensington.

          

	
            
1871, April 3—Steamer “Clutha” launched at Pomahaka.

          

	
            
1872, April 29—Opening of Kaitangata coalmine.

          

	
            
1874, January 1—Wreck of “Surat” at Catlins River.

          

	
            
1874, July 9—
Clutha Leader issued.

          

	
            
1874, Otago District Engineer advises on Railway branch line to Port Molyneux.

          

	
            
1875—Clutha River Conservators Board Act passed.

          

	
            
1875, April 5—Launch of stern–wheel steamer “Balclutha” at Port Molyneux.

          

	
            
1875, June 18—First sod Kaitangata Railway turned by Sir John Richardson.

          

	
            
1875, September 1—Railway from Dunedin to Clutha River opened. S.S. “Balclutha” took passengers across river.

          

	
            
1875, December 28—Wreck of “Lady of the Lake” at Campbell's Creek.

          

	
            
1876, January 12—First meeting of Clutha River Board.

          

	
            
1876, June 16—Kaitangata Branch Railway opened.

          

	
            
1876, December 14—Matau bridge over Clutha opened.

          

	
            
1878, July—Severest winter yet known in South Otago.

          

	
            
1878, September 24—Balclutha flooded.

          

	
            
1878, October 14—Clutha River Traffic Bridge destroyed in flood.

          

	
            
1878—Railway Traffic Bridge completed

          

	
            
1879, January 28—Official opening of Railway to Balclutha.

          

	
            
1879, February 21—Disastrous explosion in Kaitangata mine. 34 killed.

          

	
            
1881, November 14—New traffic bridge over Clutha River at Balclutha opened.

          


        

          

            
Erratum.
          

          

	
              
Page 34, line 32. For “mother” read “second wife.”

            


          


        

        

          

            
The Clutha County Council.
          

          
The Clutha County Council came into being on the passing of the Counties Act, 1876.

          
The first election of members took place on December 22, 1876.

        

        

          

            
Members Of First Council, 1876.
          

          
Waipahi Riding: F. W. Mackenzie. Richardson Riding: John McNeil. Clinton Riding: Jas. Scott. Pomahaka Riding: Wm. Dallas. South Molyneux Riding: Donald Henderson. Brugh Riding: Fitzclarence Roberts.

          
County Clerk: Wm. Henderson. County Engineer: Matthew Paterson.

        

        

          

            
Members Of Council, Centennial Year, 1940.
          

          
Catlins Riding: T. Maginness. Maclennan Riding: J. K. Ross. Clinton Riding: Adam T. Harris. Clydevale Riding: A. V. King. Clutha Riding: J. W. Dunn. Glenkenich: Robt. Brown. Pomahaka Riding: W. J. McKenzie. Richardson Riding: W. S. Thomson. South Molyneux Riding: A. McIntosh. Waipahi Riding: Jas. Cumming.

          
County Clerk: A. K. Baxter. County Engineer: A. C. McLay.
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Members Of First Council, 1876.
          

          
Waipahi Riding: F. W. Mackenzie. Richardson Riding: John McNeil. Clinton Riding: Jas. Scott. Pomahaka Riding: Wm. Dallas. South Molyneux Riding: Donald Henderson. Brugh Riding: Fitzclarence Roberts.

          
County Clerk: Wm. Henderson. County Engineer: Matthew Paterson.
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Members Of Council, Centennial Year, 1940.
          

          
Catlins Riding: T. Maginness. Maclennan Riding: J. K. Ross. Clinton Riding: Adam T. Harris. Clydevale Riding: A. V. King. Clutha Riding: J. W. Dunn. Glenkenich: Robt. Brown. Pomahaka Riding: W. J. McKenzie. Richardson Riding: W. S. Thomson. South Molyneux Riding: A. McIntosh. Waipahi Riding: Jas. Cumming.

          
County Clerk: A. K. Baxter. County Engineer: A. C. McLay.
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Copyright and Conditions of Use


				

					
In Copyright


					
Where a text is in copyright, all text and images are copyright to the original authors and/or publisher. In copyright texts and images are made available for non-commercial use only. All forms of electronic or print re-sale or re-distribution are forbidden without written permission, please contact us.


					
Currently, a text is shown as in copyright when there is no Creative Commons License visible in the sidebar, and a link to this page is presented.


				

				

					
Creative Commons Share-Alike license


					
Where the original text is out of copyright it is our policy to provide the digitised version under a 
New Zealand Creative Commons Attribution Share-Alike License (CC BY-SA).


					
The Creative Commons Attribution Share-alike license allows anyone to re-use material in our texts under the following conditions:


					

		attribution to the source of the material is included by marking the material with the collection name ("The New Zealand Electronic Text Collection") and the link to the material as found on our website;


		the re-use of the material is licensed under the same license, allowing others to further re-use the material. This means that the re-use of the material must be marked with the same Creative Commons license.




					
Use of the Creative Commons Attribution Share-alike license allows us to make material freely available to the community for re-use, and also ensures that:


					

		any errors in the material can be traced back to the Victoria University of Wellington Library as the originator of the digital reproduction;


		such material continues to be freely available to the community after subsequent re-use.




				

				

					
Examples of Reuse under Creative Commons Share-Alike license


					
We encourage the re-use of Creative Commons Share-Alike licensed NZETC material. Examples of re-use include:


					

		Multiple entries in the 
Mix and Mash competitions run by DigitalNZ


		Blog posts, such as this one about the 
Cyclopedia of New Zealand by IwiKiwi


		Books and other publications


		Museum displays




				

				

					
Other Creative Commons Licenses


					
More restrictive Creative Commons licenses may be used in the cases of copyright texts where the copyright holder is amenable to using a Creative Commons license. You will need to refer to the license text (available by clicking on the CC license logo) for the specific restrictions and re-use allowed.


				

				

					
Statement of Liability


					
While we have sought to ensure there are no intellectual property rights in the material that would prevent copying and other re-use, please note that material on this website marked with a Creative Commons license is released on an as-is basis and with no representations or warranties of any kind, to the greatest extent permissible by law. Subject to any liability which may not be excluded or limited by law, the Victoria University Library shall not be liable on any legal basis (including without limitation negligence) and hereby expressly excludes all liability for loss or damage howsoever and whenever caused to you.
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